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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ERRE

TO ALL SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Directors”) (the “Board”) of
Nan Nan Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”), | present
to you the audited consolidated final results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March

2022 (the “Year”).

HEMURER
AANEREEHEREEZBERAR (AR
ANDEFE(EF)G(EEE DA MTRE
EARBREMBAR (G [ANEEDEE
R —F A=+ -RUEFEIAREE])
BRI ARIRAE -

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS FRERKE
The below summaries the results and dividends of the Group for the LA T~ Bl EELZIS EFEHFE-_T-_—_F=H
years ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021 respectively: —t+—BRk=E-_—F=ZA=+—HLFE
HEERRE
2022 2021
—E-C —T-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
st TER FAT
Revenue zs 1 300,241 130,521
Cost of services and goods sold BERBRERKA (137,645) (75,914)
Gross profit E7 1,2b) 162,596 54,607
Other revenue Hip iz 20) 1,305 8,661
Selling and distribution expenses HERDEER (1,376) (642)
Administrative and other operating expenses ﬁ[BZ&HﬁLM« EER 24d) (42,084) (34,505)
Exchange (loss)/gain, net B)/WEFE 24) (4,091) 7,979
Finance costs rﬂéﬁm 29 (10,342) (9,626)
Change in fair value of contingent consideration receivables ~ FE AR B A FEEH 21) = (3,648)
Change in fair value of convertible bond designated as BT REATEYRLR
financial liabilties at fair value through profit or loss BRARESREE
(‘FVPL) ERESF A THEE 2¢) (11,254) (24,857)
Impairment loss on goodwil HERERE 2h) (5,814) (14,503)
Profit/(Loss) before tax BRANET/ (B5E) 88,940 (16,634)
Income tax (expenses)/credit ER(HR)/He 2i) (22,940) 14,326
Profit/(Loss) for the year FREF/ (FR) 12 66,000 (2,208)
Notes: PEE
1. For the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately 1. REE - AEE S BT W 4300,241,000
HK$300,241,000 (2021: approximately HK$130,521,000), gross profit of BT (ZT=—%F : £130,521,000%7T)

approximately HK$162,596,000 (2021: approximately HK$54,607,000) and

EN#162,596,0008 T ( —F = — 4 : £

net profit of approximately HK$66,000,000 (2021: net loss of approximately 54,607,000/ 7T ) K& Ji #1558 49 466,000,000

HK$2,208,000) respectively. The Board does not recommend the payment BT(ZTZ—F : BIEFFEA2,208,000%
of any dividend for the Year (2021: Nil). ) BEERTESERAFREIRMNERKRE (=
—F )

2. Profit for the Year of the Group was approximately HK$66,000,000 2.
(2021: loss of approximately HK$2,208,000), representing an upturn of
approximately HK$68,208,000 as compared with the previous year. The

A& B R AF E 2% F 4 66,000,000 7T
(ZZT=—%F : 518492,208,0008 L) * K&
FHEERR  HINLI6S, 208,0005%73 X EfR

upturn was mainly due to the net effect of the following: RUTEERRE 2 FZE
a) the exchange loss of approximately HK$4,091,000 (2021: exchange a) IE 5 &5 18 5\’34 091,000 T (ZF = —

gain of approximately HK$7,979,000); F o [EHWEELT7,979, OOO/%E)

4 NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED MR &REXER AT



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

2. (continued)

b) the increase of gross profit by approximately HK$107,989,000;

c) the decrease of other revenue by approximately HK$7,356,000;

d) the increase of administrative and other operating expenses by
approximately HK$7,579,000;

e) fair value loss of convertible bond designated as financial liabilities
at FVPL of approximately HK$11,254,000 (2021: approximately
HK$24,857,000), representing a further increase in fair value
of convertible bond designated as financial liabilities at FVPL of
approximately HK$11,254,000;

f) No fair value loss of contingent consideration receivables (2021:
approximately HK$3,648,000);

9) the increase in the finance costs by approximately HK$716,000;

h) impairment loss on goodwill of approximately HK$5,814,000 (2021:

approximately HK$14,503,000), representing a further impairment
loss of goodwill of approximately HK$5,814,000; and

the turnaround from income tax credit of approximately
HK$14,326,000 in the previous year to income tax expenses of
approximately of HK$22,940,000 for the Year as the Group reached
tax authority in the People’s Republic of China (the “Mainland China”)
for a preferential tax treatment on the deductibility of certain expenses
incurred during the year ended 31 March 2020, and accordingly
a tax refund was received from the relevant tax authority and was
recognised as income tax credit for the year ended 31 March 2021,
while the significant enterprise income tax was charged after the
utilisation of all tax losses brought forward and the recognition of
significant deferred tax liabilities of intangible assets for the Year.

FERRE (&)

BaE - (8)

2. (%)

EF)HIN494107,989,000/4 7T
H b U 2598 > 497,356,000/8 7T

T R H A48 & B 1% A0 497,579,000
BT

BEBRAFEVNRILEBENEE
ZEMBEZABRRESFZATES
B4 /11,254,000 0 ( ZF=—F :
#924,857,0007%7T) * BERNEEBIEA
FEMNELEEEANEEZSRABE
ZABRES 2 AP EE —FIEB NG
11,254,000/ 7T :

BURSAREZ AFEBBAT(ZZ
——4F : #93,648,000/7T)

BRE R A AN49716,00078 7T

2R EE 845,814,000 T (=&
—4 : 4914,503,000/87C) * BN
Tt — 5 H IR B E518 495,814,000/
P &

S ng |1

HE—"FESBHMBRELEY
14,326,000/ L8 B A F E BT 15
i B & #722,940,000/8 7T © RE AK
EEEREARLMBE(FEAL ]
AR ELERREE S =T F =
A=+—BLFEEE4AETHRIMNE
BRGABEPEARLMBE([HEA
i ]) RIAERARIEMER S - Bt - A%
E A AR EKEAERR - YEREE
TR F=A=1+—HULFEERSE
FsHiEe  MRAEEEREBAME
HEHETIEEIB AT AZKDEMER -
REREREEENECEHIBEERE -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

For the Year, the Group was engaged in three business segments,
(1) coal mining business; (2) renewable energy business and (3) IT
Services (as defined below) business. Our main business is coal
mining and sales of coal in Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region
(“Xinjiang”) of the People’s Republic of China (the “Mainland China”).
Xinjiang is remote from major industrial cities in the Mainland China,
and hence coal produced in Xinjiang is mainly consumed locally due
to the logistic and the transportation costs. On 8 October 2018, we
completed the acquisition of NEFIN Leasing Technologies Limited
and its wholly owned subsidiary, NEFIN Technologies (Malaysia)
Sdn. Bhd. (together the “NEFIN Group”) which is principally engaged
in renewable energy solutions in Malaysia. We further allocated
resources into the solar energy projects since then so as to enable
higher efficiency together with the existing solar assets. On 23 April
2019, we completed the acquisition of Harbour Group Holdings
Limited (“Harbour Group Holdings”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Harbour Group”) which is principally engaged in the provision of
information technology (“IT”) outsourcing, consultancy and technical
services (together referred to as “IT Services”) mainly in Hong Kong
with expanding business in the United Kingdom (“UK”), Malaysia
and Singapore. Our Group will continue our focus on developing the
existing business. In the long run, we will aspire and strive to grow into
an enterprise with a diversified business.

MAJOR EVENTS

Acquisition of the New Mining Right of the Enlarged
Kaiyuan Mine

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 11
November 2011, 21 March 2012, 15 June 2012, 21 March 2014,
15 August 2017, 28 March 2018, 14 December 2018, 31 December
2018, 15 May 2019, 31 May 2019, 4 November 2019 and 15
November 2019, the Group negotiated with the Department of
Natural Resources of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region* (¥ sa#t
BB BAE B AREIREE) of the Mainland China (the “Xinjiang Natural
Resources Department”) regarding the Optimization and Upgrading
Plan* relating to the Kaiyuan Open Pit Coal Mine (the “Kaiyuan Mine”)
(i.e. the operating coal mine of the Group in Xinjiang), in particular,
to increase the mining area of the Kaiyuan Mine and obtain the
corresponding new mining right.

English translation for identification purposes only.

# “Optimization and Upgrading Plan” was previously referred to as
“Management Restructuring Plan” in the announcement of the Company
dated 11 November 2011 and in the announcements, notices, circulars,
interim reports and annual reports of the Company thereafter.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)
Acquisition of the New Mining Right of the Enlarged
Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

U

(i)

(i)

Mulei County Kai Yuan Company Limited* (/K £2 &2 5RE R A
R & (LA F) (“Kaiyuan Company”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as the transferee and Xinjiang
Natural Resources Department as the transferor entered into
the transfer agreement (the “Transfer Agreement”) dated 2
December 2019, pursuant to which Kaiyuan Company acquired
the new mining right (the “New Mining Right”) of the Kaiyuan
Mine with an enlarged mining area (including the original mining
area of approximately 1.1596 km?) of 4.1123 km? in Xinjiang
(the “Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine”) for 30 years from August 2019 to
August 2049 from the Xinjiang Natural Resources Department
to conduct mining activities at the Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine
at a consideration of Renminbi (“RMB”) 160,978,000 (the
“Acquisition”);

the estimated coal resources of the Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine are
41.6433 million tonnes for the mining life of 30 years under the
Transfer Agreement;

the new mining permit (the “New Mining Permit”) in respect
of the New Mining Right with mining term of 1 year from 21
December 2018 to 21 December 2019 regarding the New
Mining Right was granted to Kaiyuan Company on 3 November
2018, which has been renewed for two years from 21
December 2019 to 21 December 2021; On 10 October 2021,
the New Mining Right has been further renewed for ten years
from 11 October 2021 to 11 October 2031;

Kaiyuan Company has the right to apply for the renewal of New
Mining Permit for the remaining period of the New Mining Right
under the Transfer Agreement;

the consideration of RMB160,978,000 shall be settled in
cash and paid by Kaiyuan Company to the Xinjiang Natural
Resources Department in fifteen instalments: (a) the first
instalment in an amount of RMB32,200,000 was paid by
Kaiyuan Company; (b) the second to fourteenth instalments
in an amount of RMB9,200,000 each shall be paid before 20
November of every year from 2020 to 2032; and (c) the last
instalment in an amount of RMB9,178,000 shall be paid before
20 November 2033;

the Acquisition constituted a very substantial acquisition for the
Company under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
and further information on the Acquisition was disclosed in the
circular dated 19 August 2020; and

English translation for identification purposes only.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

Acquisition of the New Mining Right of the Enlarged

Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

(vil as part of the Transfer Agreement, Kaiyuan Company
is required to pay a supplemental resources fee of
RMB76,502,500 (the “Resources Fee”) to the Xinjiang Natural
Resources Department for 19.8 million tonnes of coal of
Kaiyuan Mine, which represented the difference between the
accumulated output of 23.65 million tonnes of the Kaiyuan Mine
at the end of 2017 and the output of 3.8819 million tonnes
(Resources Fee of such output had been paid by Kaiyuan
Company to the Xinjiang Natural Resources Department) and
recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31 March
2020. Based on the advice given by the legal adviser of the
Company as to the laws of the Mainland China, other than the
payment of the Resources Fee, Kaiyuan Company will not be
subject to any fees relating to the original Kaiyuan Mine pursuant
to the terms of the Transfer Agreement.

Temporary Suspension of Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 20
December 2019 and 16 March 2020, the sales and operation of
the Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine was temporarily suspended since 21
December 2019 (the “Temporary Suspension”) due to the expiry
of the New Mining Permit on 21 December 2019 and the delay in
renewal of the New Mining Permit.

The New Mining Permit was renewed in March 2020 and the
resumption application has been approved by the Production
Safety Supervision and Administration Bureau* ( Z & £ E & & &
2 B ) (“Safety Bureau”) of the Xinjiang Zhundong Economic and
Technological Development Zone* (3 8 f B &% B T 5 2 2 )
(“Economic Zone”) on 2 August 2020. On 2 August 2020 the approval
on the resumption application issued by the Safety Bureau of the
Economic Zone was received and was allowed to resume mining

operations and sales.

Acquisition of shares and subscription of new shares in
Harbour Group Holdings

References are made to announcements of the Company dated 11
March 2019 and 23 April 2019 and the circular of the Company dated
1 April 2019 in relation to the acquisition of shares and subscription of
new shares in Harbour Group Holdings.

*

English translation for identification purpose only.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

Acquisition of shares and subscription of new shares in
Harbour Group Holdings (continued)

On 11 March 2019, (i) Ample Talent Ventures Limited (“Ample
Talent”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase
Agreement”) with an independent third party (the “Vendor”), pursuant
to which the Vendor conditionally agreed to sell, and Ample Talent
conditionally agreed to purchase 80% shareholding interest in
Harbour Group Holdings at a consideration of HK$35,712,000 (the
“Harbour Group Acquisition”); and (i) Ample Talent and Harbour
Group Holdings entered into a subscription agreement, pursuant
to which Harbour Group Holdings conditionally agreed to issue
and allot to Ample Talent, and Ample Talent conditionally agreed
to subscribe for 450 ordinary shares of Harbour Group Holdings,
representing approximately 4.5% of the total number of shares
of Harbour Group Holdings in issue as at the date of subscription
agreement at an aggregate subscription price (the “Subscription
Price”) of HK$2,008,800 (the “Subscription”). The Company indirectly
interests in 80.86% shares of Harbour Group Holdings in issue upon
completion of the Harbour Group Acquisition and Subscription on 23
April 2019.

The consideration for the Harbour Group Acquisition was settled
in cash of HK$28,512,000 by Ample Talent to the Vendor and the
remaining amount of HK$7,200,000 by means of the issue of the
three promissory notes (“Promissory Note(s)”), each in the principal
amount of HK$2,400,000 by the Company to the Vendor. The
Subscription Price was settled in cash.

Harbour Group consists of Harbour Group Holdings, Harbour Group
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd., Harbour Group Consulting (UK) Limited,
HGH Technology Sdn. Bhd., Mountain Managed Cloud Consulting
Limited and Vanguard Business Services Limited. Harbour Group
is principally engaged in the provision of IT Services mainly in Hong
Kong with expanding business in the UK, Malaysia and Singapore.
The Directors are of the view that the Harbour Group Acquisition and
the Subscription can broaden the Group’s revenue base and benefit
from the diversified return in future. The Harbour Group Acquisition
and the Subscription constituted a business combination and was
accounted for using the acquisition method under Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standard (“HKFRS”) 3 Business Combinations.

BEXEIE(E)

W ESZERVRDRRBETR G
(&)

RZBE-NAF=ZA+—H  ((REERER
AR (THEEIE D) (BARREEZEN B
ARNHBYE=H([EAH D LEEHx
(TEE®R=Z] Bl BEFEKHGRED
T MHWERARBRGEREBERSSZER
80% I A% #E - {8 A& 35,712,000 7T ([ 7
BEEWEEE] - KRS EILEE g
BRI R - R BEEREENGR
BT AIREITRER MRS RIRE K
R ZRE S S I450/ T @R (RER
REEAESIEREBEITRGBELN
45%) - BRREE([REEE]) 52,008,800
BIL(IRBEHE]) -RZFE—LFWA
T+ ZHERASERYEEELREEE
% AQRIMEERBEIERS80.86% 2 %
TR HAERS

BEEERBEE REEHABREAIRRA
H B S X 428,512,000/ 7T © MR
7,200,000 LTy A AR RRE 5 #T =
MAEARBE([ELER])  SXeHHA
2,400,000/ 7T - REBEC AR SEN -

B F £ B BB e %K - Harbour Group
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. * Harbour Group
Consulting (UK) Limited * HGH Technology
Sdn. Bnd. * kEEmERER AT REE
PIERBERDFHEK - BEEEEEE
REZENEBRFENEMBIERBE AR R
- BARAERIARFINRNRRERER - EF
BE BeEEWERERRBEEREA
MEAREEM KRR - WKL T EERP
X o BEEENEFELRRESEHEBNE
Batt  WEREBEEBFHREEN(ES
W S AR ) EBIRREH A A ERAUEEE
ABK ©
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

Acquisition of shares and subscription of new shares in
Harbour Group Holdings (continued)

Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Vendor agreed
to guarantee that the audited consolidated net profit generated from
operating activities of the Harbour Group in its ordinary and usual
course of business, prepared in accordance with HKFRSs (the “Net
Profit”), for the years ended 31 December 2018 (“FY2018”), 31
December 2019 (“FY2019”) and 31 December 2020 (“FY2020”, and
each such 12-month period, a “PG 12-Month Period”) shall be no less
than HK$7,200,000 per annum (the “Guaranteed Profit”). In the event
that the Net Profit during the each PG 12-Month Period is less than
the Guaranteed Profit, the Vendor unconditionally and irrevocably
undertakes and guarantees, as a continuing obligation, to pay the
shortfall multiplied by the ratio of 1.13 to the Group by way of cash
and/or setting off the same amount from the amount owed by the
Company under the Promissory Note(s) issued to the Vendor.

The profit guarantee for FY2018 was met but the profit guarantee for
FY2019 and FY2020 was not fulfilled.

As disclosed in the announcement dated 7 April 2020, the shortfall
for FY2019 profit guarantee equals to HK$2,187,091 (rounded to the
nearest dollar). Such amount was deducted from the Promissory Note
in the principal amount of HK$2,400,000 and the outstanding amount
of HK$212,909 (i.e. after deduction of the shortfall amount) of the
Promissory Note was paid to the Vendor by the Group.

As disclosed in the announcement dated 7 May 2021, the shortfall
for FY2020 profit guarantee equals to HK$2,538,041 (rounded to the
nearest dollar). Such amount was deducted from the Promissory Note
in the principal amount of HK$2,400,000 and the outstanding amount
of HK$138,041 after deduction of the Promissory Note was paid by
the Vendor to the Group.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#R %

PROSPECTS

The Group actively proceeded with the Optimization and Upgrading
Plan since 2011 in relation to the New Mining Right of the Enlarged
Kaiyuan Mine. The Acquisition enlarged the Group’s coal resources
and allowed the Group to enhance the development of its sales
operations of Kaiyuan Mine in the future. The Directors consider that
the transaction is in line with the Group’s strategy to expand the coal
mining business of the Group. During the Year, Kaiyuan Company
successfully renewed and received the renewed New Mining Permit
issued by the Xinjiang Natural Resources Department, pursuant to
which the term of the mining right of the Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine is
renewed for a period of 10 years from 11 October 2021 to 11 October
2031.

In the coming years, there will be (i) a reasonable expected amount
of expenditure in capital assets, in particular for the new plants and
machines for the environmental protection remedial works and (ii)
reasonable expenditure for works required by the Safety Bureau to
improve safety standard of our coal mine. Sources of funding are
expected to come primarily from the coal sales revenue and external
banking facilities of the Group.

In addition to coal mining, the Group has been exploring new markets
and seeking to develop its business coverage on technological and
renewable energy sectors, in particular, the acquisition of Harbour
Group in 2019 and NEFIN Group in 2018. It is one of the objectives of
the Group to diversify its business portfolio into sectors offering higher
growth momentum.

Due to the subsistence of COVID-19 in Hong Kong and worldwide,
we have been facing the difficult business environment, which
negatively impacted the growth of our IT Services business in Hong
Kong. We hope the COVID-19 situation in Hong Kong will ease in the
coming months and our IT Services business will resume its growth.

The Board will continue to keep track of the latest development of
the COVID-19 and will use its best endeavors to manage the Group’s
business portfolio with a view to improving the Group’s financial
performance and enhance shareholders’ value.

APPRECIATION

| wish to thank my fellow directors, management and staff for their
unrelentless efforts for the business development of the Company.
On behalf of the Board, | express our sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, customers, suppliers, employees and business
partners for their continuing support of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Kwan Man Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022

*

English translation for identification purpose only.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$300,241,000
for the Year (2021: approximately HK$130,521,000). It represents
an increase of approximately HK$169,720,000 or approximately
130.03% as compared with the previous year.

Coal Mining Business

During the Year, revenue of approximately HK$275,463,000 of the
coal mining business is increased by approximately HK$174,775,000
or approximately 173.58% as compared to approximately
HK$100,688,000 in previous year. The increase in revenue of the
coal mining business was mainly due to the strong local demand
and facilitated supply arrangement by the local authorities; and also
increase in selling price. The Group sold approximately 1,988,282
tonnes (2021: approximately 1,438,392 tonnes) of coal during the
Year, increased by approximately 38.23% in volume compared to that
in the previous year.

Renewable Energy Business

During the Year, the renewable energy business recorded a
turnover of approximately HK$3,781,000 (2021: approximately
HK$1,285,000). The increase in revenue of the renewable energy
business amounting to approximately HK$2,496,000 was mainly due
to the enhanced production capacity since early 2021.

IT Services Business

During the Year, the IT Services business contributed a revenue
of approximately HK$20,997,000 (2021: approximately
HK$28,548,000). The decrease in revenue of approximately
HK$7,551,000, representing a decrease of approximately 26.45%
was mainly due to the subsistence of the COVID-19 in Hong Kong
and worldwide.

Cost of services and goods sold

Coal Mining Business

The cost of sales of the coal mining business for the Year
was approximately HK$117,557,000 (2021: approximately
HK$53,913,000). The cost mainly comprises direct labor cost, cost
for explosive works, depreciation, amortisation and cost of materials,
etc. The increase in cost of sales was mainly in line with the increase
in sales volume and selling price during the Year as compared with
previous year.

Renewable Energy Business

During the Year, the cost of services of the renewable energy
business was approximately HK$2,129,000 (2021: approximately
HK$517,000). The increase in cost of services of the renewable
energy business was mainly due to the enhanced production capacity
since early 2021 amounting to approximately HK$1,612,000.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEstim &2

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Cost of services and goods sold (continued)

IT Services Business

During the Year, the cost of services and goods sold of the IT Services
business is approximately HK$17,959,000 (2021: approximately
HK$21,484,000). The decrease in cost of services and goods sold
was largely in line with the drop of revenue during the Year, particularly
the significant curtail of operations in Malaysia and Hong Kong by the
subsidiaries of Harbour Group, as compared with the previous year.

Gross profit

The gross profit of the Group for the Year increased to approximately
HK$162,596,000 (2021: approximately HK$54,607,000). It
represents an increase of approximately HK$107,989,000 or
approximately 197.76% and gross profit margin increased by
approximately 12.32% to approximately 54.16% for the Year as
compared with the previous year. Coal mining business contributed
significantly amounting to approximately HK$157,906,000 (2021:
approximately HK$46,775,000); IT Services business contributed
approximately HK$3,038,000 (2021: approximately HK$7,064,000);
and renewable energy business contributed approximately
HK$1,652,000 (2021: approximately HK$768,000).

Other revenue

The Group’s other revenue for the Year was approximately
HK$1,305,000 (2021: approximately HK$8,661,000), representing a
decrease of approximately HK$7,356,000 or approximately 84.93%
as compared with last financial year. This is mainly due to the net
effect of 1) decrease of interest income on bank deposits substantially
from the coal mining business of approximately HK$4,923,000;
and 2) no government grants for the Year (2021: approximately
HK$2,403,000) from the Anti-epidemic Fund set up by the Hong
Kong government under an Employment Support Scheme as time-
limited financial support to employers to retain employees who may
otherwise be made redundant.

Administrative and other operating expenses

The Group’s administrative and other operating expenses for the
Year was approximately HK$42,084,000 (2021: approximately
HK$34,505,000), representing an increase of approximately
HK$7,579,000 or approximately 21.96% as compared with the
previous year. This was mainly due to the 1) the increase in salaries
and bonus and staff welfare of approximately HK$6,260,000 and
2) the additional maintenance cost and the increase of low-value
consumables and accessories of approximately HK$1,090,000 as
a result of the significant increase of sales volume of coal mining
business during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEstm R o

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Profit for the Year

Profit for the Year of the Group was approximately HK$66,000,000
(2021: loss of approximately HK$2,208,000), representing an upturn
of approximately HK$68,208,000 as compared with last year. The
upturn was mainly due to the net effect of the following:

a)

the exchange loss of approximately HK$4,091,000 (2021:
exchange gain of approximately HK$7,979,000);

the increase of gross profit by approximately HK$107,989,000;
the decrease of other revenue by approximately HK$7,356,000;

the increase of administrative and other operating expenses by
approximately HK$7,579,000;

fair value loss of convertible bond designated as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) of
approximately HK$11,254,000 (2021: approximately
HK$24,857,000); representing a further increase in fair value of
convertible bond designated on financial liabilities at FVPL of
approximately HK$11,254,000;

no fair value loss of contingent consideration receivables
(2021: approximately HK$3,648,000);

the increase in the finance costs by approximately HK$716,000;

impairment loss on goodwill of approximately HK$5,814,000
(2021: approximately HK$14,503,000); representing a further
impairment loss of goodwill of approximately HK$5,814,000;
and

the turnaround from income tax credit of approximately
HK$14,326,000 in the previous year to income tax expenses
of approximately of HK$22,940,000 for the Year as the Group
reached tax authority in the Mainland China for a preferential
tax treatment on the deductibility of certain expenses incurred
during the year ended 31 March 2020, and accordingly a tax
refund was received from the relevant tax authority and was
recognized as income tax credit for the year ended 31 March
2021, while the significant enterprise income tax was charged
after the utilisation of all tax losses brought forward and the
recognition of significant deferred tax liabilities of intangible
assets for the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EE Exiiw &

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Profit for the Year (continued)

Change in fair value of convertible bond designated as financial
liabilities at FVPL

The zero coupon convertible bond (the “Convertible Bond”) of the
Company in the principal amount of HK$200,000,000 was issued on
14 March 2008 with a conversion price of HK$0.2 per share (subject
to adjustments) and maturity date of 17 March 2011 (details of which
were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 28 January
2008 and 14 March 2008).

The maturity date of the Convertible Bond was then extended to 13
March 2014, 13 March 2017, 13 March 2020, and further extended
to 13 March 2023 (details of which were respectively set out in the
circulars of the Company dated 21 February 2011, 13 February 2014,
16 February 2017 and 24 February 2020 and announcements of the
Company dated 11 March 2011, 10 March 2014, 7 March 2017 and
11 March 2020).

As at the date of this annual report, the outstanding principal amount
of the Convertible Bond is HK$200,000,000.

The Company conducted valuation for the fair value of the Convertible
Bond every financial year after its issuance in compliance with the
relevant accounting policies. The Company has engaged ValQuest
Advisory Hong Kong Limited (“ValQuest”) as its independent
professional valuer for the purpose of assessing the fair value of the
Convertible Bond as at 31 March 2022. In assessing the fair value
of the Convertible Bond, the binomial option pricing model was
adopted and factors including stock price of the Company, specific
terms and structure of the Convertible Bond, trading conditions and
liquidity of the Convertible Bond, and ancillary effects associated with
the exercise or conversion and partial conversion of the Convertible
Bond were taken into account. The credit rating of our Company is
estimated to be CCC with reference to Standard & Poor’s Corporate
Rating Criteria, where Corporate Bond with issuer credit rating
from CCC- to CCC+ and similar time to maturity were selected, the
discount rate is 14.41% (2021: 13.20%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEstim &2

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Profit for the Year (continued)

Change in fair value of convertible bond designated as financial
liabilities at FVPL (Continued)

The fair values of the Convertible Bond were approximately
HK$182,537,000 and approximately HK$171,283,000 as at 31
March 2022 and 2021, respectively. The amounts were assessed and
reviewed by the Directors and reviewed and audited by the auditor
of the Company. According to the relevant accounting policies, the
increase in fair value of the Convertible Bond represents an increase
in liabilities of the Company. The amount of the change in fair value of
the Convertible Bond of approximately HK$11,254,000 was derived
by taking the difference between the fair value of the Convertible Bond
as at 31 March 2022 and 2021. The significant change in fair value of
the Convertible Bond was mainly due to the significant change in the
stock price of the Company during the Year and the expected volatility
of the stock price of the Company. The closing stock prices of the
Company were HK$0.066 and HK$0.090 as at 31 March 2022 and
2021, respectively, and the expected volatility of the stock price of
the Company was 93.35% and 88.74% based on the historical price
volatility of the Company for the financial years ended 31 March 2022
and 2021, respectively.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Business segment

Information reported to the executive directors, being identified as the
chief operating decision makers (the “CODM”), for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses
on types of goods delivered or services rendered. No operating
segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at
the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments are as
follows:

(1) Coal mining business segment: mining and sales of coal mine in
the Xinjiang of the Mainland China;

(2) Renewable energy business segment: service income from
renewable energy solutions in Malaysia; and

(8) IT Services business segment: provision of IT Services in Hong

Kong, Singapore, Malaysia and the UK.

Segment revenue and results
Segment revenue represents revenue derived from (i) coal mining
business, (i) renewable energy business and (jii) IT Services business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEstim &2

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment revenue and results (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Coal Mining Business

Coal mining is the major business of the Group at present. It
contributed a revenue of approximately HK$275,463,000 for
the Year (2021: approximately HK$100,688,000), representing
an increase of approximately 173.58% as compared with last
year.

Sale and Production of Coals

During the Year, the Group sold approximately 1,988,282
tonnes of coals (2021: approximately 1,438,392 tonnes) with
total sales income of approximately HK$275,463,000 (2021:
approximately HK$100,688,000). Details of sales of coals in
tonnes are listed in the below table:
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Coal Sales (tonnes) and Percentage of Coal Sales

2021

—E-—F

1,988,282 1,438,392
tonnes tonnes

g Mg

BRIHE (WF) R RIR I & B 77t

Mixed Coal RER
Slack Coal R
Weathered Coal Rb &
Total wmEt

Renewable Energy Business

Service income from renewable energy business contributed
a revenue of approximately HK$3,781,000 for the Year (2021:
approximately HK$1,285,000). The increase in revenue of the
renewable energy business was mainly due to the enhanced
production capacity since early 2021.

IT Services Business

Service income from IT Services business contributed a
revenue of approximately HK$20,997,000 for the Year (2021:
approximately HK$28,548,000). The decrease in revenue was
mainly due to the subsistence of the COVID-19 in Hong Kong
and worldwide.

(i)

(i)

Coal Sales Coal Sales
(tonnes) in %
RRSHE HRHE
(mg) Aotk
214,763 10.80
1,534,935 77.20
238,584 12.00
1,988,282 100

A A4 RER £

RAEE - AIBEREREBEEZR
U A B B #93,781,0008 L (=
T —4F : 491,285,000/ L) - AJ BB
ERREBREENEEARE S
T FIBERLR TR ©

BRI RS ER

RAFE  BABEREEREE

AR 7% U A B B Uk # 4920,997,0007% 7T
— T~ —4 : 4928,548,00087C) °

WHBLPEEARBEBREHREZH

COVID-19% 1B EFTEK ~
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEstim &2

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Reserves and Resources

The Group owns a mining right located in Xinjiang. The estimated
remaining reserve in Kaiyuan Mine (excluding the Enlarged Kaiyuan
Mine (as defined in “Major Events”)) was approximately 5.11 million
tonnes as at 31 March 2020.

On 2 December 2019, the Transfer Agreement was officially passed
by the Xinjiang Natural Resources Department to Kaiyuan Company.
According to the Competent Person’s report and valuation report
of the Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine dated 19 August 2020, the probable
reserve in the Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine was approximately 63.48 million
tonnes as at the date of acquisition of the Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine.

During the Year, approximately 1.47 million tonnes of coal was
extracted (2021: approximately 1.90 million tonnes).

Total approximate reserve of the mine in Xinjiang as at 31 March 2022
is equivalent to 65.22 million tonnes (i.e. the sum of the estimated
remaining coal reserve in Kaiyuan Mine including the Enlarged
Kaiyuan Mine) (2021: approximately 66.69 million tonnes).

Coal Reserve as at 31 March 2022 = Coal Reserve as at 31 March
2021 — Amount of coal extracted by the Group during the Year.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEstim &2

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical segment

The geographical location of customers is determined based on the
location where the goods are delivered or services are rendered. The
Group’s revenue and results from operations are mainly derived from
activities in the Mainland China, Hong Kong, Singapore, the UK and
Malaysia. Activities outside these five locations are insignificant. The
principal assets of the Group are located in the Mainland China, Hong
Kong and Malaysia.

Goodwill

(a) IT Services CGU
The major goodwill of the Group arises from the acquisition of
80.86% equity interests in Harbour Group on 23 April 2019 with
cash-generating unit (“CGU”) engaged in IT Services (the “IT
Services CGU").

As at 31 March 2022, the Directors assessed the recoverable
amount of the IT Services CGU with reference to value-in-
use (“VIU”) calculations using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets and forecasts covering a five-year period and
extrapolation of cash flows beyond such period conducted by
ValQuest.

Key assumptions used for cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of the goodwill allocated to IT Services CGU
are as follows:

PHEER ()

HES5E

EREtEUEBXREERRN - SURHERE 2
HEETE - AEE WS REEEETER
BEAM - B8 - FIE - EERREKRE
G2 ERS o it B EMIE AN 2 EFET R
o AEE T EREMATRANL - BB
R B HRFTS o

@ BiPRRBEREEELEN
AEEREIZELEEN _T—NF
MA—+=RAKEEEEES0.86%M
BERNEERMRRBNREES
BUu(ReELEM]) ([ERBKR
BREELBM]) -

MN-ZE-—F#=A=+—H0 &2
RBERARSREBIENFERER
([EREEDFHEEAREREES
EABUNAKEOEE  MBELSRE
TEORRIE M S Ta 8 & 1L F BiTE R A
BETERZBBRAFERZENRS

=B
MEFTE o

BOREEMMERGRASELEN
WEEETRENAMELRESRE
TERIFAZ T ERRNT

As at
31 March
2022

N=-ZTE_——
=HA=+—H

Growth in revenue year-on-year ISRz RFREER

during the five-year period 13.56%
Budgeted gross profit margin BIZEFE 23.00%
Perpetual growth rate KB IR R 2.00%
Discount rate (pre-tax) BRIR 2 (FiAT) 14.04%

The Directors determined the growth rates are based on past
performance and the expectation of market development. The
discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating
to the IT Services CGU.

EERBERBRTSHRAHER
EERE - FBMEE AR - LRB
FRENRHE RS RS E L B0 A
BER -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEstim &2

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Goodwill (continued)

(a)

(b)

IT Services CGU (continued)

As at 31 March 2022, in light of keen competition from the IT
Services sector and the subsistence of COVID-19 in Hong Kong
and worldwide, which are expected to have a negative impact
on the revenue and growth rate of the IT Services CGU, the
recoverable amount of the IT Services CGU of approximately
HK$7,898,000 (2021: approximately HK$18,772,000) fell
below its then carrying amount. Accordingly, the goodwill
allocated to the IT Services CGU was impaired by approximately
HK$5,814,000 (2021: approximately of HK$14,503,000) during
the Year.

Yet, the IT Services segment would continue to sustain its
established foothold in Hong Kong, the UK, Malaysia and
Singapore in responding to the business development of its
existing customers in the IT Services and also cloud related
services, though the Group did not tend to enter into long term
written service agreements with these customers. The Group
expects the existing customers from the information technology
and communication industry worldwide would gradually recover
once the pandemic is over. In addition, in view of the Hong
Kong government’s continuous policy measure to facilitate
the multi-faceted development of IT industry in Hong Kong,
which includes establishing specific government authorities
(i.e. the Innovative and Technology Bureau in 2015) to promote
the industry, setting up funding schemes to support industry-
oriented research and development and nurturing technological
entrepreneurship, the Group expects such measures could aid
the recovery of the industry once the COVID-19 is contained.

Renewable Energy CGU

Another major goodwill of the Group is the goodwill arising from
the acquisition of 90% equity interests in NEFIN Leasing and its
subsidiary on 8 October 2018 with CGU engaged in renewable
energy solutions and solar farm development (the “Renewable
Energy CGU”).

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Directors assessed the
recoverable amount of the Renewable Energy CGU with
reference to VIU calculations using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets and forecasts covering a five-year period
and extrapolation of cash flows beyond such period conducted
by ValQuest.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EE Exiiw &

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

(b) Renewable Energy CGU (continued)
Key assumptions used for cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of the goodwill allocated to Renewable
Energy CGU are as follows:

vk

DEER(E)

mE (&)

(b) FBEREFRETELEN(E)
ROLEABERRRSESELH
EEETREARMELNRE S RETE
BIFTAZ EE2/\BAOT -

As at
31 March
2022

RN=-=EE_—_—
=A=+-—H

Growth in revenue year-on-year during the five- TS HIf 72 IRFIRERIE R

year period
Budgeted gross profit margin BIZEMNZE
Perpetual growth rate KB ISR R
Discount rate (pre-tax) BRI KR (FiAD)

The Directors determined the growth rates based on past
performance and the expectation of market development. The
discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating
to the Renewable Energy CGU.

As at 31 March 2022, the recoverable amount of the Renewable
Energy CGU is higher than its carrying amount by approximately
HK$22,940,000 (2021: approximately HK$9,669,000).
Accordingly, there was no impairment on the goodwill during
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The Directors are of the opinion that they are not aware of any
material change in the key assumptions in determining the
recoverable amount of the CGU as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Intangible assets

The Directors conducted impairment review of the mining right
and stripping activity assets at the end of each reporting period or
when impairment indicator exists. In such connection, the Company
engaged ValQuest to assess the VIU of CGU of the coal mines
related non-current assets, including property, plant and equipment,
mining right, stripping activity assets and prepayments for acquisition
of property, plant and equipment of the individual mine site, of the
coal mining business of the Group (the “Coal Mining Assets”) for the
purpose of impairment testing as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

1.36% - 1.69%
45.18%

3.00%

5.40%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EE Exiiw &

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, with reference
to valuations conducted by ValQuest using discounted cash
flow method, the Directors expected that the VIU of the Coal
Mining Assets is higher than its carrying amount by approximately
HK$32,865,000 (2021: approximately HK$23,773,000) and thus
concluded that no impairment loss was recognised during the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The directors of the Company had also considered the following
factors and concluded that no reversal of impairment loss was
required for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021:

(@ the impairment loss recognised in previous years was related
to the Coal Mining Assets of Kaiyuan Mine (as defined in Note
(i) below) before the completion of Optimization and Upgrading
Plan (as defined in Note (i) below);

(b)  the assessment of the VIU of Coal Mining Assets as at 31 March
2022 and 2021 was mainly represented by the VIU of Coal
Mining Assets of Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine (as defined in Note (i)
below); and

(c) thereis no comparability for the VIU of Coal Mining Assets as at
31 March 2022 and 2021 with the impairment loss recognised
in previous years.

In light of the current mining right which is expiring in August 2049 as
disclosed below, the Directors are of the opinion that, based on past
experience and current laws and regulations in the Mainland China,
the Group is eligible to further renew the mining right without incurring
significant incremental cost, given the Group continues to comply
with the requirements as required by the relevant local authorities in
the Mainland China. In this connection, when assessing the VIU of the
Coal Mining Assets, the Directors adopted a cash flow forecast which
covers beyond the expiry date, representing the remaining periods of
the mine until the expected coal reserves of the mine is fully utilised.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEstim &2

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

Having considered the sensitivity analysis about the possible
outcomes for any mining activities after August 2049 and the
likelihood of successful renewal of the mining right with reference to a
legal opinion issued by the lawyer in the Mainland China, the Directors
considered the risk exposed to the renewal of mining right after
August 2049 may not have significant impact on the VIU of the Coal
Mining Assets.

In assessing the VIU of the CGUSs, the future cash flows of the coal
mining business are discounted to the related present values using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current assessment of the time value
of money and the risks specific to such business. Parameters used
in the projected cash flows included but were not limited to selling
prices and sales volumes of coal, production cost and other expenses,
capital expenditure, production plan and discount rate, respectively,
which reflected the current conditions of the market and the Group and
estimated trend in the future. In particular, the Group may revise the
annual production plan and the expected sales volumes of coal adopted
in the cash flows projection with reference to the latest government
policies announced from time to time.

When evaluating the appropriate discount rate for each of the CGUs,
the Capital Asset Pricing Model (“CAPM”) had been used. Under
CAPM, the appropriate expected rate of return was the sum of the
risk-free return and the equity risk premium required by investors to
compensate for the market risk assumed. In addition, the expected
rate of return of the CGUs was expected to be affected by other firm
specific risk factors that are independent of the general market. The
cost of equity was determined by the risk-free rate, market return and
estimated beta of the CGUs and firm specific risk factors. Therefore,
the Group may update the inputs of discount rate and other valuation
parameters with reference to the latest market information and
the firm’s specific risk factors based on the most recent available
evidences from the relevant appropriate sources, e.g. the competent
person’s report on mine reserve.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEstim &2

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

Key assumptions used for cash flow projections to undertake
impairment assessment of the Coal Mining Assets are as follows:
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Growth in revenue Ui &
Budgeted gross profit margin BHiREF =
Long-term growth rate REERE
Discount rate (pre-tax) ARIR = (FHAT)

Details of the Group’s mining right at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

Location

24

Mining right
R

2.16%
46.91%
3.00%
12.97%

BREARKERHRE MR ZREEFEDT

Expiry date
& B 5

Kaiyuan Mine and the Enlarged

Kaiyuan Mine Area in Xinjiang

SRS S R EA SRR 588 A SROBK 78 AR LR e i [

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A

Inside Zhundong Meitian Xiheishan Coal Mining

Mining right expired
in August 2049
with existing
mining permit until
11 October 2031
(renewable)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEstim &2

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

The as-mined coal from Kaiyuan Mine or Enlarge Kaiyuan Mine is
screened to various sizes and to the local thermal coal market. The
mine has an established thermal coal sales market with low risk for
future sales. The significant customers include thermal coal domestic
and industry in the local areas.

Xinjiang is remote from major industrial cities in the Mainland China,
and hence coal produced in Xinjiang is mainly consumed locally by
customers due to the logistic and the transportation costs. The Group
did not enter into long term written service agreements with the
existing customers.

However, the management of the Group closely monitors the
short-term operation strategy and profit margin of different coal
products and, if necessary, modifies the production plan through
understanding the local government’s policies and the coal market
demand. The Group keeps strict control over the costs and expenses
to maintain a strong financial position in the coal mining business
segment.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as otherwise disclosed, there were neither significant
investments held as at 31 March 2022 nor material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries during the Year.

Save as otherwise disclosed, the Group does not have any future
plans for material investments. There will, however, be a reasonable
expected amount of expenditure in capital assets, in particular for the
new plants and machines for the environmental protection remedial
works. Sources of funding are expected to come primarily from the
coal sales revenue and also external banking facilities of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS E¥ g7

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had:

° net current liabilities of approximately HK$32,068,000 (2
net current assets approximately HK$87,610,000).

021:

° cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$260,753,000
(2021: approximately HK$204,079,000), which comprised the

bank balances and cash of approximately HK$260,753

,000

(2021: approximately HK$204,079,000), were the major

components of the Group’s current assets of approxim

ately

HK$274,922,000 (2021: approximately HK$240,342,000).
All the cash and cash equivalents are denominated in HK$,
Malaysian Ringgit (‘MYR”), Singapore Dollars (“S$”), Great
Britain Pound (“GBP”), United States Dollars (“‘US$”) and RMB

(2021: HK$, MYR, S$, GBP, US$ and RMB).

o current liabilities of approximately HK$306,990,000 (2

021:

approximately HK$152,732,000) which comprised mainly trade

and other payables of approximately HK$70,444,000 (2

021:

approximately HK$81,071,000), interest-bearing borrowings
of approximately HK$37,254,000 (2021: approximately
HK$60,636,000) and current portion of Convertible Bond of

approximately HK$182,537,000 (2021: Nil).

The interest-bearing borrowings are repayable from within
year to five years (2021: two years to five years) since
inception. The average effective interest rates on the inte
bearing borrowings were ranging from 3.9% — 9.7% (2

one
their
rest-
021:

5.1% — 9.1%) per annum. The interest-bearing borrowings are

denominated in HK$ and RMB (2021: HK$ and RMB).

° non-current liabilities of approximately HK$85,091,000 (2021:
approximately HK$257,873,000) which comprised non-
current portion of Convertible Bond of approximately Nil (2021:

approximately HK$171,283,000) and non-current po

rtion

payable related to mining right payables of approximately

HK$81,011,000 (2021: approximately HK$82,522,000).

The Group’s gearing ratio was approximately 1.37 (2021:
approximately 2.16). The computation is based on total debt
(Convertible Bond, mining right payables, promissory notes, lease

liabilities and interest-bearing borrowings) divided by total equity.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EE Exiiw &

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital of the Group comprises only ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2022, there were 765,373,584 ordinary shares of the
Company in issue.

The Convertible Bond of the Company with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$200,000,000 were issued on 14 March 2008 the
maturity date of which was approved to be further extended for 36
months to 13 March 2023 by the shareholders of the Company on 11
March 2020.

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had pledged its mining right
with carrying amount of approximately HK$128,446,000 (2021:
approximately HK$132,175,000).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenue in RMB, HK$ and MYR and incurs
costs in RMB, HK$ and MYR. The Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk based on fluctuations between HK$ and RMB arising
from its core operation in the Mainland China as well as HK$ and MYR
arising from its operation in Malaysia. The currency exchange risk for
the Year is mainly derived from the net exchange gain on convertible
bond designated as financial liabilities at FVPL, which is a result from
the currency appreciation of RMB against HK$. In order to minimise
the foreign currency risk exposure between these two currencies, the
Group maintained cash balances in both currencies that are sufficient
to meet several months’ operating cash flows requirements of the
Group.

TREASURY POLICIES

Apart from the issuance of Convertible Bond at their face
value of HK$200,000,000 and the interest-bearing borrowings
amounting to approximately HK$37,254,000 (2021: approximately
HK$60,636,000), the Group finances its operation mainly by internal
generated resources.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (2021: Nil).

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 140 employees (2021: 120)
spreading amongst Hong Kong, Malaysia, Singapore, the UK and the
Mainland China. Total staff costs (excluding directors’ emoluments)
for the Year amounted to approximately HK$38,954,000 (2021:
approximately HK$33,406,000), representing a significant reduction
of manpower in Hong Kong and Malaysia under the IT Services
segment, and the increase in number of staff in the coal mining
business in Xinjiang. Employment relationship has been well
maintained by the Group with its employees.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAERHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwan Man Fai (“Mr. Kwan”), aged 53, is an executive Director
and authorised representative of the Company (under rule 3.05 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”))
appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr. Kwan has been the chairman
and managing director of the Company since March 2017 and is
a member of the remuneration committee and the chairman of the
nomination committee of the Company. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Kwan graduated from the University
of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in laws and a postgraduate
certificate in laws. Mr. Kwan also holds a master degree in laws from
The London School of Economics and Social Sciences, the University
of London and a master degree in the Mainland China law from
the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Kwan is now a consultant of
Messrs. Anthony Siu & Co., a law firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Kwan has
over 10 years of experience in corporate finance and banking work,
including assisting various companies in their listing on the Main
Board and the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wong Sze Wai, aged 39, is an executive Director appointed on
20 November 2018. Mr. Wong Sze Wai is a member of remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Wong Sze Wai is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wong Sze Wai obtained a
master degree in Social Science from the University of Hong Kong
in 2010 and an honours bachelor degree in Science from McMaster
University of Canada in 2007. Mr. Wong Sze Wai is currently a director
of several private companies in Hong Kong. His industrial experience
includes research and development, business development, and legal
and compliance, etc. Mr. Wong Sze Wai is a director of Ascent Goal
Investments Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Li Chun Fung (“Mr. Li"), aged 40, is an executive Director and
authorised representative of the Company (under rule 3.05 of the
Listing Rules) appointed on 17 September 2021. Mr. Li has been
the financial controller of the Company since 14 April 2015 and
the company secretary of the Company since 21 April 2015. Mr.
Li graduated from the Imperial College, University of London with a
master degree in chemical engineering in August 2004. Mr. Li became
a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in October 2014. He is currently a director of APEC Business
Consultancy Limited. Mr. Li has been providing corporate services to
a variety of Hong Kong listed companies and offshore companies and
has extensive experience in corporate governance and compliance
matters. Mr. Li is currently the company secretary of Grand Power
Logistics Group Limited (stock code: 8489), a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EE K SR EBEASHE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond, aged 56, is an independent non-
executive Director appointed on 25 March 2008. Dr. Wong Man
Hin Raymond is the chairman of the remuneration committee of
the Company and a member of both the audit committee and
the nomination committee of the Company. Dr. Wong Man Hin
Raymond is a member of American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (CPA), a Certified Management Accountant (CMA) and
holds a certificate in financial management (CFM). Dr. Wong Man
Hin Raymond holds a bachelor degree in chemical engineering, a
master degree in economics and a doctorate degree in business
administration. Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond is an executive director
and chairman of Raymond Industrial Limited (stock code: 229), a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond is also an independent
non-executive director of Modern Healthcare Technology Holdings
Limited (formerly Modern Beauty Salon Holdings Limited) (stock code:
919) and Tak Lee Machinery Holdings Limited (stock code: 2102),
companies whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond was an independent non-
executive director of Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group
Limited (stock code: 8366), a company whose shares are listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange, from July 2017 to March 2021. Dr.
Wong Man Hin Raymond is the vice president and council member of
the Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director Association and
an independent manager of TWGHs Wong Fut Nam College.

Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey (“Mr. Chan”), aged 52, is an independent
non-executive Director appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr. Chan is a
member of each of the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Chan graduated from
the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in laws and a
postgraduate certificate in laws. Mr. Chan also holds master degrees
in laws from the City University of Hong Kong and from the People’s
University of China. Mr. Chan is currently a partner of Messrs. David
Y.Y. Fung & Co., a law firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan has extensive
experience in civil and commercial crime litigation and also handles
various transactions for corporate clients and banks in Hong Kong.
Mr. Chan is also an independent non-executive director of Qingin
Foodstuffs Group (Cayman) Company Limited (stock code: 1583),
a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

BAFHITESE
BEXREEL s6m RZZEETNF=H
“+HHEZEABUIENTES - BN
BLARRREFNEESERF  TALQH
BEZZEGRIEREEGKE - BN
AEEHREeFMASCPAZE - &
EEEAN(CMA) + I #5748 B 7% & 32 A (CFM)
BE BENBEIBELBEIRELEM -
EBLTSMRTREEELSBMN - B
BLAMREEBRAR(BRMLBA : 229)
CHITESREER 2R RRMDREB AT
FIRET - EXABLIRETRKERERE
AR AR (FITERNRERIERBERAF])
(B R5R - 919) LA REFIEARIZRER A
AR : 2102) 2B IEMITES « &
BB FTER BT - EXEBELTR =
E—+ELAE-E - —F= AANMIHS
HEEBREEFR AR (BRMDRSE : 8366)
ZEBMIEHITES - HRHPNEZATGEM E
e BENBELAREBYIIENTESHS
ElerRrEEENEMNERE-"ESmTE
WE -

BB (TBREED) - 525% - R=FTN
FoA-+HBREZRERBUIFNTES -
REERARFIZEZEZE S  FHERES
EREZEEEAZIKE - RELEEENE
BARE  BREBLBUNEBEEEE -
REENBEEERTAZRTEARAS
ZERBRT R - RELRRBBRMER
PO TTHRMITZERA - REERRER
BRILFRATERELR  TRARAERP
MIRITERBRERER S - RELTRAE
BREEE(FAS)RNHARQE(EROR
B PrEAR £ - B AIR  1583) 2 B
FHTES -

Annual Report 2021/22 5§

29



30

BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EE K SR EBEASHE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin (“Mr. Pak”), aged 58, is an independent
non-executive Director appointed on 19 September 2017. He is the
chairman of audit committee, a member of each of remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. He is a
fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an
associate of The Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries). He has over 25 years of experience
in finance, accounting and corporate governance affairs. Mr. Pak
had held positions as the chief financial officer and the company
secretary at various listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Pak is
currently an independent non-executive director of Dragon Mining
Limited (Stock Code: 1712), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Pak is also an independent non-
executive director of Viva China Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8032),
the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange. He
was an independent non-executive director of China Huiyuan Juice
Group Limited (Stock Code: 1886) from June 2019 to January 2021,
the shares of which were delisted on 18 January 2021 on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive
director of Convoy Global Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1019) from
December 2017 to May 2021, the shares of which were delisted on 4
May 2021 on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Chun Fung, aged 40, is the company secretary of the
Company appointed on 21 April 2015. The brief biographical details
of Mr. Li are set out in the section headed “Executive Directors”
above.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREARE

COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasizing on transparency, independence, accountability,
responsibility and fairness.

The Directors had reviewed the Company’s performance of its
corporate governance practices that the Company has complied with
the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the
Year, save for the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the Code as
set out in the section headed “Chairman and Chief Executive” of this
Corporate Governance Report.

THE BOARD

Roles and responsibilities

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. It
should act in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders at
all times. The Board sets strategies for the Company and monitors the
performance and activities of the senior management.

The executive Directors and the senior management of the Company
are responsible for the day to day operations of the Company
whereas the independent non-executive Directors are responsible
for ensuring a high standard of financial and management reporting
to the Board and shareholders of the Company as well as to provide
a balanced composition in the Board so that there is a strong
independent element on the Board.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board composition

The members of the Board during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Kwan Man Fai (Chairman & Managing Director)
Wang Xiangfei (resigned on 17 September 2021)
Wong Sze Wai

Li Chun Fung (appointed on 17 September 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Wong Man Hin Raymond

Chan Yiu Fai Youdey

Pak Wai Keung Martin

Alternate Director:
Wang Xiaoyao (alternate to Wang Xiangfei until 16 September 2021)

After annual assessment by the nomination committee of the
Company at a meeting on 23 June 2022, the Board considers that all
the Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise
S0 as to give a balance of skills, knowledge and experience, and
diversity of perspectives required for the running of an effective Board.
The Board currently comprises three executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors. The brief biographical details
of the Directors and the senior management and relationship among
them are set out in the section headed “Biography of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.

Board diversity

In June 2014, the Company adopted a policy on diversity of the Board
members, which has been revised in January 2019. The policy is
to review, assess and recommend any appointment, re-election or
any succession plan of any Directors to the Board from time to time
after considering a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, race, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and tenure of appointment to allow for
the Company’s business model and specific needs.
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THE BOARD (continued) EES(H)
Board meetings and general meetings EESEERRREAE

During the Year, the Board held four regular meetings and one ad-hoc
meeting, and the Company held one general meeting. The attendance
records of individual Directors at the Board meetings and at the

general meeting are set out below:

RAEERN  EF@ERTORAEHEZNR
—REREH  URARBGETRRR

MBERAEZ

A& ANEENESE RS
HRERERSIT

Number of Number of R/ HE/
Board meetings  general meeting RER BER
attended/ attended/ HiE i
eligible eligible £28 BRRAE

Name of Directors to attend to attend EEpg eENY RE

Executive Directors: HITES:

Kwan Man Fai 5/5 11 e 5/5 11
(Chairman & Managing Director) (FRREZHIRE)

Wang Xiangfei (resigned on 17 September 2/2 11 R e —a 2/2 1/1
2021) (with Wang Xiaoyao as alternate (by alternate) (by alternate) NATHRET) (HEREZE (hEHES
until 16 September 2021) (TNBREERES ) HE)

BEE_E_-FNNA
175A1)

Wong Sze Wai 5/5 11 T4 5/5 11

Li Chun Fung 3/3 171 FEB(N-Z=-F 3/3 11
(appointed on 17 September 2021) NATLREZMT)

Independent Non-executive Directors: BUFYTES:

Wong Man Hin Raymond 5/5 11 BB 5/5 1/1

Chan Yiu Fai Youdey 5/5 1/1 R EE 5/5 11

Pak Wai Keung Martin 5/5 11 S 5/5 11

# Independent non-executive directors had attended meeting(s) independently — + B IERITEEERANEEANLEHESSEE
held with the chairman of the Board without the executive directors present on MABAEERBEREARMARITZEYE
the direction of the Group’s strategy and policies during the Year. B TESETELE -

PREFHAEBARRZARWE - TR
ANERERRESTSRFBANETRMAAE
EARR RIS IABTE

All Directors have access to the company secretary of the Company
who is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are followed
and all applicable rules and regulations are complied with.

The Board ensures that its members are supplied, in a timely manner, ES=eMRAKEESEREMEEEET

with all necessary information in a form and of a quality appropriate to X BREEZ MEER @ LEESSETER
enable the Board to discharge its duties. =
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings and general meetings (continued)

The minutes of Board meetings recorded all the details of the matters
considered by the Board and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed.
Minutes of Board meetings are kept by the company secretary of the
Company and are available for inspection by any Director.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

The appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration by
the nomination committee of the Company. In accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three independent non-executive
directors who represent half of the Board and with two of whom
hold appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Code provision A.4.1 of the Code specifies that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to
re-election. Two independent non-executive directors, namely
Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond and Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey, were
appointed on 25 March 2008. Their service agreements have been
extended for one year commencing on 25 March 2022. Mr. Pak
Wai Keung Martin, the independent non-executive director, was
appointed on 19 September 2017 and the service agreement has
been extended for one year commencing from 19 September 2021.
However, they are still subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
provisions of the Company’s Bye-laws.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and after annual assessment by
the nomination committee of the Company at a meeting on 23 June
2022, the Company considers that all of the independent non-
executive directors are independent.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Directors’ and Officers’ liability

Appropriate insurance cover on Directors and officers’ liabilities has
been provided to cover potential legal actions against Directors and
officers.

Training and support for Directors

All Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. The
Group provides briefings and other training to develop and refresh the
Directors’ knowledge and skills. Details of the continuous professional
development participated by the Directors for the Year, that the
Company received, are set out below:

EEE(#®)
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Attended seminars or SHNFAER
Name of Directors briefing/read materials EENE Bhe MEER
Executive Directors: HITES :
Kwan Man Fai v BE v
(Chairman & Managing Director) (EFERESHIE)
Wang Xiangfei v TR v
(resigned on 17 September 2021) (RZZE=-—FNA
THREHT)
Wong Sze Wai v T4 v
Li Chun Fung v  FEBMW-Z=-—F v
(appointed on 17 September 2021) NATEBEZM)
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUKHTES :
Wong Man Hin Raymond v BXE v
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey v  RigE v
Pak Wai Keung Martin v S v
Alternate Director: BERES
Wang Xiaoyao v N v
(alternate to Wang Xiangfei until (BREPRES
16 September 2021) —ZE-—FNA
+XB1)
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BEEEHFRS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have
confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they have
complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.

ARABCETRMA LR RS+ FrE LT
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive (the “CE”) should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

During the Year, the Company did not have any officer with CE
title. Mr. Kwan Man Fai, the chairman and managing director of the
Company, also carried out the responsibility of CE during the Year. In
view of the size of operation of the Group, the Board considered that
this structure is more suitable for the Company as it can promote the
efficient formulation and implementation of the Company’s strategies.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees to oversee particular
aspects of the Group’s affairs and to assist in the execution
of the Board’s responsibilities. All committees have their own
terms of reference. The views of different committees and their
recommendation not only ensure proper control of the Group but
also the continual achievement of the high corporate governance
standards expected of a listed company. The Board conducts
regular review of the structure and composition of the committees
with particular attention to the skills, knowledge and experience of
individual members.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
set up in March 1999 with specific terms of reference. The terms
of reference of the Audit Committee which are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company have included the
duties which are set out in code provision C.3.3 of the Code, with
appropriate modifications when necessary. The terms of reference of
the Audit Committee were amended on 15 March 2016 in order to
comply with the amendments to the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent
non-executive directors namely, Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin, the
chairman of the Audit Committee, Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond and
Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued) BEEZER(HA)
Audit Committee (continued) BEZEEE (&)
A total of two meetings were held during the Year and the RAFEER @ HBITMIE3 @ FARKEZ

attendances of individual members are as follows: HERRSRIT
Number of s
meetings attended/ EEREE
Name of members eligible to attend 230
Pak Wai Keung Martin (Chairman) 2/2 58 (ERE) 2/2
Wong Man Hin Raymond 2/2 2/2
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey 2/2 2/2

During the Year, the Audit Committee performed the following work:
1. Financial Reporting

o reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2021 and the unaudited
financial statements for the six months ended 30
September 2021 in conjunction with the external auditor
of the Company;

o reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group;

° reviewed the significant issues on operational and
compliance controls;

° reviewed the auditing and financial reporting matters,
including the key audit matters of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021
which are set out in the annual report of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2021;

o reviewed the audit planning for the year ended 31 March
2022 in conjunction with the external auditor;

RAEE  BRREGET I TE

MEHE

ERADRIMNIZBMEREE
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E-—FhNA=Z+HIENERZ
REEEZIERE
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1 :
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

2.

External Auditor

reviewed the remuneration, terms of engagement and the
independence of the external auditors of the Company;

reviewed the engagement of non-audit services and
relevant scope of works;

reviewed with external auditor the convertible bond of the
Company;

reviewed the re-appointment of external auditor of
the Company and was satisfied with their work, their
independence, and their objectivity, and therefore
recommended the re-appointment of Mazars CPA
Limited (which had indicated their willingness to continue
in office) as the Group’s external auditor for Shareholders’
approval at the annual general meeting held on 30 August
2021;

Internal Audit

reviewed the internal audit plan in conjunction with the
independent professional adviser;

reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit function
performed by independent professional adviser;

considered the major internal audit issues for the year
ended 31 March 2021;

Risk Management and Internal Controls

reviewed the Internal Control Review Report;

reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems; and

reviewed the arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties.

Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted access to
the auditor and all senior management of the Group. During the year
ended 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee also met the external
auditor without the presence of the executive directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was set up in July 2005 with specific terms of reference.
The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee which are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
have included the duties which are set out in code provision B.1.2 of
the Code, with appropriate modifications when necessary. The terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee were amended on 27
March 2012 in order to comply with the amendments to the Listing
Rules.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises five members,
including the chairman and managing director of the Company, Mr.
Kwan Man Fai, the executive Director, Mr. Wong Sze Wai and three
independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond
as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, Mr. Chan Yiu Fai
Youdey and Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin.

The remuneration packages of Directors and senior management of
the Company are recommended by the Remuneration Committee to
the Board for determination, as authorised by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting, having regard to the operating results of the
Company, individual performance and prevailing market conditions.
The Board conducts regular review of the structure and composition
of the Remuneration Committee with particular attention to the skills,
knowledge and experience of individual members.

During the Year, three meetings were held and the Remuneration
Committee had reviewed the existing remuneration packages of the
Board and the senior management of the Company and to make
recommendation on the remuneration package of all Directors and
senior management. The attendances of individual members are as
follows:

BEEZER(HA)

e =

AREHHEEE ((FHEES DR-EE
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Number of =)

meetings attended/ BERHE

Name of members eligible to attend RE®E =E P
Wong Man Hin Raymond (Chairman) 33 EXE(ER) 3/3
Kwan Man Fai 3/3 A& 3/3
Wong Sze Wai 3/3 Fros 3/3
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey 3/3 PR R e 3/3
Pak Wai Keung Martin 3/3 SSRGS 3/3
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration paid to senior management

Senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group for the
Year falls within the following band:

Exzse(#)

XN FEREBABZHH
AEERKAFEZNTFRRERARZHH
NFATHE :

Number of
individual(s)

AB

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was set up in March 2012 with specific terms of
reference. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company have included the duties which are set out in code provision
A.5.2 of the Code, with appropriate modifications when necessary.

The Nomination Committee will take into consideration a candidate’s
qualification, experience, expertise, knowledge and diversity of
perspectives, the requirements applicable to the Company and the
structure and composition of the Board. The Nomination Committee
identifies, reviews and nominates with diligence and care that
candidates suitably qualified as Board members before making
recommendation to the Board for their final appointment. Factors
such as gender, age, cultural and educational background, and
professional experience will also be taken into account to maintain a
balanced composition and diversity of the perspectives of the Board.

The Board had adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) setting out the approach to diversify members of the Board.
Selection of candidates will be based on a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, culture and educational
background, race, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
tenure of appointment.

The Board is currently composed of diversified members of different
gender and age, with education in economic, legal, accounting
and chemical engineering respectively from leading universities in
Mainland China (including Hong Kong) and the UK. Business and
professional experiences of the Board are even diversified which
include but not limited to, multinational entrepreneurship, listed
companies directorship in Hong Kong, legal practices in Hong Kong,
corporation finance and investment banking, accounting and auditing,
and financial management.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

As at the date of this annual report, the information (including sex,
age, educational background, business experience, professional
experience, term of appointment and designation) of the Board
Diversity Policy is as follows:

EEZEE(H)

REZEE(HA)

RAFHRAY  EFESZTTLBRZEH
(BIEMR - Fit  BEER  BELR -
BERLR  EHEBH)MT

No. of Directors

EEAH

Age group: 31to 40 3124057 2
Fhe#ER - 4110 50 A E505%, 0
5110 60 512605 4

Over 60 HRIB6OR 0

Gender: Male B 6
MR : Female M 0
Educational background: ~ Hong Kong BHE 6
HEXS Mainland China FEIR 2
Overseas SEIN 5

Business experience: Multinational entrepreneurship BETER 2
[EEF S Listed companies directorship in EE LT ARES 4

Hong Kong
Professional experience: Legal practices in Hong Kong BB EEAD 2
e ATES Corporation finance and ERMER 2
investment banking WA RIT

Accounting and auditing FETREZ 2

Financial management W5 E R 3

Length of service (year): <1 HR—F 1
PR# RS = (B F&T) ¢ 1-5 1256 2
6-10 62105 0

Over 10 im0 3

Designation: Executive Director HITES 3
7S Independent Non-executive Director B FJEHfTE SR 3
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

After annual assessment by the Nomination Committee at a meeting
on 23 June 2022, the Company considers that the Board has
achieved the following measurable objectives under the Board
Diversity Policy for the Year:

1. at least one third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive directors; and

2. at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications.

The Nomination Committee currently comprises four members,
including the chairman and managing director of the Company, Mr.
Kwan Man Fai as the chairman of the Nomination Committee and
three independent non-executive Directors namely, Dr. Wong Man
Hin Raymond, Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey and Mr. Pak Wai Keung
Martin.

During the Year, three meetings were held and the Nomination
Committee had reviewed and adopted the existing policy for the
nomination of Directors. The attendances of individual members are
as follows:

BEEZER(HA)

REZEE(E)
BEEEeN _E-_—_F A= +=H%1T
FHETFEETIRE  XRRARE EEE
RAFEADEZTESSLIUEBERIETZ
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1. EEGEL=H2z-KERBILIEH
TEE R

2. EBEFEERL-EZREBEAGEIEM
BEEME -

REZECHEAAMNBKEEN  BEAX
NAEFERESHLEREBELE(REE
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el WEARARISE IR B ZBUR - @RI
ZHERENT

Number of )

meetings attended/ EEREE

Name of members eligible to attend REHE =E
Kwan Man Fai (Chairman) 3/3 RSB (EFE) 3/3
Wong Man Hin Raymond 3/3 B 3/3
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey 3/3 Per 2 4 3/3
Pak Wai Keung Martin 3/3 HE® 3/3
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is dedicated to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance and the Board is responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties as stipulated in the Listing Rules.
During the Year, the Board committees had developed and reviewed
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;
reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; reviewed and
monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements and reviewed the compliance with
the Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Nomination Policy
The nomination policy of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”) was
adopted by the Board and became effective on 9 January 2019.

Objective

° The Nomination Committee may, as it considers appropriate,
nominate a number of candidates more than the number of
directors to be appointed or re-appointed at a general meeting,
or the number of casual vacancies to be filled.

Selection Criteria

° The factors listed below could be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

- Reputation for integrity

- Accomplishment and experience in the related industry

- Relevant skills and experience to contribute to the Board

- Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest

= Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational

background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
Nomination Policy (continued)
Selection Criteria (continued)

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the
discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with their
written consent to be appointed as a Director and to the
public disclosure of their personal data on any documents or
the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as Directors.

The Nomination Committee may request candidates to provide
additional information and documents, if considered necessary.

Nomination Procedures

The company secretary of the Company shall call a meeting
of the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of
candidates from Board members or senior management if
any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to
its meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put forward
candidates who are not nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
company secretary of the Company.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any
general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to present a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment relating to annual and interim
reports, inside information and price-sensitive announcements and
other financial disclosures under the Listing Rules, and reports to
regulators as well as to information required to be disclosed pursuant
to statutory requirements. As at 31 March 2022, the Directors are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt upon the ability of the Company to
continue as a going concern. The statement of the external auditor of
the Company about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
from page 63 to page 73 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
During the Year, the Group has complied with code provision C.2 of
the Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. Management is responsible for the
design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the
Board oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing
basis. Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises
the following phases:

° Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

° Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

° Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and monitor the residual risks
persistently.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2021/22, no significant
risk was identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSQO”) 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The components of
the framework are shown as follows:

o Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures to provide the basis for carrying out internal control
across the Group.

° Risk Assessment. A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed.

° Control Activities: Actions established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

° Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

° Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain

whether each component of internal control is present and
functioning.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and
implements an inside information policy and procedures. Certain
reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of disclosure
requirements in relation to the Group, which include:

° the access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality;

° confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations; and

° the executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2021/22, no
significant control deficiency was identified.

Internal Audit

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which is consisted
of professional staff with relevant expertise (such as Certified Public
Accountant). The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily
operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management and
internal control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and
tests of operating effectiveness.

An |A plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal control
systems is conducted semi-annually and the results are reported to
the Board via Audit Committee afterwards.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness of
these systems has been conducted semi-annually. Several areas
have been considered during the Board’s reviews, which include but
not limited to:

(i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks since
the last annual review, and the Group’s ability to respond to
changes in its business and the external environment; and

(i) the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of
risks and of the internal control systems.

The Board, through its reviews and the reviews made by IA function
and Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and
internal control systems were effective and adequate during the
Year. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources, staff
qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the
training programmes and budget provided were sufficient.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The audit works of the Group for the Year were performed by Mazars
CPA Limited.

For the Year, fees paid or payable to the auditor of the Company,
Mazars CPA Limited, and its affiliates by the Group are as follows:
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Li Chun Fung (“Mr. Li"),
who has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Mr. Li has
taken over 15 hours of relevant professional training in accordance
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the Year.

SHAREHOLDER’S COMMUNICATIONS

A shareholders communication policy was adopted on 27 March
2012 to ensure that shareholders are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to balanced and understandable information about the
Company. The shareholders communication policy is available on the
Company’s website. The Company has established various channels
of communications with its shareholders such as publication of interim
and annual reports, press release and announcement of the latest
development of the Company in a timely manner. The annual general
meeting provides an opportunity for shareholders to exchange views
with the Board. External auditor is also available at the annual general
meeting to address shareholders’ queries. Moreover, resolutions are
proposed at annual general meeting on each substantially separate
issue, including the election of individual Directors.

The 2022 annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company will be
held on 29 July 2022. A notice of annual general meeting will be sent
to the shareholders of the Company at least 20 clear business days
before the meeting.

Dividend Policy
The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”) was
adopted by the Board and became effective on 9 January 2019.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Company could also take into
account, inter alia:

(@ the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

(b)  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group and
each of the members of the Group;

(c) the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and the relevant financial covenants;
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SHAREHOLDER’S COMMUNICATIONS (continued)

Dividend Policy (continued)

(d) the Group’s capacity from current and future operation, future
commitments at the time of declaration of dividend;

(e) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group’s lenders;

® any restrictions under the law in Bermuda and the Company’s
Bye-laws;

(@ the dividends received from the Group’s subsidiaries and
associates, which in turn will depend on the ability of those
subsidiaries and associates to pay a dividend;

(h)  the Group’s expected working capital requirements;

(i) general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
motion control business and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

() any other factors that the Board deem appropriate.

The Dividend Policy and the declaration and/or payment of future
dividends under the Dividend Policy are subject to the Board’s
continuing determination that the Dividend Policy and the declaration
and/or payment of dividends would be in the best interests of the
Group and shareholders, and are in compliance with all applicable
laws and regulations. The Board endeavours to maintain a balance
between meeting its shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend policy.

The Board could continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify
and/or cancel the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy
shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Group
in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way obligate the Group
to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time, there can be
no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period. Even if the Board decides to recommend and pay
dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon the
abovementioned factors.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition sent to the Company’s
registered office and its principal office in Hong Kong for the attention
of the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
a special general meeting (the “SGM”) to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition. The written requisition must state the purposes
of the general meeting, signed by the shareholder(s) concerned and
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more of those shareholders. If the requisition is in order, the company
secretary of the Company will ask the Board to convene a SGM by
serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory requirements
to all the registered shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition is
invalid, the shareholders concerned will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as requested.

Shareholder(s) of the Company holding (i) not less than one-twentieth
of the total voting rights of all shareholders having the right to vote at
the general meeting; or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders, can submit
a written request stating the resolution intended to be moved at the
AGM or a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to
be dealt with at a particular general meeting. The written request/
statements must be signed by the shareholder(s) concerned and
deposited at the Company’s registered office and its principal office
in Hong Kong for the attention of the company secretary of the
Company, not less than six weeks before the AGM in the case of a
requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not less than one week
before the general meeting in the case of any other requisition. If the
written request is in order, the company secretary of the Company will
ask the Board (i) to include the resolution in the agenda for the AGM;
or (i) to circulate the statement for the general meeting, provided
that the shareholder(s) concerned have deposited a sum of money
reasonably determined by the Board sufficient to meet the Company’s
expenses in serving the notice of the resolution and/or circulating the
statement submitted by the shareholder(s) concerned in accordance
with the statutory requirements to all the registered shareholders.
On the contrary, if the requisition is invalid or the shareholder(s)
concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the
Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the shareholder(s)
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the
proposed resolution will not be included in the agenda for the AGM or
the statement will not be circulated for the general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time send their
enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the
company secretary of the Company by post, fax or email. The contact
details are set out as below:

Registered office: Clarendon House,
2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Principal place of 8/F., Tower 2,
business in Admiralty Centre,
Hong Kong: 18 Harcourt Road,

Admiralty, Hong Kong

Postal address: 8/F., Tower 2,
Admiralty Centre,
18 Harcourt Road,
Admiralty, Hong Kong

Tel: 3845 5790
Fax: 2110 1907
Email: info@nannanlisted.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the Year, there were no change in the Memorandum of
Association and Bye-laws of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The subsidiaries
of the Company are principally engaged in (i) mining and sales of
coal; (i) renewable energy solutions; and (jii) provision of information
technology outsourcing, consultancy and technical services.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the Year and the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 74 to 210. The Board does not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the Year (2021: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business for the Year, a discussion on
the Group’s future business development and principal risks and
uncertainties that the Group is facing are provided in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 11 and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12 to 27 of this annual report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company promotes the culture of adhering to the high ethical
standards of business conduct and commits to complying with all
prevailing laws and regulations in all its operating regions. During the
Year, the Company did not aware of any material non-compliance or
breach of legislation.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities, and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements is set
out on pages 211 to 212 of this annual report. This summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital are set out in
Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements. The Company does
not adopt share option scheme.

CONVERTIBLE BOND

Details of the Convertible Bond issued by the Company during the
Year are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Convertible Bond” of this
Report of the Directors and Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements, no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the
Company during the Year.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that our management, employees,
customers and business partners (including suppliers, financial
institutions and academic bodies) are key stakeholders to the
Company’s success. We strive to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging our management and employees, providing quality
products to our customers, collaborating with business partners to
deliver quality sustainable products and services and supporting our
community.

ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Company will publish an Environmental, Social and Governance
Report no later than five months after the financial year ended 31
March 2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s Bye-laws provided that all Directors and officers
of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall or
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty. Directors’ and officers’
liability insurance is arranged to cover the directors and officers of the
Group against any potential costs and liabilities arising from claims
brought against them.
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RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, each of the Group (the employer) and its employees
make monthly contributions to the MPF Scheme generally at 5% of
the employees’ earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident
Fund legislation. The monthly contributions of each of the employer
and the employee are subject to a maximum contribution of
HK$1,500 per month (for period after 1 June 2014) and thereafter
contributions are voluntary. The Group has no further obligation for
post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the Mainland China are
members of the state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by
the government of the Mainland China. The subsidiaries contributed
certain percentage of basic salaries to the retirement benefits plan to
fund the benefits. The Group has no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirements benefits beyond these
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible
for the entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.

Contributions to the above retirement schemes vest immediately.
No forfeited contributions under the above retirement schemes is
available to reduce the contribution payable by the employer in future
years.

REMUNERATION POLICY

Remuneration policy of the Company is reviewed regularly, making
reference to market condition and performance of the Company and
individual staff (including the Directors). The remuneration policy and
remuneration packages of the Directors and management team are
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and the Board which are
detailed in the paragraph headed “Remuneration Committee” under
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 39 to 40.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Directors consider that those related party transactions disclosed
in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements did not fall under
the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected
transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
which are required to comply with any of the reporting, announcement
or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules. The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Year, save as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Convertible Bond” under the Report of the Directors on page 54,
the Company did not have any connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions which were subject to the reporting
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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MAJOR EVENTS
The major events of the Group are provided in the section headed
“Chairman’s Statement” on pages 6 to 10 of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company had no retained profits
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie. Under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the Company’s contributed
surplus of approximately HK$128,013,000 may be distributed under
certain circumstances. In addition, the Company’s share premium
account with a balance of approximately HK$191,534,000 may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for 53.04% of the total sales for the Year and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to 15.25%. Purchases of goods
and services from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
60.77% of the total purchases for the Year and purchases from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to 17.67%.

At no time during the Year, the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the Directors own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) had any beneficial interest
in the five largest customers or the five largest suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors:

Kwan Man Fai (Chairman & Managing Director)
Wang Xiangfei (resigned on 17 September 2021)
Wong Sze Wai

Li Chun Fung (appointed on 17 September 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Wong Man Hin Raymond

Chan Yiu Fai Youdey

Pak Wai Keung Martin

Alternate Director:
Wang Xiaoyao (alternate to Wang Xiangfei until16 September 2021)

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr.
Kwan Man Fai and Mr. Wong Sze Wai will retire by rotation and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

Pursuant to bye-law 86(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and shall be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Accordingly, Mr. Li
Chun Fung will retire from office as Director at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 28 to 30 of this annual report.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Changes in the information of the Directors required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules subsequent to the
publication of the 2021/22 interim report of the Company are set out
below:

(1) The emoluments of the executive directors, namely Mr. Kwan
Man Fai and Mr. Wong Sze Wai, were subject to a 10%
reduction with effect from 1 April 2021 due to the impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic and spending on renewal of mining
permits. Subsequent to a review of Directors’ duties and
responsibilities in the Company as well as the market conditions
and the improving financial position of the Company, the
executive directors’ emoluments were approved and revised by
the Board with effect from 1 December 2021. The emolument
of Mr. Kwan Man Fai was adjusted back to its original level at
HK$1,651,908 per annum. The emolument of Mr. Wong Sze
Wai was adjusted back to its original level at HK$1,352,124
per annum. The emolument of Mr. Li Chun Fung was adjusted
upward to HK$765,600 per annum.

(2)  The service agreements of the independent non-executive
directors, namely Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond and Mr. Chan
Yiu Fai Youdey, entered with the Company expired on 24 March
2022 and their service agreements had been extended for one
year commencing on 25 March 2022; and

(8)  The service agreement of an executive director, namely Mr.
Kwan Man Fai, entered with the Company expired on 24 March
2022 and his service agreement had been extended for one
year commencing on 25 March 2022.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company, which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

No director or his/her connected entity had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly in any transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any its subsidiaries was party at the end of the Year or at
any time during the Year.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors or chief executives of
the Company, had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which (a) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they have taken or were deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate at any time during the Year or at the end of the
Year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Group has not adopted any share option scheme during the
Year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, the following persons (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

EERFTETRAERROKREEH
Rz EER KR

R-ZZE-_—F=A=+—H  BEARQRF
BEENTETBRABRARNR R EAB

E(ERRBHFRAEGKO(TEFSRBAREK
Bl 1) EXVER) 2 B fn - HEEERR () REHH -
HHE@IRIBEEF RS RN EXVIET RS
DEENMEGARR R ZEmIAR
(BIERBEEFRBERNBEIEEEE
ESR R 2 s AR + S(b)IRIK
B I B 645 55 352 16 B 50 A BX 615 P it
ZEEMAZEERAR  ROBIFIZLEST
AIBAE A AR R RFTZ S sAR

ESREROIES 2ER

MAFEEARREINAFEERE - AR
B E M B R RGBT AR &
FEEREBEARR RS EMEMEAE
BB A EFEFEM N

RS
RAFE - ARE B B R0 B AR AR

g -

FERRRRORERRD 2 E
5979

RZEZZF=A=+—H " THAZ(E
ERARREBITRABBRINRARQFK
1D RABRERR D P HE B A SRR AR AR E
F MRS KB B33 IRATTFE 2 B it 2 42

SLopa A .
MERR

Annual Report 2021/22 F%f

59



60

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2#H 4%

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND FERRERAROGREBERG 2R
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING R#RE (&)

SHARES (continued)

Long positions in shares or underlying shares of the RAQTRMDBIEERND 2HFA
Company

Approximate
percentage of
the total
number
of issued
shares of
Total number  the Company
Number of of shares (Note 5)
underlying and underlying NG|
Number of shares held shares held BRITRH
Name of Shareholders Notes  Nature of interest shares held i FERAE BEHAEIL
BREEB,/ HE Ma  EEME FERAHE  HABROHE  HAERGEEH (FtaE5)
Ascent Goal Investments Limited 1,4 Beneficial owner 569,616,589  1,000,000,000  1,569,616,589 205.08%
(“Ascent Goal’) EREEA
EEREBRAA
([&]])
CSIL Limited (“CSIL") 2,4 Interests of controlled 569,616,589  1,000,000,000  1,569,616,589 205.08%
ZHERABRERAT corporation
([ZHhER]) REEE Bn
New Bright International 2,4 Interests of controlled 569,616,589  1,000,000,000  1,569,616,589 205.08%
Development Limited corporation
(“New Bright”) XEEE R
EIERRERAR A
(8] )
Ms. Fung Yuen Kwan Veronica 3,4 Interests of controlled 569,616,589  1,000,000,000  1,569,616,589 205.08%
BTt corporation
REE  En

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (continued)

Long positions in shares or underlying shares of the

Company (continued)
Notes:

1. Ascent Goal was directly interested in 569,616,589 shares and further
1,000,000,000 underlying shares which may be fully allotted and issued
if the Convertible Bond are converted at the conversion price of HK$0.20
per share. These 1,569,616,589 shares were held by Ascent Goal directly
as beneficial owner. It includes (i) interests in 569,616,589 shares and (i)
the Convertible Bond giving rise to an interest in 1,000,000,000 underlying
shares.

2. Since Ascent Goal is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CSIL which is beneficially
owned as to 70% by New Bright, the interests of Ascent Goal is deemed
to be the interests of CSIL and in turn the interests of New Bright under the
SFO.

3. Ms. Fung Yuen Kwan Veronica is deemed to have interests in the shares and
underlying shares through her 70% interests in New Bright.

4. The 569,616,589 shares and 1,000,000,000 underlying shares under the
Convertible Bond represent approximately 74.42% and approximately
130.66% of the total number of issued shares of the Company respectively,
thus the total of 569,616,589 shares and 1,000,000,000 underlying shares
represent approximately 205.08% of the total number of issued shares of
the Company. The conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bond will
not be exercised and the Company will not issue the conversion shares fif,
immediately following the conversion, the Company would be unable to meet
the public float requirement under the Listing Rules.

(5% The approximate percentage of shareholdings is based on 765,373,584
shares as at 31 March 2022, not the enlarged number of issued shares of the
Company upon full conversion of the Convertible Bond.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Directors are not
aware of any other persons who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
No Director had interests in a business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group, as defined in the Listing Rules, during the Year and up to the
date of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on the information that
is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of
the Directors, over 25% of the total number of issued shares of the
Company is held by the public as required under the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited
by Mazars CPA Limited who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Mazars
CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On Behalf of the Board

Kwan Man Fai
Chairman and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BY AR E

mazars
B E X K

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Nan Nan
Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 210, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022,
and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

MAZARS CPA LIMITED
PERREDSHHERFERLT
42" Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
EABFEEE 18 PIRES 428
Tel EFE: (852) 2909 5555

Fax {#H: (852) 2810 0032

Email EE: info@mazars.hk

Website #81it: www.mazars.hk
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B\ & EisR &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment on coal mines related non-current

assets

Refer to Notes 2, 3, 4, 12, 13 and 18 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Key Audit Matter
HREXSEE

EREZEE(E)
KIRAERASE R B E ERERE

BRMGAUERENFE2 341213
%18 °

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMzERNmEERRERSEE

As at 31 March 2022, the Group held various coal
mines related non-current assets, including property,
plant and equipment, prepayments for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets in
the People’s Republic of China with carrying amounts
of approximately HK$91,986,000, HK$5,306,000 and
HK$202,305,000, respectively.

The Group would, at least annually, perform impairment
assessment of coal mines related non-current assets
and the management engaged an independent
professional valuer (the “Valuer”) to assess the value-
in-use of coal mines related non-current assets for the
purpose of impairment assessment. The impairment
assessment involves the management’s estimates
in certain areas including the discount rate and the
underlying cash flow projection based on the future
market supply and demand conditions. Any changes in
the management’s estimates may result in significant
financial impact to the Group.

We have identified the impairment assessment on coal
mines related non-current assets as a key audit matter
due to significant estimates made by the management
in determining the recoverable amounts of the
corresponding cash-generating unit.

As set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management concluded that the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is
higher than its carrying value and no impairment
provision was required for the current year.

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:

(@)

evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer engaged by the management
to assess the value-in-use of coal mines related non-
current assets;

assessing and challenging the valuation
methodologies adopted in the valuation with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

assessing the suitability of the source data as the
basis for the valuation by comparing key financial
information in the source data with the financial
statements and operational forecast prepared by the
management;

assessing the key assumptions underlying the
operational forecasts by comparison with the
historical financial performance together with market
and other externally available information;

assessing the discount rates applied in the cash flow
forecasts, by benchmarking against those of similar
companies in the markets;

re-performing the management’s calculations of
the sensitivity of the key assumptions adopted in
the cash flow forecasts and considering possible
management bias in the selection of assumptions;
and

evaluating the sensitivity of impairment assessment to
changes in key assumptions.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B\ & EisR &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment on coal mines related non-current

assets (continued)

Key Audit Matter
AREXEE

EREZEE(E)
RIRAERASE R B & ERIE R4 ()

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B\ & EisR &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment on goodwill for information
technology outsourcing, consultancy and technical

services business (“IT Services business”)

Refer to Notes 2, 3, 4 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter
HAREXSHE

EREZEE(E)

BABEINE - BAREMIREER
(BB BRI XIS |) 2B 2 RERT
1l

F2HRAMBERME2 - 3 4R14 -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMzERNAEEERERSEE

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had goodwill (net
of impairment loss) of nil in relating to the acquisition
of 80.86% equity interest in Harbour Group Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries (together referred to as
the “Harbour Group”) and the Harbour Group had net
assets value with carrying amount of approximately
HK$8,071,000.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, the
management engaged the Valuer to assess the
impairment on goodwill for IT Services business. The
impairment assessment involves the management’s
estimates in certain areas including the discount rate
and the underlying cash flow projection based on the
future market supply and demand conditions. Any
changes in the management’s estimates may result in
significant financial impact to the Group.

We have identified the impairment assessment on
goodwill for IT Services business as a key audit matter
due to significant estimates made by the management
in determining the recoverable amounts of the
corresponding cash-generating unit.

As set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management concluded that the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was
lower than its carrying value and impairment loss on
goodwill of approximately HK$5,814,000 arising from T
Services business had been recognised for the current
reporting period.

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:

(@)

evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer engaged by the management
to assess the value-in-use of IT Services business
and related non-current assets;

assessing and challenging the valuation methodologies
adopted in the valuation with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards;

assessing the suitability of the source data as the
basis for the valuation by comparing key financial
information in the source data with the financial
statements and operational forecast prepared by the
management;

assessing the key assumptions underlying the
operational forecasts by comparison with the
historical financial performance together with market
and other externally available information;

assessing the discount rates applied in the cash flow
forecasts, by benchmarking against those of similar
companies in the markets;

re-performing the management’s calculations of
the sensitivity of the key assumptions adopted in
the cash flow forecasts and considering possible
management bias in the selection of assumptions;

considering the appropriateness on the recognition of
impairment loss on goodwill arising from IT Services

business; and

evaluating the sensitivity of impairment assessment to
changes in key assumptions.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment on goodwill for information
technology outsourcing, consultancy and technical
services business (“IT Services business”) (continued)

Key Audit Matter
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B\ & EisR &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of convertible bond designated as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (the

“Convertible Bond”)

Refer to in Notes 2, 3, 25 and 31(b) to the consolidated financial

statements.

Key Audit Matter
HREXSHE

AREZEE(E)
EBEARATFEIRIEERANEE 2
emaEzRRES ([ UTBRRKRES]D
2B

FREEREMEHREMNE2 - 3 25K%31(b) °

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMzERNmEE@RRERSER

As at 31 March 2022, the fair value of the Convertible
Bond was approximately HK$182,537,000.

(@)
The management engaged the Valuer to estimate the
fair value of the Convertible Bond as at 31 March 2022.

We have identified the valuation of the Convertible Bond
as a key audit matter because the amount involved is
significant and the valuation of the Convertible Bond
and the related disclosures require market data and
modelling techniques which rely on a range of inputs.
Where observable market data are not available, or
where instruments are not liquid, estimates must be
developed based on the most appropriate source data.
These estimates are subject to significant judgement.
In addition, we have identified the disclosure of
the fair value of the Convertible Bond in the fair
value hierarchy as an area of focus. Besides, the
recognition and measurement of the Convertible Bond
involved significant judgement and estimates by the
management.

RZE-—F=ZA=+—8 AR EHFZAFEYD
182,537,000/ 7T, °

EREDERGEMEN S _—_F=A=+—8H7
B ES 2 D EEITRE -

BB AT RBESZ BERBREZEE  RE
RS EREARABRBESZHENEREERE
MSHEREEAEHABIE 2 EZRNTT - HABR
TISEBEERG - S TARARBIE - BILER
BREE 2 KREBEL G - ZFHFXEAHE
BRI o BRI 2SN - AIE KR A FERBRARE TR
BREZZ AFEBRRED © 1o - ATHRRE S 2 T
REFTEESEEE ZEAHE R EEt -

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:

evaluating the Valuer’s competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

assessing and challenging the appropriateness of
the valuation methodology, and the reasonableness
on the key inputs and assumptions used by the
Valuer and agreed by the management including the
discount rate and share price; and

evaluating the sensitivity analysis performed by the
Valuer in relation to the fluctuation on the discount
rate and share price of the Company’s shares.

BTz T EERREFERE(EBER)

AHEEERD 2 £EE - BEN RFEIL -

A RERGEETERTRE - Mt EEERMPTA
LREEBMABEZERGABE(BEMEA R LK
BIRBRENGERE &
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B\ & EisR &

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Company’s 2022 annual report but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee assists the directors of the Company in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B\ & EisR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B\ & EisR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RBMRER G U BBRREARZ
BE(&)

72

(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B\ & EisR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 24 June 2022

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

She Shing Pang

Practising Certificate number: P05510
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HEEmkEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-F-_—F=A=+—-HALEE

2021
—T--F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
st TEx Tin
Revenue Wis 5 300,241 130,521
Cost of services and goods sold BERBRERIA (137,645) (75,914)
Gross profit =7 162,596 54,607
Other revenue Hib iz 6 1,305 8,661
Selling and distrioution expenses HERNHER (1,376) (642)
Administrative and other operating expenses TR EMmCEE R (42,084) (34,505)
Exchange (l0ss)/gain, net 5 (B18)/ e 58 (4,001) 7,979
Finance costs RERA ) 7 (10,342) (9,626)
Change in far value of contingent consideration receivables ~ EURE A (B2 A TiE# 15 - (3,648)
Change in fair value of convertible bond designated as BT ARLNTEFRTHEERA
financial liabilties at FVPL REZERARTHRRES
ZATEES 25 (11,254) (24,857)
Impairment loss on goodwil HERESE 14 (5,814) (14,509)
Profit/(Loss) before tax BEtATER/ (B8) 7 88,940 (16,534)
Income tax (expenses)/credit ER (X)) H% 8 (22,940) 14,326
Profit/(Loss) for the year ERER/ (B8) 66,000 (2,208)
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of nil tax Htt2mEEE/(F8)
NHEHE
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: TeENT B2 En s EE -
Exchange differences on translation of the Company’s BERRAGBRRAZIE
financial statements to presentation currency B EREE 2,912 9,118
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: B rlstEZf 7452877
BA
Exchange differences on translation of functional currency ~ #ENaLER A2 5| S 7
to presentation currency EHESR 5,694 (10,392)
Other comprehensive incomey/(loss) for the year EREMEAERE (FE) 8,606 (1,274)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ER2ENE/(FE) 48 74,606 (3,482)
Profit/(Loss) for the year attrioutable to: ATALEEEA
i/ (BR) :
— Owners of the Company SVYNGIE =N 66,592 (2,936)
— Non-controling interests —JHERER (592) 728
66,000 (2,208)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ATATEGERZE
attributable to: Wi/ (58) 8% :
— Owners of the Company —ARAEBA 75,231 (4,243)
— Non-controling interests —JEi iR (625) 761
74,606 (3,482)
Earnings/(Loss) per share (expressed in gRAER,/ (E8)
Hong Kong cents) (A ILZF])
~Basic —EA 10 8.70 038
- Diluted -8 10 4,07 (0.38)

The notes on pages 81 to 210 form an integral part of these  F|ERES1E2108 7 Wik Z S ix4 0t
consolidated financial statements. Bz —8bm o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MIARR R

As at 31 March 2022
R=ZB-=fF=A=+-—H

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Prepayments for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Mining right payables, current portion

Interest-bearing borrowings

Convertible bond designated as financial
liabilities at FVPL

Promissory notes

Lease liabilities
Tax payables

Net current (liabilities)/assets

Total assets less current liabilities

FRBEE

YE T &
BIEAE

Bk
WM - BER&EZ
TR
EERAEE

RBEE

&

R LS 65 75 e LA B LUK IR
ReMREFEAR

hEaE

e & 3R K B At FE 5 RIE
FE BRI FRIE -
BIHERER

FEEE

YEE AR A FENIBRY
BEANEEzSRAEY
AR ES

FHER

FEFTEIR

nE (AR EERE

REERRBRE

17
18
20

21

22
23

25
27
28

2022 2021
== T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
125,553 109,011
203,699 187,577
4,229 10,043
5,306 4,102
2,561 9,113
341,348 319,846
2,930 23,265
11,239 12,998
260,753 204,079
274,922 240,342
70,444 81,071
4,410 3,901
37,254 60,636
182,537 -
- 2,400

1,068 1,836
11,277 2,888
306,990 152,732
(32,068) 87,610
309,280 407,456
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION #R& Bk R &
As at 31 March 2022
RZBZZF=ZA=1+—H

2022 2021
== T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAET

Capital and reserves B R
Share capital A&7 24 76,537 76,537
Reserves A 145,001 69,770

Equity attributable to owners of the RAREE AELER

Company 221,538 146,307
Non-controlling interests JEIEARRE RS 2,651 3,276
Total equity R 224,189 149,583
Non-current liabilities FRBERS
Convertible bond designated as financial &7 A1z A ESBRITE

liabilities at FVPL BaNREseRaiEs

MR ES 25 = 171,283
Provision for close down, restoration and  E8Ed ~ 1828 RIRIBAK AN

environmental costs B 26 3,045 2,941

Mining right payables, non-current portion  FETERIBREZRIE
FERNERES 22 81,011 82,522
Lease liabilities HERE 28 270 349
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIIEAE 29 765 778
85,091 257,873
309,280 407,456

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised ~ ZEGAUBHREAR S _—_F A -_+N
for issue by the board of directors on 24 June 2022 and signed on its ~ HHESESH#E L IRETIEE - WHL T AL

behalf by REEE
Kwan Man Fai Li Chun Fung
X E FEE
Director Director
EF 2

The notes on pages 81 to 210 form an integral part of these  FI|EFH N FE 81 E2108 2 Hi T A% E 454 Bt
consolidated financial statements. Bz 2 —EH °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GANMERB%

Attributable to owners of the Company

RRFEEARE
Exchange No-
Share Share Capita Statutory {ranglation Special  Accumulated controling Totd

capital premium T6SENVE T8SENVES 66V 6SEIVe [osses Totd nterests equity
e Rivae BiR ek EXE BiE  ZER B FRER figg
Note 24l Mote2i)  MNote24@fi)  MNote24lh)  MNoto24(aly)
(heodal)  (Wiowm) (o)  (Heodah)  (Wiiodat)
HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS000
TR T Tin Thn T T Tirn Tirn Tin Tin

Asat 1 April 2020 N-3-%EMA-A 76,087 191,534 14862 ANRT 1407 VALK (184,690) 150,550 2515 163,065

Loss for the year ERER e e e = = = 2936) 2.936) 8 2208)

Total other comprehensiveloss: ~ EH2EEBEE:

temthatwilmotberechssfedto  FEEFFEEERY
proft orloss B

Betagedfeeosotasaing  RERATHERRA
theCompany's ancilsitements S| EE E 2E

o presentation curency - - - - 9118 - - 9118 - 9118
e thet maybe recassied subsequenty  ZATE EFHEEERL
toproftorloss Ef

Exchange diferences on randaton of - E s ERB27IE% Y
functiondl curency topresentation 28

cumency - - - - (10,429) - - (10,429) 3 (10,392)
Other compretiensiveoss forheyer  FRENZEIEE - - - - (1307 - = (1.307) 3 (1274
Total comprehensie oss forheyer A2 EBEES - - - - (1,307 = 2936) (4243) 6t (3482)
Transactions with owners: HREAETZRS
Appropriaton of statutoryresene.  EEEEZAE - - = 1072 = - (1072) = - =
Aporopraton for mantenanceand  EBREEEE SR

producton funds - - - 9997 - - 9,997) - - -
Utlisaion of maintenance and EBREEELER

production funds - - - 9,997) - - 9997 - - -

- : - 1 - - m - . -
As at 31 March 2021 RZB--EZf=1-A 16,537 191534 14,882 24,809 100 143 (188,6%8) 146,307 3216 149,583

The notes on pages 81 to 210 form an integral part of these  ZI|ENES1 Z 2108 2 M sF B ZE4R5 8 BT
consolidated financial statements. Bz 2 —EBD °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY #R&EES B R
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-E--FZA=+—-HLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ROTERARE

Exchange Non-
Share Share Capital Stafutory ~ translation Special  Accumulated controlling Total

capital premium resenve TESeNves resene resene losses interests equity
i BiE LY HERf EriR GhRE  RiER F FiRER L i
(Note24(@)))  Mote24(alii)  (Note24flfil)  (Note24fa)  (Note 24(alfv)
(W) Rsodam) (W) (ekosa)  (E24@)
HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
Tn Thn Thn Tn Tin Thn Thn Thn Tin Tn

Asat 1 April 2021 H-5--£mA-A 16,587 191,534 14,882 2809

00 48 (18698 146307 3216 149,583

Proft for the year ERET - S = = s = 66,692 66,592 (392) 66,000

Total other comprehensive income; Hﬂﬂé@%% :

e that willnt be reckssiied o BENTEEER
proft orloss #
Bchance dfeences ntansionel. - ERA R ERRE

teCompanysirancalsiatemens ~ Z5|EM BN £8

{o presentaon cuency - - = = 212 - - 2912 - 2912
Item that maybe reckissied subsequenty  ZA TR ER 7524

foproftorloss 5
Exchange differences on frendlafionof -~ ]

functiondl curency topresentation ¥ £8

curency - - - - 5721 - - 5721 (33 5694
Other comprehenive income for the year ERERZENE - - - - 8,639 - - 8,639 3) 8,606
Total comprehensive income for e year A2 EYEEHE = - - - 8,639 - 66,592 75,231 (625) 74,606
Transactions with owners: FREARGRG
Aporopriaton o statutory reserve ,m%ﬁz = = = T8 > = (7. 446) - - -
Appropriation for mantenance and

production funds - - - 19433 - - (19433) - - -
Utlsaton of meintenance and BEREEES2OR

production funds - - - (19433 - - 19433 - - -

- - . 1446 - = (7. 446) - - -

As at 31 March 2022 RZB-ZEZf=1-R 16,587 191,534 14,682 32,255 8,739 7183 (129552) 221,538 2651 224,189

The notes on pages 81 to 210 form an integral part of these  FI|EFHNES1E2108 2 TR A E 54 B
consolidated financial statements. BiRERZ —2D o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ll‘/_\éiﬁaﬁiﬁiﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-F-_—F=A=+—-HALEE

2022 2021
—E-_C T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Operating activities RSB
Profit/(Loss) before tax BRELATRF, (E518) 88,940 (16,534)
Adjustments for: B TFIEE (ERE -
Depreciation of property, ¥ - BERREITE
plant and equipment 12,353 10,112
Amortisation of intangible assets which BREERHEGATEE
was included in “cost of services R R EmAA])
and goods sold” 11,226 6,687
Change in fair value of contingent WS AREZ A FHE
consideration receivables g = 3,648
Change in fair value of convertible bond EERERATEIRIE
designated as financial liabilities at FVPL BEANREzEmats
akES AT EES 11,254 24,857
(Reversal)/Charge of loss allowances of JEWE N E R E
trade receivables, net (m),/ % 588 (17) 20
Rent concessions HeER = (20)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEVE  BERREZ
equipment B8 26 -
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREBE 5,814 14,503
Exchange differences, net PE N =5 EE (2,361) (19,410)
Finance costs BERA 10,342 9,626
Interest income FLEMA (901) (5,824)

Operating cash flow before movementsin @ EELBEF 2 SLEREHE

working capital 136,676 27,665
Changes in working capital: BEESH

Inventories FE 20,977 (14,886)

Trade and other receivables PR B R E A FE WK IE (668) 4,232

Trade and other payables A ET R H A ERATIE (22,958) 11,220
Cash generated from operations REEBHERE 134,027 28,231

Interest paid BRFIE (3,144) (2,334)

Income tax (paid)/refunded (BR)/BREMEH (6,471) 5,305
Net cash from operating activities REXKERETFE 124,412 31,202
Investing activities REER

Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE BENK (21,033) (13,307)

Additions to intangible assets NEEBVERE (20,763) (54,037)

Prepayments for acquisition of property, Wi - BERSEL

plant and equipment BERE (5,258) (4,731)

Interest received BUFIE 901 5,824

Net cash used in investing activities RELBMARLEE (46,153) (66,251)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS e B &RER

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-Z-_—f=A=+—-ALEFE

Financing activities

Inception of interest-bearing borrowings
Release of restricted bank balances
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings
Repayment of lease liabilities

Repayment of promissory note

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
year

Effect on foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash
equivalents

Bank balances

Short term deposit with an original maturity of
three months or less

Cash on hand

ATEEEER
FRRR R BRI TAS £R
BT REE
EEHEARE
BEEN TR

MEXB (A, FERLFE

RERREEEERLMFR

FAZRERAEEEER

ExSD Y8

FRZBERHEEEER

RERAEEEER 2 BRI

RITHER

FEHAA=MAZARZ
EEER

FEES

The notes on pages 81 to 210 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A

2022 2021

—E-C_F —E-—F

Note HK$°000 HK$'000
BsE THERT FET
36,517 57,661

- 77,266

(61,756) (67,041)

(2,277) (2,154)

- 213)

30(b) (27,516) 65,519
50,743 30,470

204,079 161,366

5,931 12,243

260,753 204,079

240,143 173,022

20,286 30,749

324 308

260,753 204,079
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-F-_—F=A=+—-HALEE

GENERAL

Nan Nan Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability. The shares of the Company are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, its holding
company is Ascent Goal Investments Limited (“Ascent Goal”),
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) with
limited liability and its ultimate holding company is New Bright
International Development Limited, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability. These entities do not produce
financial statements available for public use. Its ultimate
controlling party is Ms. Fung Yuen Kwan, Veronica.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2022 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”).

The Company is an investment holding company and the
subsidiaries of the Company are principally engaged in (i)
mining and sales of coal; (i) renewable energy solutions; and
(iii) information technology (“IT”) outsourcing, consultancy and
technical services (together referred to “IT Services”). The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless
otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of compliance (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the
2021 consolidated financial statements except for the adoption
of the following new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the
Group and effective from the current year as set out below.

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/
revised HKFRSs:

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRSs 4, 7, 9 and 16: Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

The amendments address issues that might affect financial
reporting when a company replaces the old interest rate
benchmark with an alternative benchmark rate as a result
of the interest rate benchmark reform (the “Reform”). The
amendments complement those issued in November 2019 and
relate to:

° changes to contractual cash flows — a company will not
have to derecognise or adjust the carrying amount of
financial instruments for changes required by the Reform,
but will instead update the effective interest rate to reflect
the change to the alternative benchmark rate;

° hedge accounting — a company will not have to
discontinue its hedge accounting solely because it makes
changes required by the Reform, if the hedge meets other
hedge accounting criteria; and

o disclosures — a company will be required to disclose
information about new risks arising from the reform and
how it manages the transition to alternative benchmark
rates.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Going concern

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$32,068,000 as at 31 March 2022. There is a material
uncertainty related to these matters that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and, therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The directors of the Company considered that (i) the holder
of the convertible bond is the holding company of the Group,
Ascent Goal, (i) after negotiation with Ascent Goal about the
extension of the maturity date of the convertible bond, together
with past experience of successfully extension for four times
in previous years, and (jii) even if the convertible bond was not
extended, Ascent Goal had committed to provide financial
support to the Group as is necessary to enable the Group to
meet its financial obligation as they fall due as alternative, they
are therefore of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial
obligations for at least the next twelve months from the date of
approval of the consolidated financial statements.

Having regard to the cash flow projection of the Group, which
are prepared assuming that the above measure is successful,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that, in the
light of the measure taken to-date, together with the expected
results of the other measures in progress, the Group will have
sufficient funding resources to satisfy its future working capital
and other financing requirements. The directors of the Company
believe that the aforementioned measure will be successful,
based on the continuous efforts by the management of the
Group.

However, should the above measure not be able to implement
successfully, the Group may not have sufficient funds to operate
as a going concern, in which case adjustments might have to
be made to reduce the carrying values of the Group’s assets
to their recoverable amounts, to reclassify the non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively and to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except for
the contingent consideration receivables, which was classified
as financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL”"), and the convertible bond designated as financial
liabilities at FVPL, which are measured at fair value as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as that of the Company using consistent
accounting policies.

All'intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses and
profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from
owners of the Company, in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and within
equity in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation,
are measured initially either at fair value or at the present
ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. This choice
of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are initially
measured at fair value, unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRSs.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.

TEETEHRE)

Basis of consolidation (continued) mEREEE(E)
Allocation of total comprehensive income DEEE K EEE

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
is attributed to the owners of the Company and the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the
fair value of any retained interest determined at the date when
control is lost and (i) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests at the date when control is lost. The amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on the same basis
as would be required if the parent had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Any investment retained in the former
subsidiary and any amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary
are accounted for as a financial asset, associate, joint venture or
others as appropriate from the date when control is lost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is
presented within these notes, an investment in subsidiary is
stated at cost less impairment losses. The carrying amount
of the investment is reduced to its recoverable amount on an
individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGU”) (or groups
of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. If some or all of
the goodwill allocated to a CGU was acquired in a business
combination during the current annual period, that unit shall
be tested for impairment before the end of the current annual
period. If the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit, and
then to the other assets of the unit on a pro rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of profit or loss on
disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and
buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or
loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account their estimated residual value,
using the straight-line method. Where parts of an item of
property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the
cost or valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
and depreciated separately.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are expensed
in profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

TEETEHRE)

M - BB RRE

WE  BELRBEERFELESMH
EEmREMAIETEAERZE
X RBTF - DERAARZFTE
REZFHRERR (WA IR - 1
BEEEEBEEZRABRERERE
BREMNSEEZHAIEREREZ
EBIEBR KR 2 E M EEBIEK
Ko ERREDNEESBERE

WE - BELERBEB ZFENEE
BOAREGFT AIME A F AL L R
HAFRISREERTE - AMIBEEK
Ko B—EYE BERRENSH
AR RFHE - %R E K
AEGENREBEEERLD 2H
e - MBS HERMITE

EEAMER 2 RIKLENA A BE
MARNEE R ZIAB 2 AL R] Seat
B HEBRRAGFABEZREES
RASBUEE(MER) - K E
D EREET AL LR - AR
HERREDNREESHBNEEX

W - BE RREEE RO ERKR
B EUBEERZREETES
ARIRAEE M a5 B 42 L ERERR (B A
EXNERYE - BELRBEBME
2 Wk B IR IR B PSSR R
BEZRAERZZREE - YNE

e
Ly
HIER o

Annual Report 2021/22 F%f

87



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT_—_F=A=+—HILLEE

88

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their
cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Mining right

Mining right is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses and is amortised based on
the units of production method utilising only recoverable coal
reserves as the depletion base.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

Stripping activity assets

Stripping costs incurred during the production phase are
generally considered to create two benefits, being either the
production of inventory or improved access to the ore to be
mined in the future. Where the benefits are realised in the form
of inventory produced in the period, the production stripping
costs are accounted for as part of the cost of producing those
inventories.

Where the benefits are realised in the form of improved access
to ore to be mined in the future, the costs are recognised as a
stripping activity asset and is accounted for as an addition to
intangible assets if the following criteria are met:

(@) it is probable that the future economic benefit (improved
access to the ore body) associated with the stripping
activity will flow to the entity;

(b)  the entity can identify the component of the ore body for
which access has been improved; and

(c) the costs relating to the stripping activity associated with
that component can be measured reliably.

Other production stripping costs are charged to the profit or
loss as operating costs as they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

Stripping activity assets (continued)

The stripping activity asset is initially measured at cost, which
is the accumulation of costs directly incurred to perform
the stripping activity that improves access to the identified
component of ore, plus an allocation of directly attributable
overhead costs.

If the costs of the inventory produced and the stripping activity
asset are not separately identifiable, a relevant production
measure is used to allocate the production stripping costs
between the inventory produced and the stripping activity
asset. This production measure is calculated for the identified
component of the ore body (i.e. coal reserves) and is used
as a benchmark to identify the extent to which the additional
activity of creating a future benefit has taken place. The Group
uses the expected volume of waste extracted compared with
the actual volume for a given volume of ore production of each
component.

The stripping activity asset is subsequently amortised using
the unit of production method over the life of the identified
component of the ore body that became more accessible as a
result of the stripping activity. The stripping activity asset is then
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Renewable energy service contract
Renewable energy service contract is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Amortisation is provided on the straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of 25 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the
Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from the financial
asset expire or (i) the Group transfers the financial asset and
either (a) it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the financial asset but it does not retain control of the financial
asset.

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a
significant financing component) are initially recognised at their
fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial assets. Such trade receivables are initially
measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as
(i) measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”);
(iii) equity investment measured at FVOCI; or (iv) measured at
FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent
to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business
model for managing them, in which case all affected financial
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first annual
reporting period following the change in the business model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

(1)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets
both of the following conditions and is not designated as
at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying
amount on initial recognition.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include
trade and other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

@

Financial assets measured at FVPL

These investments include financial assets held
for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at FVPL, financial assets resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies and financial
assets that are otherwise required to be measured at
FVPL. They are carried at fair value, with any resultant
gain and loss recognised in profit or loss, which does
not include any dividend or interest earned on the
financial assets. Dividend or interest income is presented
separately from fair value gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the
near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(iiy a derivative that is not a financial guarantee
contract or not a designated and effective hedging
instrument.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract in which a host
is an asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not separated
from the host. Instead, the entire hybrid contract is
assessed for classification.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at
FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different
bases.

The Group’s financial assets mandatorily measured at
FVPL include the contingent consideration receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the
liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus,
in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial
liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
interest-bearing borrowings, promissory notes, lease liabilities,
mining right payables and convertible bond designated as
financial liabilities at FVPL. All financial liabilities, except for
convertible bond designated as financial liabilities at FVPL, are
recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, unless
the effect of discounting would be insignificant, in which case
they are stated at cost.

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for
trading, financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at FVPL and financial liabilities that are contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies. They are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain
and loss recognised in profit or loss, except for the portion of fair
value changes of financial liabilities designated at FVPL that are
attributable to the credit risk of the liabilities which is presented
in other comprehensive income unless such treatment would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. The
amounts presented in other comprehensive income shall not be
subsequently transferred to profit or loss.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A

TEETEHRE)

TRIAE)

EHEE

AR R AR I FERR
CRHAENEEEEARERRTIA
BRI ZFT R R HER

TRAEENBERRELBETEUR
BRI BAEANTRNETER
B~ AESHSE R o

SR E
SRMABNSEEATEN(HERE
B 31 A FEFSR A BT
EERBRRTLERAEI ZINA
W -

AEBzeRABRRRENEREAE
EMNKIEA  FHERE  ALRE -
HEAE ENRBEFELIEES
BRFEIRTHERSENEEZ SR
BEZARRES - BREERERF
BRI ARSAREZEMAELZ
AMERESIN  FAEERAETEE
RFHENSER - RREAERNX
R AT E - IRIFRRIR &
A RE - FEUER T RARATIR

BATEIRTAEBENEE 2/
BEERBERZZEREE - 1Y)
FHRARIET/SARAFEINRLE
BRNEEZSRABAREBHS
5 AR S 35EE A FRE A SR g
BhHaARENERAE - BHFEQ
FESIRR - (A i A A R Wk K S
BNMERTRER  EEERRATE
JIRTHEEEANREE A E IR
FEZSTEERNEMEHKERE
e BBEZEERBIBORIN - BRIE
SZEREGELNBARET 2 EF
A - Rt 2 EBEFT 22BN
SRRER=ERS -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Classification and measurement (continued)
A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i)

(i)

incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in
the near term;

part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence of
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial
recognition; or

a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not
a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities are designated at initial recognition as at FVPL
only if:

(i)

(i)

the designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different
bases;

they are part of a group of financial liabilities or financial
assets and financial liabilities that are managed and
their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with a documented risk management
strategy; or

they contain one or more embedded derivatives, in which
case the entire hybrid contract may be designated as a
financial liability at FVPL, except where the embedded
derivatives do not significantly modify the cash flows or
it is clear that separation of the embedded derivatives is
prohibited.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

The convertible bond issued by the Group (including related
embedded derivative) is designated as financial liabilities at
FVPL on initial recognition. Subsequent to the initial recognition,
the entire convertible bond is measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise except for the changes in fair value attributable
to the changes of the credit risk of the liabilities.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than financial liabilities classified as at FVPL.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract with a host that is not
an asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated as separate
derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
those of the host, and the hybrid contract is not measured at
FVPL.

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A

TEETEHRE)

TRIAE)

EHEE(E)

D RETE(E)

REE BT 2 AR ES (B3R HERR
AXPTET )RS HERRIEE /R
NPEINRTERENREZE/ME
18 - VI HERIER - 2R RIBRRERZ
NFEFE - MATFEESHRRNEL
HRARBEDRR  HREZEERR
oIz N FEZEBRI -

ERANERERAESREBE 2 HHK
AERERHEIEMNEXEZ
% BERNXEA KRB ERNF
Hisk (0@ A ) 8008 B3R 2 (A et AR 2R 3R
TR (BB BRI R AR SR ED
DZ—HENKERERRHE T X
SRAREA G B KT ) BRI E
PG R R B D FHE 2 F K o

%M B IRA FEF L EARAE
B S BE BN - PR EHIRER
RS EAEFRR o

BRAZTEHOTBRE BN HRE L]
FORBEANEERESANTNITE
ITHE EFNAaTEIAER  HKLHE
Rt e fe B & 43 I U RE R o
RABHMLIFRATEIIRL AR
NEER IR RSB ITETA -

HEEERMETZESREETA
REANZHECBEEARERAGER
BRETAZEZNBRATRAMRNKMK
1 o

BATASERANEREIREMA
BERZEETHRNBER 2 EMNA
%o KREERRITZRATATNRE
WS FORNER B R BT ANER ©

ARAFFERMERG 2 BATERE
SRR RE R - RIBsA I E
EBE - HE - BITHEHARFN
P T AR (a8 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL”) on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost which the impairment requirements apply in
accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific treatments
as detailed below, at each reporting date, the Group measures
a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to
the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk
on a financial asset has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the past due information or
other credit risk characteristics.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria:

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i)  there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
except for which the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A

TEETEHRE)

TRIAE)

BB BHREERIEIRE T ZEHE
ERAMER RE(E)

ERZ TR

AEERBATERAEABEERR
EEENMEEBRENSH  RAR
PBELRIAMSBTANTS U TME
] —IRR%E - RIARKESRE LK
EIAREEAHTHE -

i) ARELEHEREINBRIRENE
FHRE - EBATAKRRERERE
A(BRERAKE)2BNR(TE
BASERFANEMERR)
EY

(i) RJIHUFERMHRGE -

T LN AEERSETHE
EBHEE0RAK - BHEAEL
BRIEAREEASERAEENERE
ARERNENREE RERYE R

A
A ©
B AREE L

R TANEERRE SR
BREORE LR AEELRER
TARBERMELANZOARES
BMTARNTZHEABHELNEOR
B o ELLRTER - AREEEEAE
RBEEENEERELER  BRE
SRBEBAEEBTBERARIEN
BRI S RTIEIEE R - Tim Ll FT
HER  ARERE - EEHONKE
HIiBi@30R - M T AMEERRE
MNP HRAKRCBE L7 EAKE
BEERERBENERFAERI -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (continued)

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(o) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c) thelender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under

HKFRS 9 (continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset (continued)

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

()  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual cash
flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The
Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written
off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s procedures
for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if
appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts (if
any) that are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
consolidated statement of cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_F=A=+—HLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Revenue recognition
Interest income
Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the assets while
it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount
net of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired financial assets.

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
Nature of goods or services

The nature of goods or services provided by the Group is as
follows:

(i) sales of coals;

(i)  renewable energy solutions;

(i)  sales of IT hardware products;

(iv)  IT outsourcing services; and

(v IT consultancy and technical services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(continued)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or
services promised in a contract with a customer and identify
as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(@) agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct; or

(b)  a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same and that have the same pattern of transfer to the
customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if
both of the following criteria are met:

(@ the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service
is capable of being distinct); and

(b)  the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises
in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or
service is distinct within the context of the contract).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example, work in progress) that the customer controls
as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining
when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the
concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Sales of coals and IT hardware products are recognised at a
point in time at which the customer obtains the control of the
promised asset, which generally coincides with the time when
the goods are delivered to customers and the title is passed.

Service income from renewable energy solutions, IT outsourcing
services and IT consultancy and technical services are
recognised over time when services are rendered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15, provided
the outcome of the performance obligation can be reasonably
measured, the Group applies the output method (i.e. based on
the direct measurements of the value to the customer of the
goods or services transferred to date relative to the remaining
goods or services promised under the contract) to measure
the progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation because the method provides a faithful depiction of
the Group’s performance, or the input method (i.e. based on the
proportion of the actual inputs deployed to date as compared
to the estimated total inputs) to measure the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation because
there is a direct relationship between the Group’s inputs and the
transfer of control of goods or services to the customers, where
appropriate, and reliable information is available to the Group to
apply the method. Otherwise, revenue is recognised only to the
extent of the costs incurred until such time that it can reasonably
measure the outcome of the performance obligation.

The following output methods are applied:

- Renewable energy solutions: unit of energy produced

- IT consultancy and technical services: appraisal of
progress achieved

The principal input applied in the input method is:

- IT outsourcing services: usage of staff hours by customer

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component
(i.e. the customer or the Group is provided with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer), in determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised consideration for the effects of the
time value of money. The effect of the significant financing
component is recognised as an interest income or interest
expense separately from revenue from contracts with
customers in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(continued)

Transaction price: significant financing components (continued)
The Group determines the interest rate that is commensurate
with the rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and its customer at contract
inception by reference to, where appropriate, the interest rate
implicit in the contract (i.e. the interest rate that discounts the
cash selling price of the goods or services to the amount paid
in advance or arrears), the prevailing market interest rates, the
Group’s borrowing rates and other relevant creditworthiness
information of the customer of the Group.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for the
effect of the significant financing component if the period of
financing is one year or less.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset,
excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely,
if a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract
is presented as a contract liability when the payment is made
or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is
the Group’s right to consideration that is unconditional or
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts
are not presented on a net basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)
For the Group’s businesses, it is common for the Group to
receive from the customer the whole or some of the contractual
payments before the services are completed or when the goods
are delivered (i.e. the timing of revenue recognition for such
transactions). The Group recognises a contract liability until it
is recognised as revenue. During that period, any significant
financing components, if applicable, will be included in the
contract liability and will be expensed as accrued unless the
interest expense is eligible for capitalisation.

The Group’s billing to its customers which are largely in line with
the timing of revenue recognition and no significant contract
assets are recognised. Contract liabilities in relation to advances
from customers are recognised under “Trade and other
payables”.

Foreign currency translation

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) for the convenience of
the shareholders as the Company is listed in Hong Kong. The
Company’s functional currency is Renminbi (‘RMB”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Foreign currency translation (continued)
The results and financial position of all the group entities that
have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented, are translated at the closing rate at the
end of each reporting period;

o income and expenses for each statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rate;

o all resulting exchange differences arising from the
above translation and exchange differences arising
from a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net
investment in a foreign operation are recognised as a
separate component of equity;

° on the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation and a disposal involving the loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating
to the foreign operation that is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the separate
component of equity is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised;

° on the partial disposal of the Group’s interest in a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation which does
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is re-attributed to the non-controlling
interests in that foreign operation and are not reclassified
to profit or loss; and

° On all other partial disposals, which includes partial
disposal of associates or joint ventures that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence or joint control,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount
of exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is reclassified to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Impairment of other assets, other than goodwill
Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment;

- right-of-use assets;

- intangible assets;

- investment in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of other assets, other than goodwill
(continued)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value-in-use (“VIU”). In assessing VIU,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e., a CGU).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of an asset, or the CGU to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect
of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the CGU (or group of units) and then,
to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or VIU (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss
in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior periods. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the period in which the
reversals are recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of
the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)
Provision for close down, restoration and environmental
costs

One consequence of coal mining is land subsidence caused
by the resettlement of the land at the mining sites. Depending
on the circumstances, the Group may relocate inhabitants from
the mining sites prior to conducting mining activities or the
Group may compensate the inhabitants for losses or damage
from close down and land subsidence after the sites have been
mined. The Group may also be required to make payments for
restoration, rehabilitation or environmental protection of the land
after the sites have been mined.

Close down and restoration costs include the dismantling and
demolition of infrastructure and the removal of residual materials
and remediation of disturbed areas. Close down and restoration
costs are provided in the accounting period when the obligation
arising from the related disturbance occurs, whether this occurs
during mine development or during the production phase,
based on the net present value of estimated future costs. The
cost is capitalised where it gives rise to future benefits, whether
the rehabilitation activity is expected to occur over the life of
the operation or at the time of close down. The capitalised cost
other than that is included in the cost of inventories is amortised
over the life of the operation and the increase in the net present
value of the provision is included in borrowing costs or other
items where appropriate.

Where there is a change in the expected decommissioning
and restoration costs, an adjustment is recorded against the
carrying value of the provision and related assets, and the effect
is then recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on a prospective basis
over the remaining life of the operation except for the portion
included in the cost of inventories. Provisions for close down
and restoration costs do not include any additional obligations
which are expected to arise from future disturbance. The cost
estimates are reviewed and revised at the end of the reporting
period to reflect changes in conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease
at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term
leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated
with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components
from lease components, and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified
components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at
the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
Comprises:

(@  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

(b)  any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d)  anestimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantliing
and removing the underlying asset, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

As lessee (continued)

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the
lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives
of the right-of-use asset (unless the lease transfers ownership of
the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term
or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group
will exercise a purchase option — in which case depreciation is
provided over the estimated useful life of the underlying asset).

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date of
the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following payments for the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

As lessee (continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from a
change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount
rate when there is a change in the residual value guarantee, the
in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or a rate (other than floating
interest rate). In case of a change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in floating interest rates, the Group
remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. If
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero
and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease
liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the
remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if:

(@) the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

(b)  the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Leases (continued)
As lessee (continued)
When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, at the effective date of the lease modification:

(@)

the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate over
the revised lease term.

for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the
lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the
lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full termination of
the lease and recognising any gain or loss relating to the
partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

The Group has applied the practical expedient provided
in Amendments to HKFRS 16: COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions Beyond 30 June 2021, which has been early
adopted by the Group since year ended 31 March 2021, and
does not assess whether eligible rent concessions occurring
as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic are lease
modification. The Group accounts for any change in lease
payments resulting from the rent concession the same way it
would account for the change applying HKFRS 16 if the change
were not a lease modification.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

As lessee (continued)

The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions
occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and only if all of the following conditions are met:

(@ the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

(b) any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

(c) there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

The Group has applied the practical expedient consistently to
all eligible rent concessions with similar characteristics and in
similar circumstances.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme in Hong Kong are recognised as expense
in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group’s entities established in
Hong Kong in an independently administered fund.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “Mainland China”), the employees of
the Group’s entities established in the Mainland China are
required to participate in defined contribution retirement
plans organised by local governments. Contributions to those
plans are expensed as incurred and other than these monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits to its employees.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when it recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results
for the period as adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However,
any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of goodwill; or
other asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and credits can
be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investment in subsidiaries and associates, except where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Related parties
A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(@)

(b)

U
(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the holding company of the Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

U

(i)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each holding company,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)()) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a holding
company of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to holding company of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(@)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s executive
directors for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial period.

Reserve estimates

Reserves are estimates of the amount of products that can
be economically and legally extracted from the Group’s
coal reserves. In order to calculate reserves, estimates and
assumptions are required about a range of geological, technical
and economic factors, including quantities, grades, production
techniques, recovery rates, production costs, transport costs,
commodity demand and commodity prices. Estimating the
quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the size, shape and
depth of ore bodies or fields to be determined by analysing
geological data such as drilling samples. This process may
require complex and difficult geological judgements and
calculations to interpret the data.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Reserve estimates (continued)

Because the economic assumptions used to estimate reserves
change from period to period, and because additional
geological data is generated during the course of operations,
estimates of reserves may change from period to period.
Changes in reported reserves may affect the Group’s financial
results and financial position in a number of ways, including the
following:

(i) asset carrying values may be affected due to changes in
estimated future cash flows.

(i)  depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged to
the profit or loss may change where such charges are
determined by the units of production basis, or where the
useful economic lives of assets change.

(i)  decommissioning, site restoration and environmental
provisions may change where changes in estimated
reserves affect expectations about the timing or cost of
these activities.

(iv)  the carrying value of deferred tax may change as a result
of changes in the asset carrying values as discussed
above.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Carrying values of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, prepayment for acquisition of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets

The Group’s property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, prepayment for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets are carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation, accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses, where appropriate. These
carrying amounts are reviewed for impairment whenever
internal and external sources of information indicate that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment loss
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and VIU. In estimating the recoverable amounts of
assets, various assumptions, including future cash flows to be
associated with the non-current assets and discount rates, are
made. If future events do not correspond to such assumptions,
the recoverable amounts will need to be revised, and this may
have an impact on the Group’s results of operations or financial
position. The impairment assessment of the Group’s mining
right and stripping activity assets included in intangible assets is
further discussed below.

Impairment of mining right and stripping activity assets
The Group assesses each CGU annually to determine whether
any indication of impairment exists, which included internal and
external sources of information for mining right and facts and
circumstances for stripping activity assets. Where an indicator
of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable
amount is made, which is considered to be the higher of the
fair value less costs of disposal and VIU. These assessments
require the use of estimates and assumptions such as long-term
commodity prices, discount rates, future capital requirements,
exploration potential and operating performance. It is difficult
to precisely estimate fair value because quoted market prices
are not readily available. In determining the VIU, expected cash
flows generated by the asset are discounted to their present
value, which require significant judgements and estimates such
as sale volume, selling price and amount of operating costs. The
management has assessed its CGU as being an individual mine
site, which is the lowest level for which cash flows are largely
independent of other assets.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the VIU of the
CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the VIU
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected cash
flows from the CGU and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
Details of the estimates used to calculate the recoverable
amount are given in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Loss allowance for ECL

The management of the Group estimates the loss allowance for
trade receivables and other receivables by using various inputs
and assumptions including risk of a default and expected loss
rate. The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty which
is based on the Group’s historical information, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Where the expectation is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade receivables. Details of the key assumption and
inputs used in estimating ECL are set out in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Fair value measurements and valuation process

The Group’s convertible bond is measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes. The directors of the Company
have to determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of a liability, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1
inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified
valuer to perform the valuation. The directors of the Company
work closely with the qualified external valuer to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurements and valuation process
(continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements provides detailed information
about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions
used in the determination of the fair value of various liabilities.

Changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect
the fair value estimate.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

The directors of the Company determine the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of similar
nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. The management will increase the
depreciation charges where useful lives are less than previously
estimated lives, or it will write off or write down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or
sold.

Write down of inventories

The directors of the Company review the ageing analysis of
inventories at the end of each reporting period, and makes
allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items
identified that are no longer suitable for use in production or
sales. The directors of the Company estimate the net realisable
value for consumables and coals based primarily on the latest
invoice prices and current market conditions. The Group carries
out an inventory review on a item-by-item basis at the end of
each reporting period and makes allowance for obsolete items.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT_—_F=A=+—HILLEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision for close down, restoration and environmental
costs

The provision for close down, restoration and environmental
costs is determined by the directors of the Company based
on their past experience and best estimation of future
expenditures, after taking into account existing relevant in the
Mainland China regulations. However, in so far as the effect
on the land and the environment from current mining activities
becomes apparent in future periods, the estimate of the
associated costs may be subject to revision from time to time.

Recognition of stripping activity assets

The recognition of stripping activity assets is determined by the
directors of the Company based on their past experience and
best estimation of future benefits associated with the stripping
activities incurred. The estimate may be influenced by changes
of actual geological conditions, coal reserves and future
production plan.

Recognition of deferred tax assets

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets which arose
from deductible temporary differences. The realisability of the
deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether it is probable
that future taxable profits or taxable temporary differences will
be available against which the assets can be utilised. In cases
where the actual future taxable profits or taxable temporary
differences generated are less than expected, a reversal of
deferred tax assets may arise, which will be recognised in profit
or loss for the period in which such reversal takes place.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being identified as the chief operating decision
makers (“CODM?”), for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods delivered or services rendered. No operating segments
identified by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments are
as follows:

(1) Coal mining business segment: mining and sales of coals
in the Mainland China;

(2) Renewable energy business segment: service income
from renewable energy solutions in Malaysia; and

(8) IT Services business segment: IT consultancy and
technical services (including sales of IT hardware
products) and IT outsourcing services in Hong Kong,
Malaysia, Singapore and the United Kingdom (the “UK”).

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from (i) coal
mining business; (i) renewable energy business; and (iii) IT
Services business.

Segment results, which are the measures reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance, represent the profit
earned or loss incurred by each segment without allocation of
changes in fair value of contingent consideration receivables
and convertible bond designated as financial liabilities at FVPL
and exchange gain or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT_—_F=A=+—HILLEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment assets include property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, goodwill, prepayments for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment, deferred tax assets, inventories,
trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
All assets are allocated to operating segments other than
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities include convertible bond designated as
financial liabilities at FVPL, trade and other payables, interest-
bearing borrowings, promissory notes, lease liabilities, mining
right payables, tax payables, provision for close down,
restoration and environmental costs and deferred tax liabilities.
All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these
liabilities are managed on a group basis.

In addition, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s place of domicile is Hong Kong, where the central
management and control is located.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. DEER(E)
Segment revenue and results DEBUN IR K AR

The followings are analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

AT RARE R HREREED K

128

by reportable and operating segments:

mREEDT -

Coal Renewable IT
mining energy Services
business business business Unallocated Total
EERER EfRE
RS £% R OB @t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THEL THEL TEL THEL
Year ended 31 March 2022 Bz-2--%
ZR=t-BL%E
Revenue from external customers and R S5ME P 2 Iz K
reportable segment revenue B Ew e 275,463 3,781 20,997 = 300,241
Gross proft A 157,906 1,652 3,038 - 16259
Seling and distrioution expenses & RDHER (1,352) - (24) - (1,376)
Segment results NEEE 156,554 1,652 3,014 - 161,220
Other revenue Hithas 1,085 1 181 38 1,305
Administrative and other operating TR R AMELER
expenses (20,475) (754) (6421) (14434  (42,084)
Finance costs RERK (10,203) - (103) (36) (10,342)
Change In fair value of convertble ~ #F AR ATEFIEL
bond designated as financial EEENEE EREEY
liabiliies at FYPL AR ES D THEEE - - = (11,254) (11,254)
Impairment loss on goodwil HERERE - - (5,814) - (5,814)
Exchange loss, net EREETE - - = (4,001) (4,001)
Profit/(Loss) before tax BB ATER/ (B58) 126,961 899 9,143) (29,777) 88,940
Income tax (expenses)/credit TR /e (22,854) 11 97) - (22,940)
Profit/(Loss) for the year FREF/ (B8 104,107 910 (9,240) (29,777) 66,000
Additional segment information: A EEN -
Amortisation B 11,160 66 - - 11,226
Depreciation e 8,690 1,711 893 1,059 12,353
Additions to property, plant and RNENE  BENERE
equipment 24,915 226 1,202 301 26,644
Additions to intangible assets NEEWEE 20,763 - - - 20,763
Reversal of loss allowance of trade  [EW SR G2 #E
receivables - - (17) - 17)
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4,
Segment revenue and results (continued)

DEER(R)
7 PR K SRAR ()

Coal  Renewable T
mining energy Services
business business business  Unallocated Total
EERR BHBH
BEER 2% BBEE KA Bzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TET TEL TEL
Year ended 31 March 2021 Bz-2--&
ZRZt-BHLEE
Revenue from extemal customers and 7 BN S 2 I K
reportable segment revenue REH B 100,688 1,285 28,548 - 130,521
Gross profit EH 46,775 768 7,064 - 54,607
Seling and distriution expenses ~ $ERDHER (642) - - - (642)
Segment results DEEE 46,133 768 7,064 = 53,965
Other revenue Hibezs 5,876 517 2,236 32 8,061
Administrative and other operating  {TE R MG LB R
expenses (13,048) (660) (5,634) (15,163) (34,505)
Finance costs BARAK (9,136) = (221) (269) (9,626)
Change in fair value of contingent ~ JEMS AR B2 ATFEES
consideration receivables - - - (3,648) (3,648)
Change in fair value of convertible 38T AR ATFESIRT
bond designated as financial TRENREZSREEY
liabilities at FVPL mARESR DT EE = - = (24,857) (24,857)
Impairment loss on goodwil HERESE - - (14,509) - (14,509)
Exchange gain, net ey = = = 7,979 7,979
Profit/(Loss) before tax BRBATRR (58 29,825 625 (11,058) (35,926) (16,534)
Income tax credit FEBiES 14,088 11 21 - 14,326
Profit/(Loss) for the year EREr/ (BE) 44,113 636 (11,031) (35,926) (2,208)
Additional segment information: B EER
Amortisation K 6,621 66 - - 6,687
Depreciation e 7,526 413 1,010 1,163 10,112
Additions to property, plant and PEME - BERZE
equipment 5178 9,874 788 - 15,840
Additions to intangible assets NEEWEE 54,087 - - - 54,087
Charge of loss allowance of trade  JEWEFEIBRE 2 T H
receivables — 6 14 - 20
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

4. DEWER(HE)

Segment assets and liabilities PWBEEREE
The followings are analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities UTAEREFARERLEDTHE
by reportable and operating segments: EREEIN
Coal Renewable IT
mining energy Services
business business business Unallocated Total
AEERER  EARE
REES % RBEK AOE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT THT
As at 31 March 2022 R-E-Z§=A=+-H
Property, plant and equipment ME  BERR 91,986 31,743 1,367 457 125,553
Intangible assets M EE 202,305 1,394 - - 203,699
Goodwil e - 4,229 - - 4,229
Other assets Hin & 244,655 3,843 9,400 24,891 282,789
Total assets BEE 538,946 41,209 10,767 25,348 616,270
Convertible bond designated as ~ #57E AR A FEF R E
financial liabilities at FVPL BRNEEeREEL
akES - - - (182,537)  (182,537)
Mining right payables TR IR (85,421) - - - (85,421)
Other liabilities HitBE (119,100) (526) (2,696) (1,801) (124,129
Total liabilities BafR (204,521) (526) (2,696)  (184,338)  (392,081)
As at 31 March 2021 RZE-_—%=fA=1+—H
Property, plant and equipment ME  BE MR 73,076 33,690 1,058 1,187 109,011
Intangible assets BREE 186,117 1,460 - - 187,577
Goodwil e - 4,229 5,814 - 10,043
Other assets Hin & 197,474 1,642 13,789 40,652 253,557
Total assets BEE 456,667 41,021 20,661 41,839 560,188
Convertible bond designated as 157 AR A B BRI E
financial liabilties at FVPL BRNEE eRaE
akES - - - (171,283)  (171,283)
Promissory notes R EE - - - (2,400) (2,400)
Mining right payables JE R IR (86,423) = = = (86,423)
Other liabilities HEfaE (144,375) (773) (3,393) (1,958) (150,499
Total liabilties BafE (230,798) (773) (3393  (175641)  (410,605)

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
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4, SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. DEER(E)
Geographical information HIEEE R
The following table sets out information about the geographical TREH()AEEKRBINSRE 2 s
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers and RAEEDE - BERKE - B
(i) the Group’s property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, BE EERKEDE  BEEK
goodwill and prepayment for acquisition of property, plant and ZHENZE([EEIETREEE]) IR
equipment (“Specified Non-current Assets”). The geographical UEZER - WHHIBNBIREP A
location of the revenue is presented based on the location of T2 - IBEIERBEEZHIBN
the customers. The geographical location of the Specified Non- BIREEZERMNERY -
current Assets is presented based on the physical location of
the assets.
Location of revenue Wl E
Revenue from external customers KEIIEE P2 Wz

Year ended 31 March
BZ=BA=1+—HILEE

2022 2021
== T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
The Mainland China IR 275,463 100,688
Hong Kong a5 12,754 19,549
Malaysia Bk 4,025 3,101
Singapore g 5,350 4,576
The UK HE 2,649 2,607
300,241 130,521

Location of the Specified Non-current Assets EEEREEENE

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—H
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
The Mainland China A B 299,597 263,295
Hong Kong B8 1,824 13,748
Malaysia BRFEE 37,366 33,690
338,787 310,733
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4, SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. DEER(E)
Information about major customers EREFERFZER
Revenue from external customers contributing 10% or more of (H4BULZE10% S A ERINER R P Ry Uk
the total revenue is as follow: A

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Customer A from coal mining business K BETE %G DI 2 Z A

segment * 29,773
Customer B from coal mining business K BEE%% 9532 5B
segment - 19,124
Customer C from coal mining business B ER%:EHE 2 X FC
segment 45,799 -
Customer D from coal mining business & BEE%% 522 % FD
segment 42,761 *
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or more of the * HEWETEEAEERE_T-_—F
total revenue of the Group during the years ended 31 March 2022 F—ZE-_—FZAZ+—RALEEZK
and 2021. TAATE10% KA £ ©
5. REVENUE 5. W&

2022 2021
—E—= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET

Revenue from contracts with customers 78 81 1837 & 2RI 5E 1558

within HKFRS 15 REEF AR W
Coal mining business RIEETR
— Sales of coals —SEEE R 275,463 100,688
Renewable energy business ATHEARERER
— Service income from renewable — A BARERRIRAZEZ
energy solutions BRASUA 3,781 1,285
IT Services business ERMBREER
— Sales of IT hardware products —HEBHRBEHESR 6,191 5,424
— IT outsourcing services — BFRHR SN AR TS 12,828 18,187
- IT consultancy and technical services — & sl RHL 54 58 K 00 BR 7% 1,978 4,937
20,997 28,548
300,241 130,521
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5. REVENUE (continued) 5 Wi (4E)
In addition to the information shown in segment disclosures, o BRI TSR 2 B RSN - FAR
the revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 is KR EERFEISFRAEZLE L2 U
disaggregated as follows: FHEUAT ARSI
2022 2021
—=E_— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEIT FAT
Timing of revenue recognition: W 5 R RS ET -
- at a point in time -RE—FEE
Sales of coals HE X 275,463 100,688
Sales of IT hardware products SHESARIEEAE S 6,191 5,424
281,654 106,112
- over time —HERFREER
Service income from renewable energy  A] B A GERAR T &2
solutions ARFSUA 3,781 1,285
IT outsourcing services BRI ARFS 12,828 18,187
IT consultancy and technical services & %54 3 & 7 T AR 7% 1,978 4,937
18,587 24,409
300,241 130,521
6. OTHER REVENUE 6.
2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FA&T
Guaranteed profit compensation IR R A FEE - 22
Interest income on bank deposits RITHERZFBWA 901 5,824
Government grants (Remark) BT EBG (fE5) - 2,408
Rent concessions HeER - 20
Others Hth 404 392
1,305 8,661
Remark: During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group received it : BE_T-—FZA=1+—HLF
government grants from the Anti-epidemic Fund set up by the B REEEREERRITHRIK
Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under P EmEES TR 222
a Employment Support Scheme as time-limited financial support Bh o HZEELAE T IREREB MBS
to employers to retain employees who may otherwise be made . I RBEA e R ES -
redundant. The scheme provides two tranches of subsidies to *ffﬂﬁﬂ‘“ﬁﬁ{%ﬂ%@ﬁﬂ%éﬁ@

eligible employers. There are no unfulfilled conditions or other

SEAL o M 4m Sk OE MRSk B sk 4R
contingencies attaching to these grants. FRRG o BEARAIE SRS A Mo A

EIEM AN T2 A, -
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7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 7. BRBIADER(EE)
This is stated at after charging/(crediting): kR (GEA) TF&IEEZ RS
2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
FAET
Finance costs ES={2%N
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings T BEEF| & 3,026 2,185
Interest on mining right payables FE ST R SRIE I £ 7,198 7,103
Interest on promissory notes EHEERN S = 189
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 118 149
10,342 9,626
Staff costs BT
Staff cost (excluding directors’ BIRA(TBEREESEHE
remuneration (Note 11)) (B:E11))
(charged to “cost of services and (BER [EERBLERK
goods sold”, “selling and distribution 48]~ [$HE R HER IR (1T
expenses” and “administrative and B BAO B A P HIER)
other operating expenses”)
Salaries, bonus, allowance and other %4 - #84 « ZEBL G HAth 42 HF
short-term employee benefits BEEEF 35,304 31,756
Contributions to defined contribution  FEEEMHFGRRETEI K
retirement plan 3,650 1,650
38,954 33,406
Other items HitigH
Amortisation of intangible assets BB Y
(charged to “cost of services and (R TEERBER
goods sold”) Bmp AP HR) 11,226 6,687
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEN N 5
— audit services — 2R 1,038 1,038
— other services — H AR 250 510
1,288 1,548
Cost of inventories sold HEFEKAKA 115,632 58,963
Depreciation of property, plant and I EN YN L1
equipment and right-of-use assets FREEENSE
(charged to “cost of services and (BEREERBRERKA]
goods sold” and “administrative and & [{TEURE ML ER JFH
other operating expenses”) k) 12,353 10,112
(Reversal)/Charge of loss allowance of  fEI & E B 2 (#E)
trade receivables, net anpeitl 7 20
Exchange gain on financial BATHEYRIEERNRE
liabilities at FVPL, net TR B EE S FRR (6,068) (11,830)
Other exchange loss, net H & K E51EF 58 10,159 3,851
Expenses recognised payments under %8 HATE &~ s 2 HI B 2
short-term leases 660 1,041
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HE¥% « BE REE 2 E5iE
equipment 26 -
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSES/(CREDIT) 8. FiBHMEX (ER)
2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Income tax expenses/(credit) comprise: FiEBiH% (E&E)BIE
The Mainland China Enterprise Income Tax 2 B A b (> A5
(Note) (P E)
Current year KEE 14,211 -
Over provision in prior year BAFEBERE - (7,599)
Withholding tax TEHI 1,834 -
Hong Kong Profits Tax BAEFIEH 48 151
Malaysia corporate income tax R EMEN = (180)
Singapore corporate income tax b EFREE
(“Singapore CIT”) ([ 2SR 51 =
The UK corporate income tax EEREPTEN 1 -
16,145 (7,628)
Deferred tax (Note 29) EIEFIA(MI3E29)
— Origination and reversal of —ERERENESE
temporary differences N # 0] 6,795 (6,698)
22,940 (14,326)

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group reached an
agreement with relevant tax authority in the Mainland China for a
preferential tax treatment on the deductibility of certain expenses
incurred during the year ended 31 March 2020. Accordingly, a
tax refund was received from the relevant tax authority and was
recognised as income tax credit for the year ended 31 March 2021.

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda and is exempted
from income tax. The Company’s subsidiaries established in the
BVI and Samoa are exempted from income tax of the respective
jurisdictions.

Under the Law of the Mainland China on Enterprise Income Tax
(the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the Mainland China subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Dividends payable by a foreign invested enterprise in the Mainland
China to its foreign investors are subject to 10% withholding tax,
unless any foreign investor’s jurisdiction of incorporation has a
tax treaty with the Mainland China that provides for a different
withholding arrangements.

W #HE-_ T —F=ZA=+—HILEFEE"
NS5 (8 £ AR B A i A AR A R TR A B BE 30
BETAEE-_Z-_ZEF=A=1+—H
IEFEEEARYMERRBEFREN
Wik o BB - ANEEAHBHIERE
R WEREBEE—_T-_—F=A
=+ BLFERREBEHER -

AN B B 5 2 S M B SZ 30 0 EA o
NEHATER o AR BN R B
ENEREGK 2B R BERRH
& RDEEBAEH -

RIFP B EMEEA( EEMF
BOE ) R EMEEA 2 BHEP] - &
M B AR MEFE 2 RER
25% °

R BA 2 SNE R BB R
M10%TEIH - BIFERIBEIREE
AEM AR S 2 A RE R B e B A b A
RITEZBER] AR B RO E RIS -
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8.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES/(CREDIT) (continued)

In March 2018, the two-tiered profits tax rates regime was
signed into law of Hong Kong, under which the first HK$2
million of profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed at 8.25%
(the “graduated tax rate”), and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5% for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
The profits of corporations in the Group not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at
a flat rate of 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Malaysia corporate income tax is calculated at the rate of 24%
of the estimated assessable profits of the Group’s entities
in Malaysia arising from Malaysia during the years ended 31
March 2022 and 2021. During the year ended 31 March 2022,
Malaysia incorporated entities with paid-up capital of Malaysia
Ringgit (“RM”) 2.5 million or less and gross business income
of not more than RM50 million enjoy tax rate of 17% (2021:
18%) on the first RM600,000 (2021: RM600,000) and remaining
balance of the estimated assessable profits at the standard
rate.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised
an over provision of Malaysia corporate income tax in respect of
prior years of approximately HK$180,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Singapore CIT is
calculated at the rate of 17% (2021: 17%) of the estimated
chargeable income of the Group’s entities in Singapore arising
from Singapore with no rebate (2021: no rebate).

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, Singapore
incorporated companies can enjoy 75% tax exemption on
the first Singapore Dollars (“S$”) 10,000 of normal chargeable
income and a further 50% tax exemption on the next
$$190,000 of normal chargeable income.

The Group’s entity established in the UK is subject to the
corporate income tax at a statutory rate of 19% for the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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8.
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSES/(CREDIT) (continued) 8. Fi3BiEX (EK)(HE)
The income tax expenses/(credit) for the year can be reconciled REEMERHRES (ER)HE BT A
to the profit/(loss) before tax as follows: wm A (E518) 2 HERI T -

2022 2021
—E-= T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHT

Profit/(Loss) before tax BEATEF], (E518) 88,940 (16,534)

Notional tax on profit/(loss) before tax, &R IER B R ESHF 2
calculated at the rates applicable to BARETEBRTAT

profit in the countries concerned wmHL (BB 2z
ZERIE 22,147 (2,761)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible  TMEHIF X 7 TS &

for tax purposes 7,942 7,167
Tax effect of income not taxable for HEFHBAZRIEZE

tax purposes (27) (3,531)
Tax effect of graduated tax rate and ZEMENFRWERZ

tax concession MBTE (76) (333)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  REERTIEEIE 2 IS & 522 =
Utilisation of previously unrecognised BB RHERTIBREG B

tax losses (9,458) (4,616)
Over provision for prior year WA SRR = (7,779
Recognition of previously unrecognised R BE RFER L

deferred tax assets RIERIEE E = (1,686)
Withholding tax TEH 1,834 -
Others EHAtb 56 (787)
Income tax expenses/(credit) FRAERAS (Ee)

for the year 22,940 (14,326)

9. DIVIDEND 9. RE

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 RBEZT-__F=A=+—RHILF
March 2022, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end EAMRERNIMEZZRTIRE - @
of the current reporting period (2021: Nil). B 7R ¥R 5 HA SR DA SR R 4 B 5 R A AE ]

EE(ZE=—F : &) -
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10. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 10.
(@) Basic earnings/(loss) per share
The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year is
based on the following data:

BREF,(E8)

(@

SREXER(&E)
AR FRE AEEFRERER
BF,/(B18) ThiRIE T 5 BhiE S

At
= .
Ean

Profit/(Loss) wRL(E8E)

Profit/(Loss) for the purpose of basic ~ FALAETE@IREARZEF]~
earnings/(loss) per share (Profit/(Loss) (518 ) %5, (E18)
for the year attributable to owners (KRAREEAERFA
of the Company) wF (&)

Weighted average number of ZERMNETISE

ordinary shares
Weighted average number of ordinary

R ESRERRT,

shares for the purpose of basic (BB 2 &k
earnings/(loss) per share hnEFI9EK

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A

2022 2021
—E:E=-= T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
66,592 (2,936)
2022 2021
—E:—-= T
Number of Number of
shares shares
R EE E-4E
765,373,584 765,373,584
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10. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (continued) 10. BREF,(FHE) (#)
(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (b) BREERF,(FHE)
The calculation of the diluted earnings/(loss) per share RARER AELFATREE
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year is BF (B18) R T 5 8ugst
based on the following data: R
(i) Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable to owners () AEREEEANEMNLE R
of the Company FIL (1)
2021
—E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable ZxA BB AFEIEFERN
to owners of the Company m A, (E18) 66,592 (2,936)
Change in fair value of convertible — $§& ABIZAFE
bond designated as financial FIBRI IR MR IR 2
liabilities at FVPL TRAEZARERES
> ATES 11,254 24,857
Exchange gain on convertible bond 18§ 7E Az AFEFBRIE
designated as financial liabilities ERRANEE S/
at FVPL BEZAMRERZ
BEE 3 UG 25 (6,068) (11,830)
71,778 10,091
(i)  Weighted average number of ordinary shares (il ZIE IR IIEE %
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Number of Number of
shares shares
BB B & EE
Weighted average number of R EERER
ordinary shares for the purpose &R,/ (EiE)z
of basic earnings/(loss) per share 3 PR N S 1 8 765,373,584 765,373,584
Effect of conversion of convertible ¥k ES 2 2
bond 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000
Weighted average number of FRAGTE GiEE
ordinary shares for the purpose EBF(E8)z
of diluted earnings/(loss) per share I 3@A% HNAE F 159 Ex 1,765,373,584 1,765,373,584
For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company’s BHE-_Z - —F= A
outstanding convertible bond had an anti-dilutive =+—HIEFE ' ARF
effect to the basic loss per share calculation, the ZARITETRRESHE
conversion of the above potential dilutive shares BREABEZAEERER
is not assumed in the computation of diluted loss ey ® Mt BEERE
per share. Therefore, the basic and diluted loss per SEE R R RS L8
share for the year ended 31 March 2021 were the EEgERODzERH -
same. I BEZZ=-_—F=A

=t+—HIFEzEBRE
AR ESEEMER o
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11. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF 1. FREESEIREBESHA
DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID T2 & ¥
INDIVIDUALS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) ES=FHN
The aggregate amounts of remuneration received and ARaEFB UM EW -
receivable by the directors of the Company are as follows: FEIAT

Other emoluments

0k

Salaries,
allowance
and other Retirement
short-term benefits

employee scheme
benefits Bonus  contributions
e EER
Rt EHER
ik EEEN %e i B 2
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR TER AR AR TER

For the year ended HE-Z-CF
31 March 2022 ZB=t-HLEE
Executive directors: HTES:
Wang Xiangfei (Note &) THR (M) - 842 - - 842
Kwan Man Fai BUE - 1,568 275 11 1,854
Wong Sze Wai T4 - 1,294 225 18 1,537
Li Chun Fung (Note b) FEE (o) - 398 128 7 533
Alternate director: BRER:
Wang Xiaoyao (alterate to FIRBEREAR)
Wang Xiangfei) (Note ¢) (MizEc) = - - - -

Independent non-executive B FHTEE:
directors:

Wong Man Hin, Raymond BEXE 336 = - - 336
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey RRiEsE 336 = = - 336
Pak Wai Keung, Martin S 336 - - - 336

1,008 4,102 628 36 5,774
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11. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF 1. FREESEIREBZBESHA
DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID T2 ER (&)
INDIVIDUALS (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (@) EEFHM(E)
Other emoluments
Hivke
Selaries,
allowance
and other Retirement
short-term benefits
employes scheme
Fees bengfits Bonus  contributions Total
He 2R
EiE RINEF
ik EERA e HE 58 B

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL THT ThT Th ThT

For the year ended 31 March 2021 EZ-T-—%

ZR=+-BLt%E
Executive directors: BIES:
Wang Xiangfei TR - 1,352 - - 1,352
Kwan Man Fai e - 1,650 - 2 1,652
Wong Sze Wai T - 1,334 - 18 1,352
Alternate director: ERESF
Wang Xiaoyao (atterate to TIBERIAR)
Wang Xiangfei) (Note ¢) i) = - - - -
Independent non-executive BuFnngs:
directors:
Wong Man Hin, Raymond BXE 336 - - - 336
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey FRizie 336 - - - 336
Pak Wai Keung, Martin SHEE 336 - - - 336
1,008 4,336 - 20 5,364
Notes: BT
(@  On 17 September 2021, Wang Xiangfei was resigned as an @ RZE-_—FAA+tAFE
executive director of the Company. AREBEARREMITES ©
()  On 17 September 2021, Li Chun Fung was appointed as an ) R-—-ZTE-—_—FHLA++R =
executive director of the Company. EREZTARNRRTES -
() On 17 March 2020, Wang Xiaoyao was appointed as (©) R-ZE-_FEF=A++AH" ' £
an alternative director (alternate to Wang Xiangfei) of the NREZTAEARRZERE
Company until 16 September 2021. F(BRIAW) HEEZZ
——FhA+~BAL-
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11. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2021: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments
of the remaining three (2021: two) highest paid individuals
were as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt

FREEEIAIRIERESHFA
T2 ER(E)

(b)

Salaries, bonus, allowances and other ¥4 - #&4% -« 28 L HEHM
short-term employee benefits EHEEER

Contributions to defined contribution — EZBHtZGRRETEI itk
retirement plan

The emoluments of the three (2021: two) highest paid
non-directors fall in the following bands:

EE&RSHAL
RAKBRERSHALT - ™
#H(ZF——F: ZR)RART
B HMe#RN EX - #T=
2 ZE—F MBIZSHFA
TZMEmT

2022 2021
—E=-= T

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAET

2,989 1,669
163 36
3,152 1,705

Nil - HK$ 1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007% 7T
HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 TE
1,500,000/ 7T

No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to
the directors of the Company or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office during
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. There
was no arrangement under which a director or the five
highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021.
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ZR(ZE—F  MB)EaH
FBEEZBEN T N EBNSEE

Number of individuals

AE
2021
B —F
1 1
2 1
3 2

REE-_ TR -_ZT-—F
ZAZ+—BHIEMEAEE - &
SRV ERRNAREERARR
BFALTIASENME - SAE
BESMAREESNMNMBEARSE
lﬁZﬁ@ RERFEE 2 BER
BE REBEE-_Z_—_FK-%
:—Efﬂf+ B 1E /&
B BECNEHEEESI LR
BEA T RES BB REE M
B2 2k ©
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11. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(©)

(d)

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour
of directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour
of the directors of the Company that were entered into
or subsisted during the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

After consideration, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s
business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company, or connected entity
of the directors of the Company, had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year ended 31 March 2022 or at any time during the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

1. ARESEINRIBREFA
T2 ERA)

(c)

(d)

LEEASRAZER &
BERREMRSH
BE_ZT - —FR-T-—F=
A=+—HItMEFE - #&E:]
VHRTFEARRREEASTEHA
ZER - EEFSEMZS -

EERRG - ZHREHH
2B KER
KARESLEREBRE  RE
2 -_—F=ZA=+—H1t
FERFBE_Z_—_FER=F
Z—F=Z A=+ —HIMEFE
AEERE - SEFERAAR
RAREERIS - MARRE
ERANRESHEERER
SEENERREEAES B
ARS - BHREA -
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% - MERRE
Fumiture,
Leasehold equipment
Right-of-  land and Leasehold ~ Plantand  andmotor  Construction-
useassets  buildings  improvements  machinery vehicles in-progress Total
RELHR BER &R ZBR

fEREEE L 5 i i hE ERIE e
HK§'000  HK$000 HK§'000  HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK§'000  HK$'000
T TEL TR T TEL ThEL T

(Note 28)

(Wizro8)
Cost B
Asat 1 April 2020 A\-S-ZFNA-A 4,672 32,873 293 66,791 7,069 19,950 130,648
Exchange realignment EiEE 32 2,624 26 5183 1,207 816 9,888
Addtions HE 1,098 1,196 - 1,469 1,108 10,969 15,840
Transfers &z - 705 - 28,653 - (29,358) =
Disposals e = = = (33 233) = (266)
As at 31 March 2021 R-E--F=F=1-H 5802 37,398 319 101,063 9,151 2317 156,110
Asat 1 April 2021 R=B--FmA-A 5,802 37,398 319 101,063 9,151 2311 156,110
Exchange realignment 5 A% 40 1,390 31 1,891 214 187 3,753
Addtions HE 1,404 385 - 1,985 618 22,252 26,644
Transfers [t - 9,201 - 1,952 - (11,243) -
Disposals e (189 (1,650) - (803 - - )
Written off s 4,107) - - - - - (4,107)
As at 31 March 2022 R-E--%#=fA=t-H 2,951 46,814 350 106,088 9,983 13,573 179,759
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT_—_F=A=+—HILLEE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% - MENRRE(E)
(continued)

Fumiture,
Leasehold equipment
Right-of-  land and Leasehold  Plantand  andmotor ~ Construction-
useassets  buildings  improvements  machinery vehicles in-progress Total

BEHR EER B RER
fErEaE g7 i L nE ERIR i
HKF000  HK$'000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS'00 HKS000  HK$'000
TR TAL TR AL ThT TR AL

(Note 28)

(Kizro8)
Accumulated depreciation ~ BHTEREESSE

and impairment losses

Asat 1 April 2020 R=Z-2FMA-A 1,677 8,365 54 18,899 4797 - 33,792
Exchange realignment 3 5 696 10 1719 1,031 - 3461
Charge for the year ERTH 2,043 1437 59 5979 54 - 10,112
Eiminated on disposals LR = = = (33 (233 - (266)
As at 31 March 2021 RZE--%=A=1-H 3,725 10,498 123 26,564 6,189 - 47,099
Asat 1 April 2021 R=T-—4MmA-A 3,725 10,498 123 26,564 6,189 - 47,099
Exchange realignment AR 12 369 ) 963 138 - 1,476
Charge for the year Efxit 2,162 1,641 59 7,684 807 - 1238
Eiminated on disposals HERHH (188 (1,650 - (177) - - (2615)
Witten off s (4,107) - - - - - (4,107)
As at 31 March 2022 W-E--#=f=t+-A 1,604 10,858 176 34,434 7,134 - 54,206
Net carrying amount BHFE
As at 31 March 2022 W-B--£=f=t+-H 1,347 35,956 174 71,654 2,849 13,573 125,553
As at 31 March 2021 A\E--F=f=1-H 2077 26,900 196 74,499 2962 2317 109,011

Annual Report 2021/22 4% 145



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT_—_F=A=+—HILLEE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% - BMERRE (&)

(continued)

The above property, plant and equipment, except for BRIEZTIIEI - Ll - BE KK

construction-in-progress, are depreciated on a straight-line BB 8551 T8 0] 6 B FE 2 sk & &

basis at the following useful lives or rates per annum: SHEITE

Right-of-use assets Shorter of useful lives ranging FREEE R AFEN T2
from 2 years to 5 years or FESFHMEE
over unexpired term of lease B EAEF B 2 TR

&

Leasehold land and buildings  Over the shorter of the term of HAE+ & A EFHE30FE 2
leases or 30 years BF BEYSES

Leasehold improvements 20% HERE 20%

Plant and machinery 4% 10 25% BB KRR 4%E25%

Furniture, equipment and 10% to 25% R~ RAEKR 10%E25%

motor vehicles it

The Group’s leasehold land is under original lease term of 48 REB  HETMBERAEAHE

years. The leasehold land and buildings were situated in the B A48F - HE L MIEFHM R F

Mainland China. A o

No impairment loss was recognised during the years ended 31 He_ZE_—_FKr_ZT-_—F=HA

March 2022 and 2021. =t+—HIFE - SEERREESE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT_—_F=A=+—HILLEE

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13. BLEE

Renewable
Stripping energy
Mining activity service
right assets contract Total
HEEE  TELRR
PRk §E REEH i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHET FET THT
(Notes i & ii) (Note i) (Note iii)
(P& i) (B sE1) (P i)
Cost D%
As at 1 April 2020 RZZ-ZFMA—H 207,636 = 1,618 209,254
Exchange realignment B 5 16,231 1,581 - 17,812
Additions NE S 54,037 - 54,037
As at 31 March 2021 RZZE-_—F=A=+—H 223,867 55,618 1,618 281,103
As at 1 April 2021 RZE-—FWA—H 223,867 55,618 1,618 281,103
Exchange realignment ME o F5E 7,867 2,150 = 10,017
Additions NE - 20,763 - 20,763
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZB-Z=F=H=+-—H 231,734 78,531 1,618 311,883
Accumulated amortisation it RAESE
and impairment losses
As at 1 April 2020 R-Z-ZFMA—H 80,276 - 92 80,368
Exchange realignment B Ji %8 6,423 48 = 6,471
Charge for the year FAZH 4,993 1,628 66 6,687
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZE-—F=A=+—H 91,692 1,676 158 93,526
As at 1 April 2021 R-Z-—FmMA—H 91,692 1,676 158 93,526
Exchange realignment [E N A= 3,346 86 - 3,432
Charge for the year FATH 8,250 2,910 66 11,226
As at 31 March 2022 RZBZZF=H=+—H 103,288 4,672 224 108,184
Net carrying amount BREFE
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZBE-—F=ZA=+-—H 128,446 73,859 1,394 203,699
As at 31 March 2021 RZE-_—F=A=1+—H 132,175 53,942 1,460 187,577
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

13.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Note:

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s mining right with net carrying amount of
approximately HK$128,446,000 (2021: approximately HK$132,175,000)
was pledged to secure bank facilities granted to the Group (Note 23).

(i

Mining right and stripping activity assets

The directors of the Company conducted impairment
review of the mining right and stripping activity
assets at the end of each reporting period or when
impairment indicator exists. In such connection, the
Company engaged ValQuest Advisory Hong Kong
Limited (“ValQuest”), an independent professional
valuer, to assess the VIU of CGU of the coal mines
related non-current assets, including property, plant
and equipment, mining right, stripping activity assets
and prepayments for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment of the individual mine site, of the coal mining
business of the Group (the “Coal Mining Assets”) for the
purpose of impairment testing as at 31 March 2022 and
2021.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021,
with reference to valuations conducted by ValQuest
using discounted cash flow method, the directors of
the Company expected that the VIU of the Coal Mining
Assets is higher than its carrying amount by approximately
HK$32,865,000 (2021: approximately HK$23,773,000)
and thus concluded that no impairment loss was
recognised during the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021.

The directors of the Company had also considered
the following factors and concluded that no reversal of
impairment loss was required for the years ended 31
March 2022 and 2021:

(@ the impairment loss recognised in previous years
was related to the Coal Mining Assets of Kaiyuan
Mine (as defined in Note (i) below) before the
completion of Optimization and Upgrading Plan (as
defined in Note (ii) below);
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13.

BEE(E)
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R-ZEBE-_—_F=ZA=+—8 ' A&£EZEKFF
BREE{E47128,446,0008 (T =—F :
#9132,175,00078 7T ) Y BRIE#E A EER X T A<
EERITEE (FI3E23) ©

i)

RIEERHENEEEE
R & RS B 4 R ek 1 3R R (E B
S ARREZTHEEER
HEEE BB EETRERET - B
e RZE—FR-T-—F
ZA=+—H KRR EES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(i

Mining right and stripping activity assets (continued)

(b)  the assessment of the VIU of Coal Mining Assets
as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 was mainly
represented by the VIU of Coal Mining Assets
of Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine (as defined in Note (i)
below); and

(c) thereis no comparability for the VIU of Coal Mining
Assets as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 with the
impairment loss recognised in previous years.

In light of the current mining right which is expiring
in August 2049 as disclosed below, the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that, based on past
experience and current laws and regulations in the
Mainland China, the Group is eligible to further renew
the mining right without incurring significant incremental
cost, given the Group continues to comply with the
requirements as required by the relevant local authorities
in the Mainland China. In this connection, when assessing
the VIU of the Coal Mining Assets, the directors of the
Company adopted a cash flow forecast which covers
beyond the expiry date, representing the remaining
periods of the mine until the expected coal reserves of the
mine is fully utilised.

Having considered the sensitivity analysis about the
possible outcomes for any mining activities after August
2049 and the likelihood of successful renewal of the
mining right with reference to a legal opinion issued by
the lawyer in the Mainland China, the directors of the
Company considered the risk exposed to the renewal of
mining right after August 2049 may not have significant
impact on the VIU of the Coal Mining Assets.

13.

BREE (&)
() HEERFEEDEEE)

b) RZBE-_—FR-_ZT—-—
FZA=1T—HYHERE
EFfRAEENTHEER
KERYRER(EERT
SCHTEEG)) IR B E R 5 A
BE: &

© RZEBEZZFRZZT=——
FZA=+—HBHHEESE
EfAEEEBTFER
REVREEBN AT L o

B TXHERR-_THAFN
AJEim R REE - ARRE
ERR REEAELRETER
IR EEDI R BB - ARARK
B —E AR B R I
BERMRY - HEBERAITE
REBEIRBER AT E— T ER
R - Eit - FHARIBEEZ
EREER  ARAREERAT
—EREERARR(EERSE
B RS R ORISR B L RIER
REE) RS RERALR -

ZRBEB_TOAFEN\AREM
RIS BERR 2 BRED
1 LA T 2 R Fh B ) AR AR B R Y
ERERMBRINEEREEN
AREME  ARREFAR B
B_TIONF N\ R RRBEES R
MR ARGERIEEE 2 ERE
BEBKERTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(i

Mining right and stripping activity assets (continued)
In assessing the VIU of the CGUSs, the future cash flows
of the coal mining business are discounted to the related
present values using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current assessment of the time value of money and the
risks specific to such business. Parameters used in the
projected cash flows included but were not limited to
selling prices and sales volumes of coal, production cost
and other expenses, capital expenditure, production
plan and discount rate, respectively, which reflected
the current conditions of the market and the Group and
estimated trend in the future. In particular, the Group may
revise the annual production plan and the expected sales
volumes of coal adopted in the cash flows projection with
reference to the latest government policies announced
from time to time.

When evaluating the appropriate discount rate for each
of the CGUs, the Capital Asset Pricing Model (“CAPM”)
had been used. Under CAPM, the appropriate expected
rate of return was the sum of the risk-free return and the
equity risk premium required by investors to compensate
for the market risk assumed. In addition, the expected
rate of return of the CGUs was expected to be affected
by other firm specific risk factors that are independent of
the general market. The cost of equity was determined by
the risk-free rate, market return and estimated beta of the
CGUs and firm specific risk factors. Therefore, the Group
may update the inputs of discount rate and other valuation
parameters with reference to the latest market information
and the firm’s specific risk factors based on the most
recent available evidences from the relevant appropriate
sources, e.g. the competent person’s report on mine
reserve.

Key assumptions used for cash flow projections to
undertake impairment assessment of the Coal Mining
Assets are as follows:

13.

BREE(E)

(i

Growth in revenue s K
Budgeted gross profit margin BiEEF|=
Long-term growth rate REjER K
Discount rate (pre-tax) BEIR =R (FAT)

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A

FRIRER HERBEE ()
RIHEREELBEU 2 ERER
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B HERAREMAS - BX
FS ~ HERTEIRBEIRE - LH
2 AREREERTE QM
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BIRHE ©

RIS SRS ELEN ZERRE
Bl CRAEAEEE(E
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BRI BEBHIHAINZ Hh
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It AEEA2REHTISER
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HitfhESH -

Ao PR & E B RE R B RYER
emEEAMENEZ/REWN
™

As at As at

31 March 31 March
2022 2021
R-E=-= NZE_—%F
EV-ERS:l —A=1+—H
2.16% 3.00%
46.91% 47.72%
3.00% 3.00%
12.97% 13.72%




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-Z-_—f=A=+—-ALEFE

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 13.

() Mining right and stripping activity assets (continued)
Details of the Group’s mining right at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

Mining right Location
R b B

BREE (&)
() HEERFEEDEEE)

BRAARREN RS R 2 RiEE
EACTUEN

Expiry date
JEw B 2

Kaiyuan Open Pit Coal Mine  Inside Zhundong Meitian Xiheishan Coal Mining Mining right expired

(the “Kaiyuan Mine”) and Area in Xinjiang
the Enlarged Kaiyuan

Mine (as defined in

Note ii below)

URBEAERE([SURERE]) FEEREDARLEKERSR
REBERIREBE(EER
T B EED)

(ii) Optimization and Upgrading Plan

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Xinjiang Land
Department informed the Group that pursuant to the
instructions of the National Development and Reform
Commission of the Mainland China, the Xinjiang Land
Department is planning a management restructuring of
different coal mines in the Xiheishan Mining Area (the
“Optimization and Upgrading Plan”), where the Group’s
Kaiyuan Mine and Zexu Open Pit Coal Mine (the “Zexu
Mine”) are situated.

On 14 March 2012, a proposal (the “Proposal”) was
issued by the People’s Government of Mulei Kazak
Autonomous County, where the Group’s Kaiyuan Mine
is located, to the Administrative Bureau of Coal Industry
of Changji Prefecture (the “Changji Administrative
Bureau”). According to the Proposal, which is part of the
Optimization and Upgrading Plan, the mining area of the
Kaiyuan Mine, where the Group is now conducting mining
activities, is proposed to be increased to 4.12 square
kilometers, with the estimated additional coal resources
of approximately 131.18 million tonnes. In the Proposal, it
is also stated that the production capacity of the Kaiyuan
Mine will increase from 0.9 million tonnes per year to 3
million tonnes per year.

(i)

in August 2049
with existing
mining permit until
11 October 2031
(renewable)
BN — T hE
NAEm - mRE
PRUEFT P76 B A HR
E-T=—F+A
+—BALE
(ATEH)

BILARFR
HE_Z——F=ZA=+—H8H1t
FE - FEETERENS A
£B8 - BEFEAEKRERMN
WELZEEZIER  HEHRLE
REEE AR RILEER AT R KR
EHEBEEBE([BEARA
=) AEEZIRERERER
BB (=B ) A %R
EA -

N-ZTB——F=A+HA K&
B RETEFTE 2 REIRIER B
ABRARBMFRESEMERTH
EER(EETEERBEYES
([&EZ]) - REABLEARFR
—EHn2iER  AEBIEETH
HEB 2 R FAREER
HIBEA2FE R AR - (HEHEESN
EEERAA13118E B - B
BT - PIRRSLRENE 2 E R
MEFOIHBNNEFFIEE
M o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(ii)

Optimization and Upgrading Plan (continued)
The Group received a letter dated 13 June 2012 issued
by the Changji Administrative Bureau (the “13 June
Letter”) informing the updated status of the Management
Restructuring Plan (as defined in the announcement of
the Company dated 11 November 2011). According to
the 13 June Letter, the following proposals in relation to
the Group’s Kaiyuan Mine and Zexu Mine (the “Updated
Proposals”) have been submitted to the working group
head office for coal industry structural upgrade work of
Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region for consideration and
approval:

- the Group’s Kaiyuan Mine will be restructured and
upgraded, and the exploration rights in the Zexu
Mine granted to the Group will be terminated; and

S the mining area of the Kaiyuan Mine, where
the Group is now conducting mining activities,
is proposed to be increased from 1.1596
square kilometers to 4.12 square kilometers,
with the estimated additional coal resources of
approximately 131.18 million tonnes.

Pursuant to the terms of the transfer agreement
(the “Transfer Agreement”) on 2 December 2019
entered into between the Xinjiang Land Department and

£ZRHERBREMEAFR (Mulei County Kai Yuan
Coal Company Limited*, “Kaiyuan Company”) in respect
of the new mining right with an enlarged mining area for
a term of 30 years from August 2019 to August 2049
(the “Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine”), Xinjiang Land Department
agreed to sell and Kaiyuan Company agreed to purchase,
the mining permit in respect of the Enlarged Kaiyuan
Mine, at an aggregate consideration of approximately
RMB160,978,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$177,221,000), which shall be settled in cash and
paid by Kaiyuan Company to Xinjiang Land Department
in fifteen instalments over a period of 15 years. As part
of the Transfer Agreement, Kaiyuan Company is also
required to pay an additional supplemental resources
fee of approximately RMB76,503,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$85,688,000) to Xinjiang Land
Department within 30 days from signing of the Transfer
Agreement for the accumulated unpaid output of 19.8
million tonnes of coal of Kaiyuan Mine up to 30 April 2019.
The amount was fully settled and recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 March 2020.

* English translation for identification purpose only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Optimization and Upgrading Plan (continued)

On 6 December 2019, the Transfer Agreement was duly
executed by Xinjiang Land Department and Kaiyuan
Company.

According to the Transfer Agreement, the estimated coal
reserves of the Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine are 41.6433 million
tonnes for the mining life of 30 years as at the date of
acquisition.

Renewable energy service contract

The renewable energy service contract relates to the
Renewable Energy CGU (as defined in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements) and represented a
legally binding service agreement entered into between
NEFIN Technologies (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. (“NEFIN
Technologies”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of NEFIN
Leasing Technologies Limited (“NEFIN Leasing”) (together
referred to as “NEFIN Group”), and its customer, which
was acquired as part of the Group’s acquisition of NEFIN
Group during the year ended 31 March 2019 and was
initially recognised at its fair value at acquisition date
with reference to a professional valuation conducted
by ValQuest using discounted cash flow method. The
remaining useful life of the renewable energy service
contract as at acquisition date is determined by the Group
to be 25 years.

The renewable energy service contract is tested for
impairment at least annually and has been included in the
Renewable Energy CGU for impairment assessment of
goodwill.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the directors of the
Company estimated that the recoverable amount of
renewable energy service contract exceed its carrying
amount and thus concluded that no impairment loss was
recognised during the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021.

13.

BEE(E)

(ii)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT_—_F=A=+—HILLEE

14. GOODWILL 14, BHE
Coal Mining Renewable IT Services
CGU  Energy CGU CGU Total
BERE  UBERR  EANEER
BEER BEELER BEELER b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx TAT Thx THT
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))

(Hf3Ea)) (FiEE (o)) (Fi&E(c)

Cost KA
Asat 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, A\ZZ-TENA-B-
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 —E--%#=R=1-H-
“Z--FMA-AR
“E-"FE=fB=t-A 37,469 4,229 24,148 65,846

Accumulated impairment losses 2 RERR
As at 1 April 2020 W=E-Z£NA—-H 37,469 - 3,831 41,300
Impairment loss on goodwil BEREEE - - 14,503 14,503
As at 31 March 2021 WZE-—F=A=1—H 37,469 - 18,334 55,803
As at 1 April 2021 N_E-—4MA-H 37,469 - 18,334 55,803
Impairment loss on goodwil HENEEER - - 5814 5814
As at 31 March 2022 R-B--—£=HA=1+-A 37,469 - 24,148 61,617
Net carrying amount REFE
As at 31 March 2022 R-B--—f¥=fA=1-A - 4,229 - 4,229
As at 31 March 2021 WZE-_-%=Zf=+-A = 4,229 5,814 10,043
14(a) Coal Mining CGU 14(a) RIBESELEN

The goodwill arising on acquisition of &1 & 8 2/B R & HE-Z——F=A=+—H1E

AR EEAA (Qitai County Zexu Trading Company FE WESEHEEEREEAR

Limited*, “Zexu Company”) and Kaiyuan Company was EERAREBRRAR ] RIEA

fully impaired during the year ended 31 March 2011, RIEEMNECELBERE -

*

English translation for identification purpose only.
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14. GOODWILL (continued)
14(b) Renewable Energy CGU

14. BHE(E)
14(b) AT BAERERIREEEEN

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of 90% equity
interests in NEFIN Leasing and its subsidiary on 8 October
2018 with CGU engaged in renewable energy solutions
and solar farm development (the “Renewable Energy
cGuU).

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the directors of
the Company assessed the recoverable amount of
the Renewable Energy CGU with reference to VIU
calculations using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets and forecasts covering a five-year period
and extrapolation of cash flows beyond such period
conducted by ValQuest.

Key assumptions used for cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of the goodwill allocated to
Renewable Energy CGU are as follows:

Growth in revenue year-on-year hFHREIRFREER

during the five-year period

Budgeted gross profit margin BIZER=
Perpetual growth rate KB R R
Discount rate (pre-tax) BLIR = (FLAT)

RZF—N\E+ANB - KEEH
BEIRAE & K HLF 8 2 R190% i #E
BRI ERM A BLIRERTT
RREKGRe B BURAEEBNR
SELBM([ATHERRESE
B DELRE -

RoE-——ER-_F-—F=H
=+—H  AREEELREH
RemeBAFERNEREERT
ERBARRREeEABMAA
WEEEE - MR mETEARE
BB TEE kA FHATER KA E
TEE 2 BB EFE 2 HEERS

Bl ey
MEFTHE -

ROMER BERRREELS
R BETREARmED
REneBAMAZz EEREN
™

As at As at

31 March 31 March
2022 2021
HR=-EBE—-— W—E-—4F
EV-ERS:l —A=1t—H

1.36% - 1.69% 1.34% —1.45%

45.18% 48.12%
3.00% 3.00%
5.40% 5.85%
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
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14. GOODWILL (continued)

14(b)

14(c)

Renewable Energy CGU (continued)

The directors of the Company determined the growth
rates based on past performance and the expectation
of market development. The discount rate used is pre-
tax and reflects specific risks relating to the Renewable
Energy CGU.

As at 31 March 2022, the recoverable amount of the
Renewable Energy CGU is higher than its carrying amount
by approximately HK$22,940,000 (2021: approximately
HK$9,669,000). Accordingly, there was no impairment on
the goodwill during the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
they are not aware of any material change in the key
assumptions in determining the recoverable amount of the
CGU as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

IT Services CGU

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of 80.86% equity
interests in Harbour Group Holdings Limited (“Harbour
Group Holdings”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to
as “Harbour Group”) on 23 April 2019 with CGU engaged
in IT Services (the “IT Services CGU”).

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the directors of the
Company assessed the recoverable amount of the IT
Services CGU with reference to VIU calculations using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets and
forecasts covering a five-year period and extrapolation of
cash flows beyond such period conducted by ValQuest.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A

14, EHE(E)
140) T BERERREELEE(N

(%)
AAREFRBERBRTHH
RIEHETERE - FIARKIRE
RBAT - RS R A B AR
ReELBEmARER -

R-ZE-_—_F=A=+—8 "7
BARRRESEEEMAAIED
=N HERT{E 422,940,000
BT (ZZE = —F : 49,669,000
BT Bl - BEZT=-—

M-E-—FZR=+—HItF

B EEHERIE °
ARAEERA RER_-F

T oFERIE—F=ZA=F—
HABHRAMNBARETHSE
FENAMEEE EEHR
BT EREE o

BRI REREEEEN
RZE—NFUA=-+=8" K
BEEIERAERAT (BB
B REWB AR (5 EEE
B 1)80.86% M iEER K EEA
B REHIRcEESM([EM
RIS RGIRSEESEMN ) EER
1,

R-EB-—ER-_FT-—F=A
—+—H8 ' ARREZZRFEA
REMEBAGTENFEREET
HEMBERBRCEEENKN
AkE£5E - MIReRETEAR
BIBTEE kA FHATER R
EITEH 2 BB R F% 2 HEIR
EREFTE °
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Key assumptions used for cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of the goodwill allocated to
IT Services CGU are as follows:

Growth in revenue TEEE 7 IREWES
year-on-year during the e
five-year period
Budgeted gross profit margin BiEEF| =
Perpetual growth rate KB R R
Discount rate (pre-tax) BRIRE (FLAT)

The directors of the Company determined the growth
rates based on past performance and the expectation of
market development. The discount rate used is pre-tax
and reflects specific risks relating to the IT Services CGU.

As at 31 March 2022, in light of keen competition from
the IT Services sector and the subsistence of COVID-19
in Hong Kong and worldwide, which are expected to
have a negative impact on the revenue and growth
rate of the IT Services CGU, the recoverable amount of
the IT Services CGU of approximately HK$7,898,000
(2021: approximately HK$18,772,000) fell below its then
carrying amount. Accordingly, the goodwill allocated
to the IT Services CGU was impaired by approximately
HK$5,814,000 (2021: approximately HK$14,503,000)
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

14. GOODWILL (continued) 14. HE(E)
14(c) IT Services CGU (continued) 14(c) ERRIBERBREEELEEN
(ME)

BAREEMBIRBREEE
BAREEEITRERNHMIED
REeERETERTA 2 EE /KRN
™

As at As at

31 March 31 March
2022 2021
F-%:: RIT_—F
=A=t+—H

13.56% 1.80%
23.00% 26.00%
2.00% 2.00%
14.04% 13.99%

ARABREFRBERRLMHE
REMBERERER - AAREIRE
RATAT - RS K B AR AR
BREELBMNHERRR

RZE-_—_F=A=+—H &
REEH D B AR 55 52U A
K COVID-19% 5N & B R 21K
BHIFE - B HEMBER
BReEFBENNRERIER
RELGHEFE  HEMBER
BReEEBEMMNAIKE &
497,898,000 L (—ZFE=—F :
18,772,000 L) BREE R 2
BREE - Bl - 2T -—F
=A=1+t—"BILFE  HEZE
MBI ERERESELEBEMNRT
EREY) 55,814,000 L (==
——%F : 4914,503,000/&7C) °
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14. GOODWILL (continued) 14. BE(E)
14(d) Sensitivity of key assumptions 14(d) FEBZRNHRE
The management identified the following key assumptions EIREHAIATEIERE  BF
in which a material change on an individual basis would EREH X EHREKEBEW
cause any or additional impairment loss. HEEINBEEE ©
Material changes that individually cause additional BBEN A RS EEINRE S
impairment loss on the identifiable assets: BHEKREE) :

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

Increase of Increase of

impairment impairment

WS N SREIE N

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEIT FAT
IT Services CGU ERERERE Change

EEEN 28

Growth rate in revenue a5k & & Decrease 1% 9,386 8,901
BD1%

Budgeted gross profit BRERNE Decrease 1% 2,642 3,007
margin A%

Perpetual growth rate KB R R Decrease 1% 248 380
WA1%

Discount rate JEpizped Increase 1% 390 800
E M %

15. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION RECEIVABLES  15. FEWERANRE

2022 2021
s —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET

Reconciliation of carrying amount AREEYER

At the beginning of the reporting period 7 & B47) = 6,186
Transfer to guaranteed profit s A IR & M E IR

compensation receivables (Note 18(b))  (Hf#E18(b)) - (2,538)
Change in fair value recognised in profit R 1E2HER A T EEE)

or loss = (3,648)
At the end of the reporting period RIREEIR - =
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15. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION RECEIVABLES  15. FEWERRICE (@)

(continued)

As part of the acquisition consideration upon the completion of
the acquisition of Harbour Group, the vendor of Harbour Group
(the “Vendor of Harbour Group”) has agreed to guarantee to the
Group that the audited consolidated net profit generated from
operating activities of Harbour Group in its ordinary and usual
course of business (i.e. the net profit after tax of Harbour Group
as to be shown in the audited accounts of Harbour Group),
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
for the relevant financial period by the auditors appointed by
the Group (the “Net Profit”) for each of the financial years ended
31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 (each such 12-month
period is referred to as a “PG 12-Month Period”) shall be no
less than HK$7,200,000 per annum (the “Guaranteed Profit”). In
the event that the Net Profit during the PG-12 Month Period is
less than the Guaranteed Profit, the Vendor of Harbour Group
unconditionally and irrevocably undertakes and guarantees, as
a continuing obligation, to pay such shortfall multiplying the ratio
(1.13) (the “Shortfall Amount”) presented as below:

Shortfall Amount = 1.13 x (Guaranteed Profit — Net Profit)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the profit
guarantee is for the exchange of control for the Harbour
Group and therefore considered as contingent consideration
receivables and measured at fair value. Subsequent changes to
the fair value of the contingent consideration receivables shall be
recognised in the profit or loss.

EATRREESEE 2 WEREZ
—Hn BEEEZEA([BEEE
ERDRERAEBRRE HE-Z
—NF - ZFE-NFRZZF_ZFF
T+ A=+ AL BRFESF(Z
+-EABEEA EFMRE+T ZEA
B ]) - AASBER AR
A REREE S St AT A
M2 BEBMEREENRR 2B GE
ER—BEASEFARFLETED
ELENEERZEAAA (TR - BE
BEBKERREERZYZESER
FrEi g 4L F)) #1584 7,200,000
BIL(MRFBRF]) o WRFRE+=
BASENARNDRREEFR - B8
EEE S B RN B E R
RE - EBBERT  HBEINTX
FTRIAE B B & BE 3k LA LE R 1,135
BB zeB(TESE]) -

NREF=1.13 x ((REFE M - #H)

AREWEERR  BMHNRENENA
KB RENZEGE - AHEER
M RARE » WARFEFE - &
RS AR B A FEEL RIS
KRB ER -
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15. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION RECEIVABLES 15, FEUWSRAKE (E)

160

(continued)

The initial valuation of the contingent consideration receivables
is valued by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited (“Peak Vision”) in
accordance with HKFRS 13 and is mainly based on the latest
audited financial information of Harbour Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 and Harbour Group’s financial
performance forecasts for the years ended 31 December 2019
and 2020 prepared by the management of the Harbour Group.
Accordingly, the fair value of the contingent consideration
receivables was estimated to be approximately HK$5,364,000
as at the acquisition date (i.e. 23 April 2019). Monte Carlo
Simulation Method is used for the valuation of contingent
consideration receivables which is commonly-adopted in the
market. It was first introduced to finance in 1964 by David
B. Hertz through his Harvard Business Review article, and in
1977, Prelim Boyle pioneered the use of simulation in derivative
valuation in his seminal Journal of Financial Economics paper.

The value of contingent consideration receivables is derived
from the cash flow compensation as a result of the possibility
of failure to meet the Guaranteed Profit by Harbour Group.
As such, Peak Vision adopted the Monte Carlo Simulation
Method, which is a path dependent model to consider the
probability weighted distribution of the possible outcomes
and factors the volatility of these outcomes. The Monte Carlo
Simulation Method is one of the most commonly adopted
valuation methodologies to value contingent receivable or profit
guarantee.

The Vendor of Harbour Group shall pay to the Group the
Shortfall Amount by way of cash and/or setting off the same
amount from the amount owed by the Group under the
Promissory Notes (as defined in Note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements) after the audited financial statements are
issued by the auditors of Harbour Group for the relevant PG-12
Month Period.

In the event that the Net Profit for the PG-12 Month Period
exceeds the Guaranteed Profit, such excess amount shall
not be carried forward to meet the Guaranteed Profit for the
subsequent period.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A

EW S AREBZ VLS EBE T HREFT
HBERAR(RE D IBRIBEESTHR
HREAFIIRETMHE - EHEDE
EREBSEEHZ_T—/\F+=
A=+—HILFE 2 &I IRz
BERRBEEBEEEMRRELEE
SEEBE_ZT-NFRZZFF
+ A=+ HLFEZHBERIAE
AER - At - RIKIBERE(BIZF
—NWEFEMA-+=H)  BIRSARE
2 AFEAE 495,364,000/ 7T © U
SAREBZHENFERATSLERA
2SR REERYE - %5 AMADavid B.
Hertz i — JL7S O FFE E R R i 5
=¥+ Y(Harvard Business Review) 2%
M EFRE XS AFBED BN
—N++%  Prelim Boyle'E £ (%
Bh 4% 7% 2258 55 ) (Journal of Financial
Economics ) 25K FY 8I ¥ 5m XLA R e 7t
PTHET AGEFRERE -

EURHARBZEBEDENESEE
AREARERFREFRMNMEELZRE
MEMESE - At - RERARE
REBHE - HA—RBERERCHE
BER - UEEA ARV IR
D BERRRZEEROIBE -
B RERRZEZARERZGEELZ
=+ AR A FE UL S A SRR 50 FU AR
EZfBE -

R BB 2RED T AR R &S MR E
TEAHR EEXM B RKRIEL
BEEEESEEBRER HAR
KENEARB(ERLLGEMBEER
ffFE27) A TR e BIENERESRL
TAAREES N TREH

fie a8 AR FE + — (& A B 2 AL AR B
FRERAN  ABBSEITETIAGEE
PAEBCE 1R BAR 2 (REBR A
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-Z-_—f=A=+—-ALEFE

15. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION RECEIVABLES

(continued)

According to the audited financial statements of Harbour Group
for the year ended 31 December 2020 issued on 31 March
2021, the Net Profit of Harbour Group was approximately
HK$4,954,000 and was lower than the Guaranteed Profit
by approximately HK$2,246,000. The Shortfall Amount
calculated based on the above formula equals to approximately
HK$2,538,000 and the Shortfall Amount was transferred
to guaranteed profit compensation receivables during the
year ended 31 March 2021 and it was settled by (i) cash of
approximately HK$138,000; and (ii) setting off from Promissory
Note 3 (as defined in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements with principle amount of HK$2,400,000) during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

Upon the issuance of the audited financial statements of
Harbour Group for the year ended 31 December 2020, the
obligation of the Vendor of Harbour Group in respect of the
profit guarantee under the sale and purchase agreement was
fulfilled. Accordingly, the remaining balance of contingent
consideration receivables amounted to approximately

15.

PR =R RAAE ()

*ETE/%/!%.EA—v—*E A
—t—HAB s BE_T_TF =
A=+—HALLFEZEEZMBR
% &GS B 2 M F 4 /4,954,000

R FMRFE R F4)2,246,00078 7T ©
wgtﬂt N BEZTREHAOA
2,538,000/ 7T + Mz TR EBENRE
B E-_—FZA=Zt+—HILtFEE
ERBRBEFFENRE  TREE
T FZ A=+ HIEFEARL)
#9138,000/8 L& + K(i)E &K EE
I(TEERLAYTHIREM 27 - e
%A /52,400,000/8 7T ) IS E T -

TEBESEBEE T _TF+_A
T —HIEFELEERMBRE
% BEEBEBEHFEEREERRE
THEFIRZBET - Ft - FEURKA
RABAE##)/53,648,0008 7 @ WHNE
EE-—F=ZA=+—HIEFEZ

HK$3,648,000 was recognised in the profit or loss as change Bt ERABERIARENAFEE
in fair value of contingent consideration receivables for the year B o
ended 31 March 2021.
16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. RMIB AT Z2’RE
2022 2021
== T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Unlisted shares, at cost JEETIRG - TAAS = =
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non JE U Bt B Igﬁﬁﬁﬁ BB R

interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

*

Represent amount less than HK$1,000.

//\75/\5(2:5115 R

* 81,0008 T2 £ ©
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 16. RMBARIZRE (&)
Details of the subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31 March ARNBRN B —_FR_FE-_—F=
2022 and 2021 are as follows: A=1+—HBEE2HBARESHT
Place of
incorporation/
Class of shares registration and Issued shares and  Percentage of equity attributable
Name of subsidiary held/paid up capital operation paid up capital to the Company Principal activities
FERGEN/  ERRL/ BRTRHOK
WEARZR Bakx AMREEH Baks  ANAREREASL  IERK

2021

—Eo-E
%
Directly held:
EBRE:
Lasting Power Investments Limited Ordinary share The BVI United States Dollars 100 100 Investment holding
HEREERAR Lk ABRIES (US|t RERR
1Z7(%E7))
Indirectly held:
BEEE
Star Fortune International Investment ~ Ordinary share The BVI US$100 100 100 Investment holding
Company Limited (“Star Fortune”) £k ABRAHE 100%7T RARR
ENERERREBRAT
([ENE&))
Ming Kei Kai Yuan Investment Company - Ordinary share Hong Kong HK$60,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Limited EBR B 60,000,007 KSR
REARRERRAT
Kaiyuan Company (Note ) Paid up capital The Mainland China RMB31,000,000 100 100 Coal mining and sales
SRR () THRE hEIR (2021: RMB30,000,000) RRABRHE
AR31,000,0007
(ZF=—%:
AR#30,000,0007c)
Zexu Company (Note i) Paid up capital The Mainland China RMB2,000,000 - 100 Notefi
R (HE) EaRA EIA ARE2,000,0007C Wi
Radiant Day Holdings Limited Ordinary share Samoa US$1 100 100 Investment holding
BRARERAT Lk EER E REHR
NEFIN Leasing Ordinary share Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 90 90 Investment holding
ARAE LRk Bk 1,000,007 RARR
NEFIN Technologies Ordinary share Malaysia RM1,000,000 90 90 Renewable energy solutions
NEFIN Technologies Lk Sy il 1,000,0005% BEE A E S
Ample Talent Ventures Limited Ordinary share Samoa USS$t 100 100 Investment holding
("Ample Talent') LEk BED 17 &

HEARERAR(TREER )
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 16. RHE QR Z2RE (&)
Place of
incorporation/
Class of shares registration and Issued shares and  Percentage of equity attributable
Name of subsidiary held/paid up capital operation paid up capital to the Company Principal activities
FsROER,/  2RRL/ ERIRAR
WEARZR Efhx EMREEHE Efkx ARREERERAL  TEER

Indirectly held (continued):

BiEsE ()

Harbour Group Holdings Ordinary share Hong Kong HK$2,018,800 80.86 80.86 Provision of IT Services

EBIER Lk Bk 20188007 BRI

Mountain Managed Cloud Consulting  Ordinary share Hong Kong HK$10,000 80.86 80.86  Provision of IT Services

Limited (*Mountain Managed Cloud’) Z3E#% B4 10,0007 RIEEFRBRE

BEEEBRERAT(KESR))

Vanguard Business Services Limited ~ Ordinary share Hong Kong HK$10,000 80.86 80.86  Provision of IT Services

("Vaguard Business) Lak &5 10,0007 REEARERE
TERERBERAN([EEER))
Harbour Group (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. ~ Ordinary share Singapore S§1 80.86 80.86 Provision of IT Services
("Harbour Group Singapare’) LRk gk 1T RIEETRBIRE
Harbour Group (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.
([Harbour Group Singapore J)
Harbour Group Gonsulting (UK Limited ~ Ordinary share The UK Great Britain Pound 80.86 80.86 Provision of IT Services
("Harbour Group Consulting’) LRk #E 100 RIEEFRBIRE
Harbour Group Consulting (UK) Limited 10058
([Harbour Group Consulting])
HGH Technology Scin. Bhd. Ordinary share Malaysia RM350,000 80.86 80.86 Provision of IT Services
"HGH Technology) LAk SRER 350,0005 REEHBBIRE
HGH Technology Sdn. Bhd.
(THGH Technology )

Notes: MisE

0] Registered under the laws of the Mainland China as wholly-foreign- i) BREFBRAMEEFMAIGBE D
owned enterprise. o

(ii) Registered under the laws of the Mainland China as domestic (i BEPEAMEEZMARARE -
enterprise.

(i) ~ Zexu Company had filed an application for deregistration to the local (i) RBARERZZEZ—F+ZAMitA
authority in December 2021, and the deregistration was completed HEARXIUHEMESE TER -
on 18 February 2022. ZZFZ AT N\BEKEUHEM -

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding A RS B R 4 3R B sk R 45 HA R A fa]

as at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the R BENBARES T2 37T

reporting period. ZETEES o
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-Z-_—f=A=+—-ALEFE

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Financial information of subsidiaries with individually
material non-controlling interests (“NCI”)

The following table shows the information relating to the non-
wholly owned subsidiary, Harbour Group, that has material
NCI. The summarised financial information represents amounts
before inter-company eliminations since acquisition.

16.

R E R E 2 RE (&)
AEREAERNEAFERER ([
ERER ) 2 HMBARMBEY
TRBFI B BRI TR 2 3
2EMBARBSEEEMZERN -
BE 35 & KL 8051 U B8 14 2 R RO SH
FIESE G

Proportion of NCI's
ownership interests

IR R R 2 PR B R ARG L

Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Carrying amount of NCI

FRBEE
MBEE
mBAE
FRBaE

BEFE

IR R < AR E B

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A

Harbour Harbour
Group Group
2022 2021
BEEE BEEE
—B—C- —ET-—F
19.14% 19.14%
2022 2021
—E-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHx BT
1,414 1,105
9,400 13,788
(2,057) (2,788)
(686) (525)
8,071 11,580
1,544 2,216
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Financial information of subsidiaries with individually
material non-controlling interests (“NCI”) (continued)

16. RIB QB 2RE (&)
BEAEAERERFZRER ([ 3F
ERER ) 2MEQRZMHER

(%)

2022 2021
—=E—= —ET—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Revenue for the year FRU R 20,997 28,548
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR(ER),/ BT (3,335) 3,472
Total comprehensive (loss)/income  FRAZME(EE), WEE5E
for the year (3,509) 3,512
Total comprehensive (loss)/income IR TFRNEE
for the year attributable to NCI (B518) Wa=1esE (672) 672
Net cash flows (used in)/from: BeRBFHAR) ELS -
Operating activities KR TS (4,165) 8,481
Investing activities WEER (96) (788)
Financing activities L& TS (1,652) (2,216)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no dividend (2021: Nil)
was paid to NCI.

BE-—Z-_—4#=ZR=+—-H1L%
B mRERRESEARE(—E
——F fE) o
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17. INVENTORIES 17. 78
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FiBT
Consumables HE @ 340 328
Coals R 2,328 22,937
IT hardware products BRI E R 262 =
2,930 23,265
No inventories were written down for the years ended 31 March WHENEE ST —FR T - —F
2022 and 2021. ZA=T—BIEFEHRREE -
18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. EWERKHEMEKRFIE
2022 2021
—E-—= —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=S FET FET
Trade receivables from FEWE=HER
third parties 18(a) 4,770 4,713
Prepayments, deposits and other ~ J{F/IE « 124 & EHAb
receivables FEI T8 5,926 5,386
Other taxes receivables HoAh e Y Fi 18 543 339
Guaranteed profit FEUS AR % 1) 47 (B RIR
compensation receivables 18(b) - 2,560
Prepayments for acquisition of WM BEREZEZ
property, plant and equipment TERTHIR 5,306 4,102

16,545 17,100
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Analysed by:

FRBEE
mBEE

Non-current assets
Current assets

All of the trade and other receivables that are classified as
current assets are expected to be recovered or recognised as
expense within one year.

18(a) Trade receivables from third parties
The Group’s sales to coal customers are largely done on
payment in advance basis. For certain well-established
customers, the Group allows an average credit period of
90 days.

The Group grants credit period up to 60 days from
the date of issuance of invoice to its customers from
renewable energy business segment and IT Services
business segment.

Included in the balances are the trade receivables from
contracts with customers within HKFRS 15:

18. EWER K HMEWKRFIE(E)
o=

2022 2021

—E-= T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TFET

5,306 4,102

11,239 12,998

16,545 17,100

BN RARDEEZRKRERIE
i F& W R IR TR B — S Y UL B S HERR.
BRI

18(a) EWE=FEMK
AEERARKREF 2 HEKED
WA FOREEEL - BLE T
BRIFZEPME - AEEAFF
ZFHEERROX -

AEBERTHAUBEERESS
HEREMREREES D BEEP
ZIEEE R AR &
%60K °

EHRABIED BV SRS LELE
wﬂwxa%ﬁm
=

M2 ERE

At the beginning of the reporting AR HRAT
period

At the end of the reporting period

For the year ended 31 March 2022, a reversal of loss
allowance of approximately HK$17,000 (2021: charge
of loss allowance of approximately HK$20,000) is
recognised for the trade receivables from contracts with
customers within HKFRS 15.

2022 2021
—E— T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
4,713 8,663
4,770 4,713

BE_T_-_—_F=A=1+—H1t
FE CREBMIBHREENE
155N ERFANZ EBRER
R ERHER T 417,000/ T
—E-—F BEBREILY
20,0008 7T) °
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 18. EWE R K H bW R IE (&)

18(a) Trade receivables from third parties (continued) 18(a) FEWEE=F E (1E)
Ageing analysis FREZ 2 HT
At the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of the RS R RE - BIRER
trade receivables (presented based on the invoice date), (RBHZHEAZ5]) R0k E a5
net of loss allowance, was as follows: iR Z BRI ITIAT -

2022 2021
== —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Within 30 days 30K 1,793 975
31 - 60 days 31REB0K 1,245 1,437
61 - 90 days 61 KZE90K 733 1,328
Over 90 days 90K A F 1,053 1,044
4,824 4,784
Less: Loss allowance W R EE (54) (71)
4,770 4,713
Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks BEASEER EERR & IE
and loss allowance for trade and other receivables W& TR % i JE UK R TE 2 S 1E 1
is included in Note 31 to the consolidated financial B2 BB R GA SRR M T
statements. 31
18(b) Guaranteed profit compensation receivables 18(b) FEUWIRF A E IR
2022 2021
== T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FHBT
Vendor of NEFIN Group e REEES = 22
Vendor of Harbour Group (Note 15) /85 EE 75 (HizF15) - 2,638
- 2,560
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19. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

20.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks (the “Banks”) in the Mainland
China (the “Derecognised Bills”), to certain of its suppliers
in order to settle the trade payables due to these suppliers
with a total carrying amount in aggregate of approximately
HK$11,926,000 (2021: approximately HK$5,589,000). The
Derecognised Bills will mature in one to six months after the
end of the reporting period. In accordance with the Law of
Negotiable Instruments in the Mainland China, the holders of
the Derecognised Bills have a right of recourse against the
Group if the Banks default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards relating to
the Derecognised Bills, because it is remote for the Banks to
default the payment. Therefore, it derecognised the full carrying
amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the associated trade
payables. The maximum exposure to loss arising from the
Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and
the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Derecognised
Bills equal to their carrying amounts.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group
has not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of the
Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses were recognised from
the Continuing Involvement, during the year or cumulatively.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group amounting to
approximately HK$260,753,000 (2021: approximately
HK$204,079,000) comprised bank balances and cash held by
the Group and short-term deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less. The bank balances and bank deposits
carried interest at market rates ranging from 0.01% to 0.30%
(2021: 0.01% to 1.68%) per annum.

19.

20.

HESREE

RZE-_—_F=A=+—8 " &&
EnHEeTHESESHIRAM
BIT(TRTHEMZE TRKRER
(TR IEEREE ) ETHEE - WUE
NENZSHERFRAREA LA
#911,926,0008 L (ZE = —F : 4
5,589,000/8 70 ) < BT E K o #X IEFE
REEBRREDHEEREBE—Z @
BEIE - RIFFEAMEEL - MR
TR AR - AR R ZERFF A
HASBHBERE(IBEESE
£])c ARBIEERE  ARIBTT
R 22 AT AR - AN EE D
EEERRIIEREZREZBRI SR
SRR - Bt - EERIEFERKIE
BEREEMABEMSERZZ2E8EA
B NEBEMASZEKIEEREER S
BEESETURBRZSRIEER
ERAMBESREMERKIBRZ
BARE - HERZEZEZRERE -

BE_ZE-_—_Fk_F=-—F=H4
—t+t—BIFE  AEBEWENEE
BINERERE AR TR EE
B WEERRABEESEAZTF
[Eok RET N E A -

BHERBE€EEEHR
AEEZHEERBESEEEEY
260,753,000 L (Z T = —F : 4
204,079,000/ 7T) * BIEAEEFE
ZIRTTHEBRNIRE UNREEAE A=
BAKARNZ EEFR - RITEH R
RITFEZIRN FT0.01%E0.30%( —F
T—F  0.01%E1.68%) 2 TG EF
b S

Bank balances RITEEER

Short term deposits with an original ~ RE|HIH A=E A s AR
maturity of three months or less RETFR

Cash on hand FHEES

Cash and cash equivalents RekAeEEEE

2022 2021
—E=-= T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
240,143 173,022
20,286 30,749
324 308
260,753 204,079
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)
Included in cash and cash equivalents are the following
amounts denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate:

20.

ReRBEEFEEE (&)
RekReHFEREBBETIIARE
BEREEBIAIN EEHEZ A

HK$ BT
uss$ ETT

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had balances amounted to
approximately RMB187,658,000, equivalent to approximately
HK$230,574,000 (2021: approximately RMB131,535,000,
equivalent to approximately HK$156,130,000), that were
placed with banks in the Mainland China. Remittance of funds
out of the Mainland China is subject to the exchange controls
imposed by the Mainland China government.

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
At the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade
payables (presented based on the invoice date) is as follows:

21.

2022 2021
s —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
26,295 38,091

6 1

R-T-_—_F=A=+—H K&
EEFERTBEARNMETZEROA
A R ¥ 187,658,000 7t ( 8 & 1 4
230,574,000 L) (ZE=Z—F + 4
A R # 131,535,000 7C © HE R4
156,130,000/ 7T ) © [ {1 AR B Ay 35
N2 E&BIZPRABBFTETZ I
FEE B ATRER -

B &R HA B RKR
RIRE R RES - BN ERRER
B2 2RI DA :

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

Note HK$’000 HK$'000

M FExT FHIT

Within 90 days CFNA 5,914 11,583

91 — 180 days 91 RKE180k 2,779 7,888

181 — 365 days 181K E365K 6,337 14,355

Over 1 year HBiB1F 3,119 6,712

Trade payables FERTE 18,149 40,538

Contract liabilities BHaE 21(a) 6,414 1,328

Government levies payable FENBREE

— Economic development fees in — R B R 4

coal resources areas BRE 28,964 28,505

- Others —Hfh 497 481

Accrued expenses JEFTE A 3,224 2,632

Other taxes payable H{th FE R T8 9,217 3,956

Payables for construction-in-progress 15 T 12 F& {7 28 - 175

Other payables H e FIE 3,979 3,456

70,444 81,071
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21.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

All of the trade and other payables that are classified as current
liabilities are expected to be settled on demand or within one
year.

The average credit period of purchases of goods is up to 180
days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit
timeframe.

21(a) Contract liabilities
The movements (excluding those arising from increases
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of
contract liabilities from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 during the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021 are as follows:

1. BNERREAENSRE(E)

BRI REARDEEZERNEREE
fll A FRTRRET IR B RN — F R4

=
/B °

REmm FHEERRZ180K ° K
SEEHEMBRAREEBR - R
P N SIRENEE IR AFE -

21 EHERE
HE_Z-_—_FR-_FT-_—F=
A=1+—HIEFE BEMHER
EEBIEISRBEFANEENE
HaEEH(TRERTELD
IR S B E) ) A -

2022 2021
—E=-= T
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHT

At the beginning of the reporting R R4 H3 %)

period
Receipts in advance il ELEN
Recognised as revenue R AR E

At the end of the reporting period PRk HIR

The Group applies the practical expedient and does
not disclose information about remaining performance
obligations that have original expected durations of one
year or less.

The significant increase in contract liabilities was mainly
due to the significant receipts from the customers in
advance for purchase of coal resources, which is the
normal practice of coal mining business to make sales in
advance basis.

1,328 2,023
6,414 1,328
(1,328) (2,023)
6,414 1,328

AEBRATTRESE - Wi
BEEBRSRTEREN S
— RPN AT EOREZE
k-

BRRBEEAENEZ AR
B % B & P IE S AR B K
B L ARIERB AR RIEE
BIEHHEZER
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22. MINING RIGHT PAYABLES 22. E{IRERERE

172

Current mED
Non-current FERED

Pursuant to the terms of the Transfer Agreement relating to
purchase of Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine for a term of 30 years from
August 2019 to August 2049 as set out in Note 13(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements, the consideration totaling
approximately RMB160,978,000, which shall be settled in cash
and paid by Kaiyuan Company to Xinjiang Land Department in
fifteen instalments over a period of 15 years:

(i) the first instalment in an amount of approximately
RMB32,200,000 shall be paid within 30 days upon
signing of the Transfer Agreement;

(i)  the second to fourteenth instalments in an amount of
approximately RMB9,200,000 each shall be paid before
20 November of every year from 2020 to 2032; and

(i) ~ the last instalment in an amount of approximately
RMB9,178,000 shall be paid before 20 November 2033.

The amounts due are unsecured and interest-free. The carrying
amount is determined based on the present value of the future
cash flows stated in Transfer Agreement discounted using the
effective interest rate of 8.47% per annum with reference to
valuation report issued by ValQuest.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
4,410 3,901
81,011 82,522
85,421 86,423

RIBAR & B 75 3R 3R M 5113 Fr 8 B 8
BECBERIRERE, D2 (F 5
HZZ-AFNABEZTONAEN
AIERE= 1) 2G5 - RIEBFED
AAR160,978,0007T  BFHEIVEA
ARTRAEFEHAS T HERFER
TERERSEN

() HF—EL£BEHARE32,200,000
TR EE L EHEEIORAE
i

i) FZE+HHSHHARE
9,200,000 TR —_E_FF=E
—E=_FHEEsF+—AZ=T
BRI &

(i) HE—HIEBHAREQ178,000
TR -_E==F+—A=+H
ATSZ A o

IR AEERLRE - REEHE
SLERPETHRLZHERS - ERX
EAERFREB47% I 2 HE
BHARREREZREETE °
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23. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 23. ;tEEE

Current portion RENI D
Interest-bearing borrowings, secured  zHEfEE - HIiKHF

The interest-bearing borrowings with a clause in their terms that
give the banks an overriding right to demand for repayment
without notice at their sole discretion are classified as current
liabilities even though the directors of the Company do not
expect that the bank would exercise their right to demand
repayment.

As at 31 March 2022, the interest-bearing borrowings are
secured by:

(i) mining right with carrying amount of approximately
HK$128,446,000 (2021: approximately HK$132,175,000)
as set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements;

(i)  unlimited personal guarantee given by a director of a
subsidiary; and/or

(i) limited government guarantee under SME Loan
Guarantee Scheme.

The interest-bearing borrowings are repayable from within one
year to five years (2021: two years to five years) since their
inception. The average effective interest rates on the interest-
bearing borrowings were ranging from 3.9% - 9.7% (2021:
5.1% — 9.1%) per annum. All the interest-bearing borrowings
are denominated in HK$ and RMB (2021: HK$ and RMB).

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
37,254 60,636

KR B T SRIT R KA A 2R TE
BRBMESERZABEETDDA
R/RBEE  BEARREFHEHR
TR TSI TEEIE R AER -

RZE__F=A=+—H KRFA
ERTASENRSHREE

() BAREMSRERM T13ARERE
%) /128,446,000 JT 2 R IEHE
(ZZT=——%F : 49132,175,000/%
7o)

iy —FENBRRESRHLTZERE
MNRE B

(i) PPN EEEERESITZER
HUFRRE ©

STEEEARERME—FERFRE
B(ZZZ—F WMFEERF) - 518
BEZFHERFHNENT39%E
07%(ZFE=Z—F : 51%E9.1%) °
FTEst BIEEYUBTRARE(ZZ
——F  BIRARE)E -
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24. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 24, BARf#E
(@ Movements in components of equity (a) FREZHDEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REE RS ET D 2 F
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated TRFEREHBREREN G E R
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes FE R - AR RRFRER =
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s oz BEFEHIBEENNNT ¢
individual components of equity during the year are set
out below:
The Company Vi NN
Exchange
Share  translation  Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve surplus losses Total

RyaE  EXRE  BABR  RHER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin T TAL AL AL
(Note i) (Note iv) (Note vi)
i) (PizEv) (B Evi)

Asat 1 April 2020 W-Z-ZEMA-B 191,534 746 18013 (271,397) 55,456
Loss for the year FRER - - - (48,502) 48,502)
Total other comprehensive income:  Eft 2 EREALE :
Item that will not be reclassified TEEH I EZ R

to profit or loss EH

Exchange differences on translation of ~ BEALFBKRES
the Company’s financial statements B vyd 382

to presentation currency - 9,118 - - 9,118
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ FR2ERBLE - 9,118 - (48,502) (39,384)
As at 31 March 2021 R=B--£=A=1-A 191,534 16,364 128,013 (819,839) 16,072
As at 1 April 2021 R-E-—%mA—H 191,534 16,364 128,013 (319,839) 16,072
Loss for the year FRER - - - (28,568) (28,568)
Total other comprehensive income: ~ Eft 2 HREALE :

Item that will not be reclassified TEeENIEZEm
to profit or loss EH

Exchange differences on translation of ~ BEALFBKRES
the Company’s financial statements EiEs EAER

to presentation currency - 2,912 - - 2,912
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEREE - 2,912 - (28,568) (25,656)
As at 31 March 2022 W-B--E=B=1-R 191,534 19276 128013 (348,407) (9,584)
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24. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
Movements in components of equity (continued)

@

Notes:

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium
The application of share premium is governed by Section 40 of
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve arose from the acquisition of the additional
equity interest of subsidiaries in prior years. It represents the
difference between the carrying amount of the net assets of
the subsidiaries attributable to the additional interest at the
dates of acquisition and the fair value of consideration paid by
the Group.

Statutory reserves

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the Mainland China regulations, all of the
Group’s subsidiaries in the Mainland China are required to
transfer part of their profit after tax to the statutory surplus
reserve, which are non-distributable, before profit distributions
are made. The amounts of the transfers are subject to the
approval of the boards of directors of these companies in
accordance with their articles of association.

Specific reserve for maintenance and production funds
Pursuant to the relevant Mainland China regulations, the
Group is required to transfer maintenance and production
funds at fixed rates based on relevant bases to a specific
reserve account. The maintenance and production funds
can be utilised when expenses or capital expenditures on
production maintenance and safety measures are incurred.
The amount of maintenance and production funds utilised
would be transferred from the specific reserve account to
retained earnings.

Exchange translation reserve

Exchange translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of functional currency
to presentation currency. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

24, BAKf#E(E)
R BE) (F)

(@

e

@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

BADEE
BABROKEEASBERE
—NN—FRREFL0GEE -

IRA

BARERNBEFEREH
BAREINEHE - ZFEHER
U B B B AR O b 2 B 2%
ENBRARNAEFEREE
HAKREANREATFEZR
ZER -

EERE

ETE BB
RIEHRBERMER - AEE P
BETBENLZ HEARAR
2 R ) B D 0 B B AR i
NMEBRE AT RKREE - %H
BETADIRZ FHE - BEE
BAKARSERRAZEEER
IREAMERAMALE -

HEREEESZ ERFE
REFEABERER - A&
I8 7 122 T8 A B 5 A DA [ 3 b 3K
BREGREEESEZHIEM
B -BEREEASEE
EAE#AGRRZE2RBZRAX
FEAAXKEE - CBHAM
BREEES K HERFBR
BESREAN -

BE S iR
ERREeEEREDEEE S
2HNNEBBEE 2 RIMNEE
B ZRERESEMBHRER
HisroprEl & st IR AR IR
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24. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

@

(b)

24, BAKf#E(E)

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.
All ordinary shares rank equally with regards to the
Company’s residual assets.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A

Movements in components of equity (continued) (a) REREBHEE(E)
Notes: (continued) iR« (88)
(v)  Special reserve (v) 4SRIREE
The amount in special reserve represents the difference BREESBERAERE—FK
between the consideration paid for acquiring a further 49% BENEH49%BREZ AR
equity interest in Star Fortune and the decrease in the carrying BEENESE F—FIEERE
amount of the non-controlling interests of Star Fortune in a wAREERRER . Z5 -
previous year.
(vi)  Contributed surplus (vi) BARER
The contributed surplus of the Company represents the KRB ZBABBRIEARA B
difference between the nominal value of the Company’s R AR B EITRMD M
shares issued in exchange for the issued shares of the BOIZARRRNEE &
companies being acquired and the value of net assets of the Fri R AR RAZEEE
underlying companies acquired at the time of the Group’s —NWNAFAEBELTHETE
reorganisation in preparation for its listing in 1995. Under the HFE 2 EEFEZEZRE - BE
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the Company may make BRE-AN—FEQEE K
distributions to its members out of the contributed surplus in ANRAIEETEBRLATEHEAR
certain circumstances. R ERRIEH DK ©
Authorised and issued share capital (b) FEERBBITHRA
Number of
ordinary shares
of HK$0.10 each Amount
EREE0.10/8 T
ZEBREE X
HK$'000
FAT
Authorised: ARE
Balance as at 1 April 2020, RZZE-_FTFWA—A
31 March 2021 and —E-—%F=H
31 March 2022 =t—HER=B==F
=A=+—R2z#&H% 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
Balance as at 1 April 2020, R-ZE-_ZFTFMA—H
31 March 2021, and —E-—%F=HA
31 March 2022 =t—BR=2==
ZA=t—BHZ&H 765,373,584 76,537

BBREE A RER TR EIK
2B WAITRARBGHELF
B BRAR—RZ2ERN - EYE
BREDBARR ZRBREET
mHFERFHE
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24. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, and to generate sufficient profit to
maintain growth and provide a satisfactory return to its
shareholders.

The directors of the Company actively and regularly
review and manage its capital structure to maintain a
balance between the higher shareholders’ returns that
might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure
in light of changes in economic condition. In view of this,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividend or the issue of new debt. No
changes were made in the objectives or policies during
the year.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis
of a debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, total debt
represented interest-bearing borrowings, mining
right payables, promissory notes, lease liabilities and
convertible bond designated as financial liabilities at FVPL.
Equity comprises all components of equity.

24, BAKf#E(E)

(c)

EXEE
AEEEREAZBERRENR
BAEERMEERBERFERLE
EAEZE - LRREUR 57 A
MR R - WAEBRRREUAE
ol

RARMEEERTE R R EE
HEARRE  NERSBRE®R
BT ARz RS EEKF
BRRSHE B AHR I 5 2 2 4 B B AR
(&2 S - WRER B
MBI CHERNEBIELRAE - F
R AREREBIKTE
SBITHEG FTOEERENE
B RERLEY B RHBERIE
HEMEE -

AEENERARLERIERER
HEARBZERE - BULTE -
REENGERE -« B REE
A AARE - HERENE
ERBAFEIRTERRAE
BromBEIBmRkES - #
mBEER  PTAMEKED -
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24. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(c) Capital management (continued)
The debt-to-equity ratio as at 31 March 2022 and 2021
are as follows:

24.

AR ki (5E)

(c) EXREE(E)
RZEZZFR-F=—F=H
=t —AZERZAELENT

2022 2021

—E-= T

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FHT

Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE 37,254 60,636

Mining right payables FERTERIEE SR IE 85,421 86,423

Promissory notes EHER - 2,400

Lease liabilities HEBE 1,338 2,185

Convertible bond designated as & AR A ESIBRI A
financial liabilities at FVPL BRENEEZeREEL

AJHARE 182,537 171,283

Total debt wafk 306,550 322,927

Total equity B 224,189 149,583

Debt-to-equity ratio EmBELE 1.37 2.16
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are KRR EEARBAREES

subject to externally imposed capital requirements. EISNERREIN 2 B AR TE 2 PRI ©

25. CONVERTIBLE BOND 25. IJRRES

On 14 March 2008, the Company issued zero-coupon
convertible bond with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$200,000,000 to Ascent Goal simultaneously upon
completion of the issue and allotment of 400,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each. The bond was denominated in HK$
and entitled the holders to convert them into ordinary shares
of the Company at any time between the date of issue of the
bond and its settlement date on 13 March 2011 in multiples
of HK$1,000,000 at a conversion price HK$0.20 (subject to
adjustments) per share. The shares to be issued and allotted
upon conversions shall rank pari passu in all respects among
themselves and with all other ordinary shares in issue by
the Company on the date of such allotment and issue. If the
convertible bond has not been converted, the Company should
repay the principal amount of the outstanding convertible bond
to Ascent Goal at 13 March 2011.
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25. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued)

On 11 February 2011, the Company entered into a deed of
amendment with Ascent Goal (“1st extended Convertible
Bond”), to extend the maturity date of the convertible bond
for 36 months and the conversion period will accordingly be
extended for 36 months from 14 March 2011 (date of extension)
to 13 March 2014. Apart from the extension of the maturity date
and the conversion period, all terms of the convertible bond
remain unchanged from the original terms.

Following the change of functional currency from HK$ to
RMB, the directors of the Company are of the view that the
convertible bond upon extension of maturity date (“Convertible
Bond”) was no longer convertible at a fixed for fixed relationship.
Accordingly, the Convertible Bond was designated as a financial
liability at FVPL in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

On 21 January 2014, the Company entered into a second deed
of amendment with Ascent Goal (“2nd extended Convertible
Bond”), to extend the maturity date of 1st extended Convertible
Bond for 36 months and the conversion period will accordingly
be extended for 36 months from 14 March 2014 (date of
extension) to 13 March 2017 (“2nd extended Maturity Date”).
Apart from the extension of maturity date and the conversion
period, all terms of the convertible bond remain unchanged from
the original terms.

The 2nd extended Maturity Date was considered to be a
substantial modification of terms of 1st extended Convertible
Bond as the discounted present value of the cash flows of
the 2nd extended Convertible Bond was more than 10%
different from the discounted present value of the cash flows
of the outstanding 1st extended Convertible Bond prior to
the extension of maturity date. As such, the 1st extended
Convertible Bond was derecognised and the 2nd extended
Convertible Bond was recognised. The fair value of the 2nd
extended Convertible Bond as at 14 March 2014 amounted to
approximately HK$200,000,000.

25.

AR E S ()
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(AR Es ) TR B EE R
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R-ZE—NE—F-+—H  &XRQ7
HERITVE MBI RE(EX
EHRT AR ES ) - A E — X IEH
AR ES 2 D H A EE36EA
MEREEEEL T —NF=A
THA(GESHE ) EHBEAEZ
—tFZA+Z=ZB([FERELE
Bl) - BRERRE A REHESN - BT
B MBREFBRTIZRBBRTERTT

#E4
= °

ARE ZEHARRES 2B SR
ECMRRERBY BT Z
RITEFE—REHRATIRRESF 2R
MECARBEIO%IA L WEZKX
EHAEIER A #5148 A 58 — X I H r] 2 A%
BHRBERZERER - Bt - BE&1E
BRE AT R ESF T ERSE
TR RRES o B IRIEHAT]
BREFR -_E—NFEF=A+WNAZ
N FEX)A200,000,0008 7T ©

Annual Report 2021/22 F%f

179



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

25. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued) 25. AR ES (&)

180

On 25 January 2017, the Company entered into a third deed
of amendment with Ascent Goal (“3rd extended Convertible
Bond”), to further extend the maturity date of the 2nd extended
Convertible Bond for 36 months and the conversion period
will accordingly be extended for 36 months from 13 March
2017 (date of extension) to 13 March 2020 (“3rd extended
Maturity Date”). Apart from the extension of maturity date and
the conversion period, all terms of the convertible bond remain
unchanged from the original terms.

The 3rd extended Maturity Date was considered to be
a substantial modification of terms of the 2nd extended
Convertible Bond as the discounted present value of the cash
flows of the 3rd extended Convertible Bond was more than 10%
different from the discounted present value of the outstanding
2nd extended Convertible Bond prior to the extension of
maturity date. As such, the 2nd extended Convertible Bond
was derecognised and the 3rd extended Convertible Bond
was recognised. The fair value of the 3rd extended Convertible
Bond as at 14 March 2017 amounted to approximately
HK$264,904,000.

On 3 February 2020, the Company entered into a fourth deed
of amendment with Ascent Goal (“4th extended Convertible
Bond”), to further extend the maturity date of the 3rd extended
Convertible Bond for 36 months and the conversion period
will accordingly be extended for 36 months from 13 March
2020 (date of extension) to 13 March 2023 (“4th extended
Maturity Date”). Apart from the extension of maturity date and
the conversion period, all terms of the convertible bond remain
unchanged from the original terms.

The 4th extended Maturity Date was considered to be
a substantial modification of terms of the 3rd extended
Convertible Bond as the discounted present value of the cash
flows of the 4th extended Convertible Bond was more than 10%
different from the discounted present value of the outstanding
3rd extended Convertible Bond prior to the extension of
maturity date. As such, the 3rd extended Convertible Bond
was derecognised and the 4th extended Convertible Bond
was recognised. The fair value of the 4th extended Convertible
Bond as at 14 March 2020 amounted to approximately
HK$159,163,000.
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BE-E-__F=A=+—-HLEE

25. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued) 25. AR ES (&)
The 4th extended Convertible Bond was valued by the directors FINRTERAA R EAEE RN AR ES
of the Company with reference to valuation report issued by RERPETVN _ZE__FRK_F
ValQuest as at 31 March 2022 and 2021. Z—F=ZA=+—HFHAZHER
HEITAE -
The movements of the 4th extended Convertible Bond for the FEIRIEE AR EENFERZ &
year are set out below: Iy

4th extended Convertible Bond

EIREH TR ES
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Balance at beginning of the year FEEs% 171,283 146,426
Fair value change charged to the profit Mk EiER 2 AT EE
or loss 11,254 24,857
Gain on translation of 4th extended BEPAINEHE 7 B P0R T
Convertible Bond denominated in a AaRkEHFAENEES .
foreign currency into the functional g
currency (6,068) (11,830)
Exchange adjustment arising on translation &G A2 5| EHFEAW
of functional currency to presentation SPAEMEZEMEZ ER AR
currency and recorded in other
comprehensive income 6,068 11,830
Balance at end of the year FREH 182,537 171,283
Analysed for reporting as: =
Current liabilities meaE 182,537 -
Non-current liabilities EREBERE - 171,283
182,537 171,283

Difference between carrying amount and ~ BEFI(EERZIHi &5 7 258 ¢

maturity amount:
4th extended Convertible Bond at BATEFE 2 EMRES

fair value AR ES 182,537 171,283
Amount payable on maturity REIEAR EN S 58 (200,000) (200,000)

(17,463) (28,717)
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26. PROVISION FOR CLOSE DOWN, RESTORATION 26. B3F - A REBIERARE
AND ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

HK$'000
FET
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZEBE_EF=ZA=+—HK
—ZE_TFHA—H 2,726
Exchange difference M R 215
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZZE-_—F=A=+—8xK
—T-_—FWA—H 2,941
Exchange difference M ERR 104
As at 31 March 2022 R-B-_-_§=A=+-—H 3,045
Mining activities may result in land subsidence or damage, RSP EBONE TREE -
which could lead to losses to the residents of the mining areas. wmAaeREER s EREXEXL -
Pursuant to the relevant Mainland China regulations, the Group BEPEAMARER - NEEAR
is required to make compensation payments to the residents HE TRk ZIBEEREN 2BXM
for their losses resulting from land subsidence or damage, or to EHEEREREE - SOBFAEME R
restore the mining areas back to certain acceptable conditions. BE—FAEZMRN -
Under existing legislation, the directors of the Company believe BIBRITER - RARESHEESS
that there are no probable liabilities that will have a material A (E (A 1] g 9 AN & B B IS AR AR
adverse effect on the financial position or results of operations EXBEERBETEZAEE A
of the Group. The Mainland China government, however, has i B A AT B A B Rl B —
moved and may move further towards the adoption of more HEEEBRIE CRRIZE - RIRET
stringent environmental standards. Environmental liabilities WREEREZTRERE - WAlgE
are subject to considerable uncertainties which affect the FEREEMFRERRHERTZ
Group’s ability to estimate the ultimate cost of remediation BEST o BT REERIE  ()RTE
efforts. These uncertainties include: (i) the exact nature and HE (BIEETRREEF - SRk
extent of the contamination at various sites including, but not BHEZES KAL) HIRS
limited to, coal mines and land development areas, whether RS RIZE (iR ERABE
operating, closed or sold, (i) the extent of required cleanup THEZRRE : (i)SEEMmTHERR
efforts, (iii) varying costs of alternative remediation strategies, (iv) IR Z A : (VIREFHERTEZE
changes in environmental remediation requirements, and (v) the 2R R (v)FETE 7 B PR E AR U B 2 T
identification of new remediation sites. B o
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26.

27.

PROVISION FOR CLOSE DOWN, RESTORATION
AND ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS (continued)

The provision for close down, restoration and environmental
clean up costs has been determined by the directors of the
Company based on their past experience and best estimate of
future expenditure by discounting the expected expenditures
to their net present value. However, in so far as the effect on
the land and the environment from current mining activities
becomes apparent in future periods, the estimate of the
associated costs may be subject to revision in the future. The
amounts provided in relation to close down, restoration and
environmental clean up costs are reviewed at least annually
based upon the facts and circumstances available at the time
and the provisions are updated accordingly.

PROMISSORY NOTES

26.

27.

B - ERBRER
(&)

ARAEFEREREBEILH LY
RRAZ 2 HEMET - BBASTEHR
THREEREFEMETCHER - &
BRIRNBENAEE - A - RE
B RIFIE S 8T XZiiﬂ&f&iﬁ%é

BN EBE

RAKHAHEESBRE H'J*Hﬁﬁﬁk$2
ERFRBERARRELIERT - ZAEAET -

1§§E&faiﬁxﬁ@ﬁ$a+h2ﬁﬁ§9
BEREEREEZZFERBAME
B - AR FESE R

At the beginning of the reporting 7 ¥ & BARI FA 1885
period

Repayment of a promissory note 183& #3245

Accrued effective interest B ERF B

expenses

Carrying value at the end of R HIR 45 R B 2 BREE
the reporting period

Face value, at the end of RBEHREEREZ2EHE
the reporting period

Analysed by: T

Current liabilities MENEE

AHRE

2022 2021
—E=-= T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#ET FHT
2,400 4,611
(2,400) (2,400)

- 189

- 2,400

- 2,400

- 2,400
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27. PROMISSORY NOTES (continued)

(i)

(ii)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, 3 promissory
notes with principal amount of HK$2,400,000 each
(“Promissory Note 1”7, “Promissory Note 2” and
“Promissory Note 3”, together “Promissory Notes”)
were issued by the Company to the Vendor of Harbour
Group as part of the acquisition consideration upon the
completion of the Group’s acquisition of Harbour Group
on 23 April 2019 with a fair value of approximately
HK$6,764,000 (aggregate principal amount of
HK$7,200,000) based on the professional valuation
performed by Peak Vision. The Promissory Notes
bear no interest. The maturity dates of Promissory
Note 1, Promissory Note 2 and Promissory Note 3
are 15 business days after the audited consolidated
financial statements are issued by the auditors of the
Harbour Group for the years ended 31 December
2018, 2019 and 2020, respectively. The effective
interest rates of the Promissory Note 1, Promissory
Note 2 and Promissory Note 3 were determined to be
approximately 0%, 6.65% and 6.78% per annum as at
acquisition date (i.e. 23 April 2019).

The Group fully repaid the Promissory Note 1 with
principal amount of HK$2,400,000 as it was matured
during the year ended 31 March 2020.

In May 2020, the Group fully repaid the Promissory
Note 2 with principal amount of HK$2,400,000 as it was
matured and approximately HK$2,187,000 was settled
by offsetting the guaranteed profit compensation
receivables during the year ended 31 March 2021. The
effective interest rates of the Promissory Note 3 was
determined to be approximately 8.10% as at 31 March
2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
fully repaid the Promissory Note 3 with principal
amount of HK$2,400,000 as it was mature and settled
by offsetting the guaranteed profit compensation
receivables.
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In addition to the information disclosed in Note 7 and Note 12
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following amounts relating to leases during the years ended 31
March 2022 and 2021:

28. LEASES 28. HE

2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
FHET

Right-of-use assets (Note 12) FEREEE(MFE12)
Leased properties HEY 1,347 2,033
Motor vehicles RE - 44
1,347 2,077
2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
FHET

Lease liabilities HEERE

Current D 1,068 1,836
Non-current IERED 270 349
1,338 2,185

BRAR A IS IRR M a7 M sE 12T 3
BZEMS BE_ZT__FR_F
——F=ZA=+-BIMAFERE
EHEAATEBAEE 2R -

Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEEZIFEER

assets
Leased properties HEWE
Motor vehicles E

The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 31 March
2022 was approximately HK$3,055,000 (2021: approximately
HK$3,344,000).

Commitments under leases

As at 31 March 2022, the Group was committed to lease
contracts in relation to leased properties that have not yet
commenced. The related lease payments that were not paid
and not reflected in the measurement of lease liabilities were
approximately HK$99,000 (2021: approximately HK$65,000).

2,118 1,869
44 174

2,162 2,043

BE_Z-_—_F=A=1+—HIFE
ZHER SR LA A3,055,0008
TT(ZZ——4F : 493,344,000/ 7T) °

HERE
RZEBE-_—_F=A=+—H K&
MAEWEIIVZERESY © %S
ABHHMAREG AN EARFEA
EEENRMRZEBHEENZOE
9930005%7*5(: £~ —4F : 65,000/
7E o

4 1
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28. LEASES (continued) 28. HE(&E
Lease liabilities: HEEsE:

Present Present

value value

Lease of lease Lease of lease
payments  payments payments payments
ik E AEMR

HEMR ZBE MERRK ZHE
2022 2022 2021 2021
—EF-— —E—— —E-—F —T-—%F

—_—_—— —_——— —_—<— —_—<—

HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TRT TET TAT

Amount payable: FERTRUE -
Within one year —&FR 1,108 1,068 1,910 1,836
More than one vear, —FE - BTER
but not exceeding two years ME 273 270 353 349
1,381 1,338 2,263 2,185
Less: future finance charges B ARBEER (43) - (78) S
Total lease liabilities HEaEes 1,338 1,338 2185 2,185
29. DEFERRED TAX 29. IEIEBIIE
Deferred tax assets ELEBIBEEE
The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised and EANBTREHEZEERTER
their movements during the current and prior reporting periods: ERIEEAERESHNT
Mining
Accrued right Tax
expenses  payables losses Inventories Total
EER EAREE BE #E& st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT THT
Asat 1 April 2020 “ZETFMA-H 6,488 - - - 6,488
Exchange realignment [ 5 5% 507 69 50 - 626
Credited to profit or FAFRER
loss for the year - 2,361 1,686 - 4,047
As at 31 March 2021 and RZE-_—%=fR=1+—H
1 April 2021 k=Z2-—FEA—H 6,995 2,430 1,736 - 11,161
Exchange realignment i 3, % 246 76 44 - 366
(Charged)/Credited to profitor (k&8 ) /FTAFERIER
loss for the year - (1,000) (1,780) 398 (2,382)
As at 31 March 2022 R-B-=—E=ZH=+—-H 7,241 1,506 - 398 9,145
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29. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 29. IRFERIIE ()
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEEE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised ERRBARGSHE EEREEER
and their movements during the current and prior reporting EFRITHE E M AT ¢
periods:
Other
Intangible temporary
assets  Inventories  differences Total
BREE RE HEREE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TATL TAET TAT

As at 1 April 2020 “T-ZFNA-H 4,318 469 422 5,209
Exchange realignment [ 5 R 241 27 - 268
(Credited)/Charged to profit or GtN)/ kB ERER

loss for the year (2,345) (309) 3 (2,651)
As at 31 March 2021 and R-E-—F=A=+—-HRK

1 April 2021 —“E-—FNA—H 2,214 187 425 2,826
Exchange realignment I 5 A% 109 1 - 110
Charge/(Credited) to profit or GPNVE =k

loss for the year 4,604 (188) (&) 4,413
As at 31 March 2022 R-E-—_#=A=+-H 6,927 - 422 7,349
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and BEMEMME  BTELEHIBEE
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of RBRERGEE MBI E AN -
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax M BME BN S WEEHRIBL R
balances for financial reporting purposes: DT -

2022 2021

s T —F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FExT FHET

Net deferred tax assets R IE & =55 2,561 9,113
Net deferred tax liabilities EEFIB A EESE (765) (778)
1,796 8,335
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29. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 29. IRFERIIE ()

188

Under the EIT Law of the Mainland China, withholding
tax is payable on dividends declared in respect of profits
earned by Mainland China subsidiaries from 1 January 2008
onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to the accumulated taxable profits of
the Mainland China subsidiaries amounting to approximately
HK$227,484,000 (2021: approximately HK$150,068,000) as
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

Upon recognition of the preferential tax treatment by the
relevant tax authority in the Mainland China during the year
ended 31 March 2021, the Group has tax losses arising in the
Mainland China of approximately RMB38,976,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$44,949,000), which will be expired in 2024.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has tax losses arising in the
Mainland China of approximately RMB5,850,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$6,746,000), which is probable that such
tax losses can be offset against future taxable profit of the
respective subsidiaries for a maximum of 5 years and shall be
expired in 2024.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the recognised tax
losses of RMB5,850,000 (equivalent to HK$7,120,000) brought
forward from 31 March 2021 were fully utilised. The deferred tax
assets related to tax losses were reversed and charged to profit
or loss.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A
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29.

30.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of tax losses arising in the Mainland China
of approximately RMB33,126,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$38,203,000), because it is not probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the Group can utilise the
benefits therefrom. The unrecognised tax losses will be expired
in 2024.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group had fully
utilised the unrecognised tax losses of RMB33,126,000
(equivalent to HK$37,829,000) and no tax losses arising in the
Mainland China as at 31 March 2022.

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(@) Major non-cash transactions
(i) During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
incurred payables of approximately HK$175,000 to
the contractor for the addition of construction-in-
progress.

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2022, Promissory
Note 3 with principal amount of HK$2,400,000
(2021: Promissory Note 2 with principal amount
HK$2,400,000) was settled by offsetting the
guaranteed profit compensation receivables of
approximately HK$2,400,000 (2021: approximately
HK$2,187,000). The remaining balance of
Promissory Note 2 of approximately HK$213,000
was settled by cash during the year ended 31
March 2021.

29.

30.

IEAEBIE ()
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30. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) 30. HtIREHEEE (B)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BMETBELENEEEH
activities
Details of the changes in the Group’s liabilities from AEBERERETHNEEESD
financing activities are as follows: FBWT

Non-cash changes

2 EL L]

Translation  Translation
of from  Offset with
Additions convertible ~ functional  guaranteed

Asat Net  of property, bondinto currency to profit Asat

1 April cash plantand ~ Changein functional  presentation compensation 31 March
2021 flows equipment fair value currency currency  receivables 2022

i B¢ RENE BEWE  AEME KRR i
8>-F il HER AvE k&5 E%R  ENRE  CT00f
BA-H FB R 29 RYRER U8R REEE ZA=t-R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
ThR ThR ThR ThT ThR ThR ThR ThT

Year ended 31 March 2022 HE-B-ZEZRSt-ALEE
Interest-bearing borrowings HERE 60,636 (25,299) - - - 1,857 = 37,254
Lease liabilties i 2,185 [2.217) 1,404 - - 26 - 1,338
Convertble bond designated as financia EERRATEIGURRER

b &t FYPL BB AHABITRRRS 171,88 - - s (6069) 6,068 - R
Promissory notes ERZE 2400 - - - - - (2,400 -

W54 (27510 1404 11,254 (6,066 7951 Py 2112
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30. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) 30. HttIREREF R (HE)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing b) RETBELENEEEZH
activities (continued) (&)
Non-cash changes
F35 £

Translation ~~ Tranglation

o fom  Offsetwith
Addtions convertiole functional  guaranteed
Asat Net  of property, bondinto currency to proft Asat
1 Apri cash plant and Change in Rent functionl  presentaion  compensafion Interest 31 March
2020 flows  equipment farvalue  concessions curency curency  receivables expenses 2021
1 F¢ REMR gEmA  BEME EERE 3
S ik KRR AVE it %5 EiEE S

mA-A i B B9 BEER  AUmEM  ZEE O MEEE  MERR A=t
HKS000  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKS000  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKBOOO KOO0 HKSO00  HKEOO0
T Tt Tt Tin Titn Tt T TER Tk Tt

Year ended HETT-E2R

31 March 2021 ZT-BLER
Interest-bearing borrowings &fSfEE 65,345 9,380 - - - - 467 - - 60,636
Lease liabiis HEaE 308 0154 1098 = ) = 3 E . 2185

Convertble bond EEERATENG IR
designated as fiancial ~~ EHEAREAREE

labiites at FVPL 2THRES 146,426 e s 24,857 e (11,830) 11830 5 -
Promissory notes AHER 461 P13 = = - - = 2187) 189 2400
219,620 (1,747) 1098 24857 (20) (1,830 16,524 0,187 18 2950
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31. €T A
(@) Categories of financial instruments (@) =@mTEHEHA
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FET
Financial assets measured HEHEA AT EZ
at amortised cost: SREE :
Trade and other receivables FE U S 3R % B PR Y ER IR 8,729 11,814
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRCEMEEE 260,753 204,079
269,482 215,893
Financial liabilities measured at RHHERKATE e
amortised cost: afE:
Trade and other payables FERT B R R B Ath P~ 5RIE 25,352 46,801
Promissory notes EHEER - 2,400
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,338 2,185
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEEE 37,254 60,636
Mining right payables e ERAEAEFRIA 85,421 86,423
149,365 198,445
Financial liabilities designated ETE BiR A EYRIT
as at FVPL: BanANEREZ¢masE
Convertible Bond AT ESH 182,537 171,283
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31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade
and other payables, promissory notes, lease liabilities,
interest-bearing borrowings, mining right payables and
Convertible Bond. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The directors of the Company
manage and monitor these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency expenditures, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The Group does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the directors of the Company
monitor foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

Certain receivables, cash and cash equivalents, payables
and Convertible Bond of the Group are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the group
entity to which they relate.

31. EMTR(EA)

(b)

MR EE B ERBER
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31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

The following table shows the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the group entity to
which they relate:

ERTEE)

b) HBEBREEEEREE
(4&)
B (E)

Assets BE
Liabilities afE
Sensitivity analysis

The group entities are mainly exposed to foreign currency
risk of HKS.

The following table details the group entities’ sensitivity to
a10% (2021: 10%) increase and decrease in HK$ against
each group entity’s functional currency. 10% (2021:
10%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the material
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year
end for a 10% (2021: 10%) change in foreign currency
rates. A negative number below indicates a decrease in
pre-tax profit for the year of the Group (2021: increase in
pre-tax loss for the year of the Group) where each group
entity’s functional currency weaken 10% (2021: 10%)
against HK$. For a 10% (2021: 10%) strengthening of
each group entity’s functional currency against HK$, there
would be an equal and opposite impact.
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TRETAEENRENEE
RO HERAAESEE TR
BN ERTHEZEERA
EEL 2 EHER

2022 2021
—E—— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
29,157 38,104
(183,534) (172,135)
HRE T
EEER T EAIBILZINER

A
PR

o

TRFNEETEBEHETLS
hee g > E%ﬂﬁ%

BEEEY
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)

31. €T E(E)
b) HBEBREEEEREE

BREBLATE R, EiE

Pre-tax profit/loss

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances and interest-bearing borrowings
carried at prevailing market rate. The Group has not
used any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk. The Group has not formulated a policy to
manage the interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the end of reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding
at the end of reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year.

If interest rate had been 50 basis point (2021: 50 basis
point) higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s pre-tax profit for the year would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$85,000 (2021:
increase/decrease in the Group’s pre-tax loss for the
year by approximately HK$149,000). This was mainly
attributable to the exposure to interest rates on its
variable-rate bank balances of the Group.

(&)
EHEpe ()
HBESW(E)
2022 2021
—=E=—= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
(15,438) (13,403)
Fl=jE f

AEBAEAZBRBAZ AT IS
KB ZRITEBR MG REEZ
BERENERAR - NEEILHE
BEREATERQOEREN XA
o NEBEIWESFIEBRERR
X o

HEE AT

TN GBE AT TR IR IEST A
T AR SR AR Y FIRE,
ST o EEDMEBRN TS
EARS 4 B 2 R 18 S BT AR
BEEFIRMEE -

HFIE L, TBS0EEL (=
T —4F  50EEE) MATA
Han B~ - AAEEF
A Bk A S A AR 18 049
85,0008 L (ZE=-—F : A&
[ F PR T AT ES TR N, R A 49
149,000%7T) * TEREAARE
EmEEZEFRRITEHR 2T
KA ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Equity price risk

The Group was required to estimate the fair value of the
Convertible Bond (see Note 25) at the end of the reporting
period with changes in fair value to be recognised in the
profit or loss. The fair value adjustment would be affected
either positively or negatively, amongst others, by the
changes in the Company’s share market price.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below had been determined based
on the exposure to the Company’s share price risk at the
reporting date only. If the Company’s share price had
been 5% (2021: 5%) higher and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s pre-tax profit for the year (as
a result of changes in fair value of the Convertible Bond)
would be decreased by approximately HK$801,000
(2021: the Group’s pre-tax loss for the year would be
increased by approximately HK$1,213,000) during the
year ended 31 March 2022. If the input of share price
to the valuation model of the derivatives embedded
in the Convertible Bond had been 5% lower while all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s pre-tax
profit for the year (as a result of changes in fair value of
Convertible Bond) would be increased by approximately
HK$801,000 (2021: the Group’s pre-tax loss for the year
would be decreased by approximately HK$1,213,000)
during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

31. EMTR(EA)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) MEEREEEZERBE
policies (continued) (4&)
Liquidity risk TEEREE
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group MEERESESREMMES » ANE
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash ERT#FRe NI EE
equivalents deemed adequate by the directors of the EERARNRIEEZEREBRAZK
Company to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate FooAREEESRERES R
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. VIREMERB 2 FE o
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining TEREFLAEBSRABERGAE
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The WEHBE 2B - B@IETY
tables have been drawn up based on the contractual ERAEEREER &R A
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on B BiESRBEZAHKRENIR
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to BenemRE - 7IXEEFE
pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash EAREHERE -
flows:
Within -~ More than
1year  1yearbut Total
oron  lessthan  2yearsto Over  undiscounted  Carrying
demand 2 years 5years 5years cash flows amount
-FRg  BB-F AERRS
EEX EIRWE WEERE AHEE HEAH REE
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000
FiL TEL TAT TAL FAL TEL
As at 31 March 2022 W-ZE--%ZA=1-H
Trade and other payables BRETREMERTE 25,352 - - - 2535 25352
Lease liabities HEBR 1,108 273 - - 1,381 1,338
Interest-bearing borrowings (Note) 3 Bf£ S (FizE) 37,254 - - - 37,254 37,254
Mining right payables ENRBRETE 11,304 11,304 33912 79,101 135,621 85,421
Convertiole bond designated s~ #5E AR AT EFIFETE
financial liabties at FVPL EENRE/2BBE
kS 200,000 - - - 200,000 182,537
275,018 11,577 33,912 79,101 399,608 331,902
As at 31 March 2021 RZE-—F=A=1-H
Trade and other payables ENETREMENZE 46,801 = - = 46,801 46,801
Promissory notes ESES 2,400 - - - 2,400 2,400
Lease liabities HEER 1910 353 - - 2,263 2,185
Interest-bearing borrowings (Note) 5t B EE (fif3E) 60,636 - - - 60,636 60,636
Mining right payables R REE A 10,920 10920 32761 87,336 141,937 86423
Convertiole bond designated as ~ #;E AR ATFEFIFT
financial iabilties at FVPL BRENREEREAEL
ARRES - 200,000 - - 200000 171,283
122,667 211,273 32,761 87,336 454,037 369,728
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 31. £WMIAH)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b)) BHEREEEEREX

policies (continued) (4&)

Liquidity risk (continued) MEEE R (E)

Note: The amounts repayable under bank loan agreements that MisE : BIER FIRITESERERELK
include a clause that gives the bank an unconditional right EENERZBITERBEE
to call the borrowings at any time are classified under the TEEEZFREIER—F
category of “within 1 year or on demand”. However, the NKEESRK | o R - BEEE
management does not expect that the bank would exercise TEHRRIT T EITEZEESRE
such right to demand the repayment and thus, the borrowings, FEVER - At - BIEHEET
which included the related interest, would be repaid according BEAMNEEBIZRRIEITER
to the below schedule as set out in the bank loan agreements BT A LA BRI R T LAE
as follow: &

More than
Within 1 year but Total
1 year or less than 2 years undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2years  tob5years cash flows amount
—FR5 BA—F ABRRS
EEZR [EIRWME WERLF TEAE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHET THET THET FHT
As at 31 March 2022 R-Z--f=fA=+-H
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE 38,803 - - 38,803 37,254
As at 31 March 2021 RZEZ—F=A=1+—H
Interest-bearing borrowings HERE 63,615 407 = 64,022 60,636
Credit risk EERE

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position, which is net
of impairment losses, represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk without taking into account the
value of any collateral held or other credit enhancements.

Trade receivables

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.
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31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer. The
default risk of the industry and country in which customers
operate also has an influence on credit risk but to a lesser
extent. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based
on an extensive credit rating and individual credit limit
assessment which is mainly based on the Group’s own
trading records.

In estimating the ECL, the Group has taken into account
the historical actual credit loss experience over the past
three years and available press information, adjusted for
forward-looking factors that are specific to the debtors
and general economic conditions of the industry in
which the counterparties operate, in estimating the
probability of default of these financial assets, as well as
the loss upon default in each case. The directors of the
Company consider the ECL of these financial assets to be
insignificant after taking into account the financial position
and credit quality of the counterparties. Since the Group
trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties,
there is no requirement for collateral.

The credit risk in respect of trade receivables regarding
coal mining business is insignificant as the Group’s
sales to coal customers are largely done on payment in
advance basis.

31. EMTR(EA)

(b)
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=EmfE (E)

ERE (&)
AEBEFEHNEERREER
BEEFPNERSHKBERATZE -
BEFREMETERBERNED
RiprewEgEERRE - BRE
BR - EFOEREENERE
HEEFRREAERBEREET

AHE - RAHEEEERAKEN
B R ZH0Ex °

RiGFHEREEERR - A8
KRS eREENZOME
FMEXNEERR Bt BE=E
FEMNBEEREEBRERK
ARHmTEN  UREFARE
R RTIE MR R M F 2 FriE
TERNBEEERIRTTAHE -
BET R F OB REE
BER ARAEFARZER
REEMNEHEEBRRYTE
Ko HRAKEEEBR ARG
BEENE=IRG  WEFK
R o

ERRRLE Y BRER SR
EERRILTEX - BEARE
BB ES 2 AT R
(EEE A, -

Annual Report 2021/22 F%f

199



200

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2022
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31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The Group’s customer base regarding renewable
energy business and IT Services business consists of
a wide range of customers and the trade receivables
are categorised by common risk characteristics that
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all
amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.
The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECL for trade receivables and recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has
established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment. The expected loss rate used in the provision
matrix is calculated for each category based on historical
observed loss rates over the expected life of the trade
receivables and adjusted for current and forward-
looking factors to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historical data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s
estimate on future economic conditions over the expected
lives of the receivables.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables
are disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a concentration of
credit risk as approximately 27% (2021: approximately
19%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest trade debtor and its affiliated companies,
and approximately 66% (2021: approximately 71%) of
the total trade receivables was due from the Group’s
five largest trade debtors and their affiliated companies,
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_F=A=+—HLFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)
At the end of each reporting period, the ageing analysis of
the trade receivables of by due date is as follow:

31. EMTR(EA)
b) FHEEABEERERBE
(%)
=EmfE (E)
ERE (&)
RERSHR - RAHE RS D
Z R ESRARE DTN

Not yet due i A 38 A
Past due: wHA
Within 30 days 30E A
31 - 60 days 312 60H
61 —90 days 61F90H
Over 90 days Q0H M
Less: Loss allowance B iR

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
2,274 1,442
1,419 961
313 1,337
94 509
724 535
2,550 3,342
4,824 4,784
(54) (71)
4,770 4,713
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 31. SWMIA(HE)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b)) BHEREEEEREX
policies (continued) (4&)
Credit risk (continued) =B Rk ()
Trade receivables (continued) JEWEZ (4E)
The information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL FRBEBEENERERNEE
for trade receivables using a provision matrix is as follows: R RkIEAEESEERNT
Gross Net
Expected carrying Loss carrying

loss rate amounts  allowance amounts
FHERE AREE 2 BERE  RERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

% FAT THT FAT

As at 31 March 2022 R-B-—F
=BA=+—8H 1.12 4,824 (54) 4,770
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZE-—F
=A=t—H 1.48 4,784 (71) 4,713
The Group does not hold any collateral over trade AEBR-_E-_—_FR-T——
receivables as at 31 March 2022 and 2021. The F=A=T—HAEFEEME
movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables is as WESRMWIERG - BIRENEE
follows: BEEHNT :
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FiBT
At the beginning of the reporting period 7§25 B %] 71 51
(Reversal)/Charge of loss allowance, net [Esfg## (@)X H
THER 17) 20
At the end of the reporting period REEEHR 54 71
Other receivables H A K
The Group considers that the other receivables have FRRME ﬂ/\ﬂﬁ*’&laf?j] AR
low credit risk based on the borrowers’ strong capacity HHNERTHEANRERER
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near E&%‘T ERENRRE  WAEE
term and low risk of default. No impairment on the other REBEMERZIBNEERRBK
receivables is recognised based on the measurement on 1_ MERESE @A B
12-month ECL. 15 5 & 15 T 58 L FE W SR IE R
& -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group considers the credit risk in respect of cash
and cash equivalents is minimal because the counter-
parties are authorised financial institutions with high credit
ratings.

Fair value measurements

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried amortised cost are not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13: Fair
Value Measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

° Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the Group can access at the measurement date.

° Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.

° Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The Group engaged independent professional valuers
to perform valuations of financial instruments which are
categorised into Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. Valuation reports with analysis of changes in
fair value measurement are prepared by the independent
professional valuers at each interim and annual reporting
date, and are reviewed and approved by the financial
controller. Discussion of the valuation process and results
with the financial controller is held twice a year to coincide
with the reporting dates.

31. M T R(H)

(b)

BHERBREEERERBE
(#&)

=E/mpE (&)

Re kAL FERE
AEERSERAS MREEE
HENEERRMTEN B
BFHAEESABRENRTR
B

N FEEE

REBE ABHEA AR 28T
AVERABEHENR-_ZT-_—_FR=
T-—FZA=+—HZAFE
WEEBRDH °

TRV AKEERTEZAF
B RS PREERREE
UREEGFE  XDBREFBMH
WEERIFES - A FEFEM
REL=MAVFERR - §AF
B ENBZERDHESEMT
HET AT R ARUR 2 Al 8RR
MRERMRETE

e FELAERER A
SEHAEGEHRESNNE
REENBEEERETS
FEVIRE CREHE)

s FE_ER KBRTIEER
BAEMESHRE A
B BERBENEERX
AR ERNE AR

s FZEL(REEBR) :E
ESAENTAEREA
(=]

AEBRBB Y EXMAEME D
BRARFEERFE _MRFE=R
ZERTRETHE - SHBAF
B EEPOM 2 HEREHS
M HEMAEMRE IR FER
SRR WA B AR
KAt - WhEA s B HIEEE 75
REBFRANRGEBERSE
2o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_F=A=+—HLFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 31. @RMIEH)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) MEREMREEEERRE
policies (continued) (&)
Fair value measurements (continued) L FERE ()

Fair value measurements categorised
into
NHEFEDE
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AVE F-% et F=R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TET TET

As at 31 March 2022

Recurring fair value
measurements
Financial liabilities

designated as at FVPL:

Convertible Bond

As at 31 March 2021

Recurring fair value
measurements
Financial liabilities

designated as at FVPL:

Convertible Bond

RZEZZF
=A=+—-8H
BEMLALEIE

BERERNTESRL
EBRENREZ &/
afE:
ARRES 182,537 = — 182,537

RZEZ—F
=A=t+—-8
BEMALEIE

BEARATEYIRT

EEZNERE S/

afE:

ARRES 171,283 = = 171,283
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT_—_F=A=+—HILLEE

31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Fair value measurements (continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
The fair value of the Convertible Bond is determined
with reference to the fair value of the liability component
and conversion option component, calculated using
discounted cash flows and binomial model, respectively.
The assumptions adopted for the valuation of the
convertible bond are as follows:

(i) The estimation of risk free rate has made reference
to the yield of Exchange Fund Bill with same
duration as the Convertible Bond;

(i)  The estimation of volatility for the underlying share
price has considered the historical price movements
of the Company;

(i) ~ The discount rate was determined based on the
Company’s credit rating and comparable corporate
bonds with similar maturity and credit risk for which
the range of comparable yield to maturity as of date
of valuation was determined and the median has
been adopted; and

(iv)  The estimation of dividend yield is based on
historical dividend payment of the Company.

31. EMTR(EA)

(b)

BHRAMREEEZERBXK
(#8)

N FEFE (&)
HEZZ-_—_FR-F=-—%F=
A=1T—HILEFE  E—KHEE
T BB EER  olE A oaE
HE=R - AEEZBUER AER
NI G AR RS FTEE 2 A
EELZ EREER -

BHEFE=R L FlETTBZEH
A ESF A FESRAERD
AR A D D RIIRBE RIS
mER AR EEEAE
ZAFEETE - IBRRESGE
RN BT

0 \EERRNXTI2EFHE
AR 25 AR [R) 2 S EE 2
EEEWESAE

() ARBRE RIS (5
RARFZBEERED

(i)  REBRRTIRBARRZE
EFFRARAEB BRI
AREERRZAELR
REEFMEE @ A&
ERARERMNS  CF
EREER 2 A& LS
HW s g - SHE R RN
BRI R

V) BERZMGERIDIERAR
ALBEZ B EIRNT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(continued)

Major parameters adopted in the calculation of the fair
value are summarised below:

Stock price I fE

Exercise price 1EE
47 R f 1) =
BhIR =
% B &

| HAR ]

Risk free rate
Discount rate
Dividend yield
Time to expiration

Stock price volatility BN

The significant unobservable input used in the fair value
measurement is expected stock price volatility. The
fair value measurement is positively correlated to the
expected stock price volatility. If the expected stock price
volatility has been 5% (2021: 5%) higher with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s pre-tax profit for the
year would be decreased by approximately HK$967,000
(2021: increase in the Group’s pre-tax loss for the year
by approximately HK$1,507,000) during the year ended
31 March 2022. If the expected stock price volatility has
been 5% lower with all other variables held constant, the
Group’s pre-tax profit for the year would be increased
by approximately HK$978,000 (2021: decrease in the
Group’s pre-tax loss for the year by approximately
HK$1,536,000) during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements
The movements during the years ended 31 March 2022
and 2021 in the balances of financial liabilities of Level
3 fair value measurements are set out in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A

31. ERMTR(H)

(b)

BERKBEEEERBE
(#&)
BEHE=RLFETEBZEHN
(&)
SAEQFEARAZIE2HE
FIEAT

As at As at

31 March 2022 31 March 2021
N-sE—-— NZE-—4F
=BA=+—H —A=+—-H
HK$0.066 HK$0.09
0.0667%& 7T 0.0978 7T
HK$0.20 HK$0.20
0.205& T 0.20/8 7T
0.847% 0.13%
14.41% 13.20%

0% 0%

0.95 years 1.95 years
0.95%F 1.95%F
93.35% 88.74%

A EFFERAZEARTAIE
RgABIEATERRERE -
A EFEEREHRERERE
FERE - MTEHARE R IEHAS5%
T 5%) MAAH
BT - BIAEERE
2 E-_—_F#=ZA=+—HI1t
F[E 2 F AR T A5
#9967,0008 L (=T = —4F :
NEB R F AR E B A
hn#%91,507,00047T) © {878 23R
EREFAES% « i FrA A&
HEFETE  AAEENEZE
—E - F=ZA=+—HILHF
B2 F A A R F A 49
978,000 L (ZF=—F : K
EBEMF AR ATEE’ R4
1,536,000/ 7T) °

BEE=ZFRAFETEZLIHK
FEZEATEAEZEHBELR
BZEBE_E_—_FR-_FT_—
F=A=1t—HILFEEHH 7|
BN A SRR 725 ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. BEALRS
Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial MGiGE M EmREMIS oML ES
statements, the Group had the following transactions with the N REBEEEATBUTRS ¢

related parties.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remunerations of the directors of the Company and other
members of key management personnel during the reporting
periods are as follows:

TEEBEASEHM
BEHAXRRAESREMETRER
ERk B2 FBMan T

¥ RBe  RRR
HibrE iR B =7
TR URIRE BIHR

Salaries, bonus, allowances and
other short-term employee benefits
Contributions to defined
retirement contribution plan

The remunerations of the directors of the Company were
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.

2022 2021
== T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FAET
10,104 7,159
286 38
10,390 7,197

ARBEZHFMEFHEZES 2R
FZEARRRETGBLILETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

33. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS 33. ERBALE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Contracted but not provided net BRT4B R B CHIBR B EE YD

of deposit paid for acquisition of ¥ BEMEREEBECENZES)
property, plant and equipment 8,274 9,127

34. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT PLAN 34. EEMETERKETE

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident AEBEBRER G MERESFENEN A
Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident XEBERBEPEEZXEEES LN
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for employees employed under the —THTREFEFMEAESFEI( 3
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF HEETE)) - BESE R —TEHE
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered URXFAANER 2 EREFURIKEE -
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer BIERESHTE  BEXREEESE
and its employees are each required to make contributions AR ERBWAS%MEIEIHER - &
to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject =3 A RBWA S FEA30,0008 T °
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 in total. FTEIMEREN SRS -

Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Company’s subsidiaries established in the Mainland RRAREFRBE AR 2B RR A
China are members of the state-managed retirement benefits o B A S 2 B R B IR IR KR
scheme operated by the Mainland China government (the MErEI (TP E A RAKETE]) 2K
“Mainland China Retirement Scheme”). The retirement scheme B o RIRFTEIME TR IR R B A Hb B
contributions, which are based on a certain percentage of the NREEZHeRTELFE - I
salaries of the Mainland China subsidiaries’ employees, are RERBERFERGEERREME
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and HEXRAR - SEALSTHEBA
other comprehensive income in the year to which they are AIER TRAIERTEl e RE o

related and represented the amount of contributions payable by
these subsidiaries to this scheme.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of profit R B & H M2 W & R
or loss and other comprehensive income of approximately Z KA AN 493,686,000 T (ZF = —
HK$3,686,000 (2021: approximately HK$1,670,000) % : 491,670,000/ 7T ) 36 AN & B ph AR
represents contributions payable to the schemes by the Group VR FERZ ST a8 2 R -

in respect of the current financial year.

For the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there were BHE-Z-_—_FR=-_F=—F=H
no forfeited contributions which were available to reduce the =+—BIFE  WEABEDRAK
Group’s existing level of contributions to the MPF Scheme and SERREHAESTE RPEAMER
the Mainland China Retirement Scheme. RET B E T2 EIRIMHSK -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B 5 sh Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—_H=ZA=+—HILLEE

35. COMPANY LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 35. AATLQTFBEZBHBERREK
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2021
—E-—F
NO@S HK$’000 HK$’000
M3 FET FAT
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - RE NG 426 1,173
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AR ZIE 16 —* s
426 1,173
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries E%W%QTME 16 225,170 225,976
Other receivables E A IR 572 539
Cash and cash equivalents ﬁi&ﬁ%#ﬁﬁa 24,319 38,092
250,061 264,607
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals HiENFIERESER 794 1,035
Convertible bond designated as ?EE&Q?@W%EEE
financial liabilities at FVPL mANEEZeREEsT
BRES 25 182,537 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 151 853
183,482 1,888
Net current assets RBEEFE 66,579 262,719
Total assets less current liabilites #AEEBLRHERE 67,005 263,892
Capital and reserves HQZIK}SU%{E
Share capital A&7 24 76,537 76,537
(Capital deficiency)/Reserves ( B e 24 (9,584) 16,072
Total equity R 66,953 92,609
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Convertible bond designated as BT AEATESRITE
financial liabilities at FVPL BaANEErseREaEs
Bk ES 25 - 171,283
Lease liabilities HEBE 52 =
52 171,283
67,005 263,892
* Represent amounts less than HK$1,000. * 50,0008 T2 & 58 ©
The statement of financial position was approved and ARBRAKHESEN _T——
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 June 2022 ANAZTHB B ERRETE - I EE
and signed on its behalf by ATATREKEE -
Kwan Man Fai Li Chun Fung
X E TE#
Director Director
E2 EZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B I8 3R R M
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT_—_F=A=+—HILLEE

36. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 36. RBE=-ZBE=-=_"F=A=1+—

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Up to the date of issue of the consolidated financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued the following amendments and new
standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2022 and are relevant to the Group and which have not
been early adopted in the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use '
Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfiling a Contract '
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework

Annual Improvements to 2018-2020 Cycle '
HKFRSs

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Non-current 2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 2
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction?
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 2

Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 9 - Comparative

Information®

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture °

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

8 The effective date to be determined

The directors of the Company are in the process of assessing
the possible impact on the future adoption of these new/revised
HKFRSs, but are not yet in a position to reasonably estimate
their impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

IFMBERE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-F-_—F=A=+—-HALEE

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group ~ AEBEBET A BREED AMESE - &
for the last five financial years is set out below. ENBEZBEEHINT -
RESULTS E 45
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=t+-BLFE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
et N T —F —T-THE —T-NF —T-N\HF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET TET THET TET
REVENUE hé 300,241 130,521 127,989 75,625 182,445
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS Fed= sy 120,441 28,121 8,269 12,359 35,509
Exchange (loss)/gain, net 5 (818), W38 (4,091) 7,979 (4,672) (6,175) 8,866
Finance costs BEMRA (10,342) (9,626) (6,952) (964) =
Supplemental resources fee BRERE - - (85,688) - -
Change in fair value and gain arising ~ F3&EE AR AT ETIE
from modification of THBERNRE &
convertible bond designated as AEEsTBRRES
financial liabilities at FVPL ZRTEEYREE
2 W (11,254) (24,857) 71,443 29,373 14,374
Change in fair value of contingent ~ EUREi AR EZ
consideration receivables NEEEE - (3,648) 3,009 = =
Impairment loss on goodwil EERESE (5,814) (14,503) (3,831) - -
Impairment loss on property, WE - BER
plant and equipment FEREESR - - = = (3,511)
Impairment loss on intangible assets &4 & R E &R - - - = (12,618)
Profit/(Loss) before tax BEADER, (E51R) 88,940 (16,534) (18,422) 34,593 42,620
Income tax (expenses)/credit FrERiER,/ (%) (22,940) 14,326 (6,182) (5,750) (5,942)
Profit/(Loss) for the year FREH/ (ER) 66,000 (2,208) (24,604) 28,843 36,678
Attributable to: AR AT RES
Owners of the Company ZN/NSIEZEPN 75,231 4,243) (33,089) 17,923 50,349
Non-controlling interests IR (625) 761 641 11 -
74,606 (3482)  (32,448) 17,934 50,349
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY BB EEE
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT_—_F=A=+—HILLEE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAEE
As at 31 March
R=A=+-8
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—g-C —E-—% —T-FTF —“T-NF —T-N\&F

GLEYUIgN  HKE000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TR FEx FET TR

Total assets BEE 616,270 560,188 519,326 536,144 493,720
Total liabilities maE (392,081) (410,605  (366,261)  (351,461)  (328,004)
Net assets BEFE 224,189 149,583 153,085 184,683 165,716
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